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Chairman and CEO Statement

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s full-year results for
2024. Throughout the year we remained steadfast in our commitment
to our mission, achieving substantial progress in our core areas of
focus. Critically, we have seen significant advancements in the clinical
development of our three flagship innovative drug assets - NVK002,
Cyclosporine A ("CsA"”) Ophthalmic Gel, and TAB014 - all of which are now
undergoing regulatory process. In addition, our commercialization efforts
have reached key milestones, strengthening our position in the ophthalmic
drug market.

As a dedicated ophthalmic drug developer, Zhaoke Ophthalmology is
focused on improving visual health both in China and globally. In 2024, we
submitted an Abbreviated New Drug Application ("ANDA") for NVK002,
a low-dose atropine eye drop designed to control myopia progression in
children and adolescents. We are pleased to share that, at the beginning
of 2025, the National Medical Products Administration ("NMPA") accepted
our ANDA for review. Additionally, our two-year Phase III clinical trial of
NVKO002 (“China CHAMP"), completed the last-patient-last-visit in August
2024, with positive topline results announced in October 2024. We look
forward to continuing our leadership in the market as the second market
player to develop a high-quality atropine drug for children suffering from
myopia in China.

ETRRITHBEBRE

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
ZNRELE

Chairman of the Board and CEO
BEEFERITHAESR
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Chairman and CEO Statement
FERITHBE RS

In parallel, our self-developed treatment for dry eye disease, CsA
Ophthalmic Gel, received regulatory approval from the NMPA in August
2024 to proceed with a Phase III clinical trial, based on the recently
updated Technical Guidelines for Clinical Trials for Dry Eyes. We are
also preparing to resubmit the New Drug Application ("NDA") for CsA
Ophthalmic Gel.

Furthermore, we are pleased to report that TABO14, our treatment for wet
(neovascular) age-related macular degeneration ("wAMD"), successfully
completed its Phase III clinical trial in September 2024. The trial met
all primary and key secondary endpoints, and we are now preparing to
submit a Biologics License Application ("BLA") for TAB014.

In addition to these flagship achievements, we have made notable
progress with other promising drug assets. In January 2024, we received
Investigational New Drug ("IND”) approval for BRIMOCHOL™ PF and
CARBACHOL™ PF, our innovative presbyopia treatments, and have already
commenced the patient enrollment for the Phase II clinical trial.

Turning to our generic franchise, we received five additional marketing
approval for the Bimatoprost Eye Drop, the Latanoprost Eye Drop, the
Travoprost Eye Drop, and the Travoprost Timolol Eye Drop in 2024, and
Latanoprost Timolol Eye Drop in March 2025. Together with Bimatoprost
Timolol Eye Drop, these approvals further strengthen our glaucoma
portfolio and contribute to our revenue position. We also anticipate
receiving regulatory approval for the Epinastine HCI in the near future.

In January 2024, we signed an additional distribution and supply
agreement with the leading Korean drug distributor, Kwangdong
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. This increases our South Korean presence to
include BRIMOCHOL™ PF in addition to NVK002. In March 2024, we
extended our reach to Malaysia and Thailand through partnerships
with Pharmaniaga Logistics Sdn. Bhd., a company primarily involved
in the distribution and supply chain management of pharmaceutical
and medical products within Malaysia, and TRB Chemedica (Thailand)
Ltd., a pharmaceutical and biotechnology company with a focus on
ophthalmology, rheumatology, and neurology with Thailand. Most
recently, in January 2025, we entered into a distribution and supply
agreement for BRIMOCHOL™ PF with AFT Pharmaceuticals Limited, a
leading manufacturer and distributor of healthcare products based in
New Zealand, for the commercialization of the drug in Australia and New
Zealand. These partnerships are testament to our ongoing commitment to
expand our footprint in key global markets.

2024 was our first full year after transforming into a joint R&D-commercial
organization, and we were delighted to see stable sales growth in our key
ophthalmic drug products, including the Bimatoprost Timolol Eye Drop and
Eyprotor (a treatment for corneal ulcers), with revenues totalling RMB30.4
million, compared to RMB4.7 million in 2023, showing an increase of
546.8%, driven by our breakthrough in hospital listings.
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Chairman and CEO Statement

Our prudent financial approach has enabled us to focus our resources
on our late-stage drug assets while maintaining tight control of our
costs. R&D expenses for the year amounted to approximately RMB203.7
million, significantly lower than the RMB333.1 million reported in 2023
and reflecting the fact that our three flagship innovative drugs are now
in late-stage clinical development. As of December 31, 2024, our cash
balance remained strong at RMB1.12 billion, ensuring continued support
for our R&D and commercialization activities.

Looking ahead to 2025, we are poised for continued progress again
focusing on our three flagship innovative drugs; planning to file the
resubmission of the NDA for CsA Ophthalmic Gel and the BLA for TABO14.
At the same time, we will also advance the clinical development of other
drugs with significant market potential, including completing the Phase II
trial of BRIMOCHOL™ PF and planning Phase III clinical trials for ZKY0O01.

We also anticipate receiving regulatory approval for the commercialization
of our Epinastine HCI, which will enhance our cash flow. By the end of
2025, we aim to have eight products available in the market.

In addition to our efforts in China, we are focused on expanding our
presence in the Asia-Pacific region, including South Korea, Malaysia,
Thailand, Australia and New Zealand, and exploring new opportunities in
North America. We are also excited about opening up a new market in the
U.S., with the potential submission of an IND application to the U.S. Food
and Drug Administration ("FDA") for CsA Ophthalmic Gel by the end of
2025.

At Zhaoke Ophthalmology, we are incredibly proud of the foundation we
have built over the past few years; preparing for the future launches of
our drugs with significant market potential. This would not have been
possible without the dedication and diligence of our teams and the support
of our shareholders. I extend my heartfelt gratitude for their commitment.
I am immensely proud of our collective achievements and look forward to
sharing more updates with you in the year ahead.

TRERITHBARE RS
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Operation Highlights
SEMRE

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is a leading ophthalmic pharmaceutical
company dedicated to the research, development, manufacture and
commercialization of therapies that address significant unmet medical
needs.

We have made considerable progress in developing a portfolio of
innovative assets that are demonstrating potential in a number of key
markets globally, including our three flagship drug assets processing
towards potential market approval - NVK002 for myopia, CsA Ophthalmic
Gel for DED and TAB014 for wAMD; and two promising drug assets in the
clinical stage — BRIMOCHOL™ PF for presbyopia and ZKY001 for corneal
epithelial defects. We also have an impressive portfolio of generic assets
that cater to a broader group of patients and are starting to generate
revenue. Together, our innovative and generic assets target the major
diseases affecting the front and back of the eye.

The global market for ophthalmic healthcare is showing enormous
promise, and whilst Greater China remains our primary geographic
focus, we have started strategically expanding our footprint into selected
additional markets, including South Korea, Malaysia, Thailand, Australia
and New Zealand.

Our primary focus is on delivering high-quality ophthalmic drugs to address
the unmet needs of patients and ophthalmologists. At the same time, we
are also committed to fostering innovation in our commercialization model.
Throughout all our activities, we acknowledge our social responsibilities
and work to increase public awareness of eye diseases, their detection and
treatment solutions.

At Zhaoke Ophthalmology, our overall goals are to reduce the suffering
caused by preventable eye diseases, to improve the quality of lives for
ophthalmic patients, and to make a significant contribution to the visual
health of millions of patients worldwide.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEIERIGFR A 7
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

Achieving a significant milestone with regulatory acceptance
of the ANDA for NVK0O0O2 for myopia progression control:
Following our ANDA submission for NVK002 in 2024, we received
acceptance for review from the NMPA in January 2025. This
positions us strongly as second to market in the highly competitive
atropine space in China and underscores our leadership in the field.
Meanwhile, we also completed the concurrent Phase III clinical trial
of NVK002 (“China CHAMP”) in August 2024, announcing positive
topline results in October 2024.

Making encouraging regulatory progress with CsA Ophthalmic
Gel, our self-developed innovative treatment for DED: We
obtained regulatory approval from the NMPA in August 2024
to commence an additional Phase III clinical trial, designed in
accordance with the recently updated Technical Guidelines for
Clinical Trials for Dry Eyes. We have already commenced the patient
enrollment. We are also planning to refile an NDA submission for the
drug in the near future.

Completing the Phase III clinical trial of TABO14, our
innovative asset for wAMD, with positive topline results: In
September 2024, we proudly announced the successful completion
of the Phase III clinical trial of TABO14, and subsequently got
positive topline results in January 2025. We are now preparing to
submit a Biologics License Application ("BLA") for TABO14. This
marks another important achievement by Zhaoke’s R&D, showcasing
our capabilities addressing back-of-the-eye diseases.

Recording consistent revenue growth with a stronger sales
network for the first full year as a joint R&D-commercial
organization: In 2024, we recorded total revenue of RMB69.3
million, compared to RMB18.8 million in 2023, representing a year-
on-year increase of 268.6%. RMB32.6 million of this revenue came
from the sales of our drugs. The growth momentum in sales was
primarily driven by our enhanced sales network, which now covers
over 1,200 hospitals and eye institutions. We also received RMB34.7
million from the milestone payment pursuant to a product license
agreement dated October 2, 2020 with respect to Adapalene/
Clindamycin Hydrochloride Compound Gel and the income from
exclusive distribution rights with respect to BRIMOCHOL™ PF.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B R

° Securing commercialization approvals for more generic
drugs that further strengthen Zhaoke’s brand exposure and
financial stability: In September 2024, our Bimatoprost Eye
Drop (& D1/5®) treating glaucoma was granted marketing approval,
followed by approvals for Latanoprost Eye Drop, Travoprost Eye
Drop, and Travoprost Timolol Eye Drop in December 2024, and
Latanoprost Timolol Eye Drop in March 2025. In addition, we
anticipate receiving regulatory approval for Epinastine HCI in the
near future.

. Expanding our footprint beyond Greater China to strategic
markets in Asia-Pacific, including South Korea, Malaysia,
Thailand, Australia and New Zealand: In January 2024, we
deepened our relationship with Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. ("KDP") by signing another distribution agreement for the
commercialization in South Korea of BRIMOCHOL™ PF (an innovative
drug for presbyopia). In March 2024, we also partnered with
Pharmaniaga and TRB, for the distribution of Bimatoprost Timolol
Eye Drop (Ul =®) and EyeGiene® Reusable Eyemasks in Malaysia
and Thailand respectively. Most recently, in January 2025, we
entered into a distribution agreement for BRIMOCHOL™ PF with AFT
to commercialize the drug in Australia and New Zealand.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Pipeline Strategy

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has established a comprehensive portfolio of
innovative and generic drugs that address six major eye diseases across
both the front and the back of the eye. These major ophthalmic indications
are DED, myopia, presbyopia, wet age-related macular degeneration
("“wAMD")/diabetic macular edema ("DME"), glaucoma and CED. In
some areas, we have chosen multiple drug candidates to address these
diseases, as we believe this is the best way to treat their multiple and
complex underlying causes.

Research & Development (R&D)

Research and development underpin all our activities. While we have
successfully transformed Zhaoke Ophthalmology into a joint R&D-
commercial organization, we remain dedicated to achieving clinical
advancements in all our innovative and generic drugs. As such, we made
solid progress in advancing our late-stage drug assets over the Reporting
Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Innovative Drugs

ARRMERTEEZEARREZMMAEINEE 72
ARREFE LT ©

Our Company has several strategically important, innovative drugs which
we expect to move through the pipeline during the next few years.

NVKOO2(Fij#tin) » ARG ZEATE (4 Vyluma
AT1E)

NVKO00Z2 (Atropine) for myopia (partnered with Vyluma)

Overview e

To date, low concentration atropine has been widely studied and B#l @ EEIEMITHR —BEWESHE - BBREEHF BT
demonstrated to be effective in myopia progression control among children — $IZZE R &V FLEIFE - KEIEREHINVKO02 B ATE
and adolescents. Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s NVKO0O2 is currently positioned i /A% F B &R EG RS B A AR R IER LI BT o

as a pioneering, clinically-proven pharmaceutical product for treating the

progression of myopia in China.

This treatment has a proprietary formulation that successfully
addresses the instability of low-concentration atropine. It has patent
protection in both the U.S. and China and is preservative-free with
an expected shelf life of over 24 months.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has successfully concluded two Phase III
clinical trials for NVK002: a one-year clinical trial (Mini-CHAMP), and
a two-year clinical trial (China CHAMP).

Mini-CHAMP involved 16 centers and 526 patients, and was led by
Principal Investigators Professor Qu Xiao Mei, from the Eye and
ENT Hospital of Fudan University, and Professor Yang Xiao, from
the Zhongshan Ophthalmic Center of Sun Yat-Sen University.
China CHAMP involved 18 centers and 777 patients and was led
by Professor Wang Ning Li from Beijing Tongren Hospital as the
Principal Investigator.

Updates during and after the Reporting Period

Following the completion of the Mini-CHAMP Phase III clinical trial,
we submitted an ANDA in 2024 based on the results from the Phase
III clinical trial. In January 2025, the NMPA officially accepted the
ANDA for NVK002 (low-dose atropine (0.01%)).

We completed the last-patient-last-visit for the China CHAMP Phase
ITI clinical trial in August 2024 and announced positive topline
results in October 2024. The study demonstrated statistically
significant differences in the primary efficacy endpoints between the
NVKO002 groups and the placebo group and showed NVK002's strong
safety and efficacy with high patient compliance.

Zhaoke’s NVKO002 continues to be well-positioned as the second
low-dose atropine (0.01%) product to market, and thereby able to
significantly improve the quality of life for the millions of children in
China suffering from myopia.
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CsA Ophthalmic Gel for DED (self-developed)
Overview

CsA Ophthalmic Gel is an innovative drug being developed by Zhaoke
Ophthalmology for the treatment of DED.

° It is a single, daily dose hydrogel which eliminates daytime
administration and the associated discomfort and inconvenience. As
such, it aims to dramatically improve patients’ treatment compliance
and quality of life.

. The proprietary hydrogel formulation is protected by patent approval
in China and internationally. This novel formulation enhances the
pharmacokinetic profiles of CsA on the ocular surface, giving CsA
more time to exert its effect on DED. However, unlike current
treatments, CsA Ophthalmic Gel’s unique formulation stays on the
eye for longer and administered only once every night. Compared
with twice-a-day dosing for traditional products, CsA Ophthalmic Gel
is expected to significantly improve patients’ compliance and quality
of life.

o In our pivotal Phase III clinical trial ("COSMO"), which involved
41 clinical trial centers with a total of 644 patients enrolled, the
treatment also showed faster onset of action by demonstrating
efficacy at around the two-week time period. By contrast, other CsA
drugs often take around seven to eight weeks to display onset of
action.

Updates during and after the Reporting Period

° In July 2024, Zhaoke Ophthalmology obtained regulatory approval
for an IND application for an additional Phase III clinical trial of CsA
Ophthalmic Gel, which was designed based on the updated Technical
Guidelines for Clinical Trials for Dry Eyes issued in September 2023.
We have begun the patient enrollment.

° After conducting further data mining and post-hoc analysis of the
previously completed COSMO study, we were able to have a pre-
NDA discussion with the CDE regarding the post-hoc analysis data in
early 2025. We are now preparing to refile the NDA submission.
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TABO14 (Bevacizumab) for wWAMD (partnered with TOT
BIOPHARM)

Overview

TABO14 is the first clinical-stage bevacizumab-based antibody indicated
for wAMD in China. Bevacizumab is a clinically validated, anti-Vascular
endothelial growth factor (anti-VEGF) drug. Globally, bevacizumab is
approved for oncology treatment through intravenous infusion. However,
there has been increasing off-label usage of bevacizumab via intravitreal
injection for the treatment of wAMD.

. The Phase III clinical trial of TABO14 is a randomized, double-blind,
and non-inferiority study. The main objective of the study is to
evaluate the change from baseline in best corrected visual acuity
(BCVA) at week 52 in a TABO14-treated subject group compared
with the Lucentis®-treated subject group.

. The study involves up to approximately 60 centers and a total of
488 patients and is led by Professor Chen You Xin from Peking Union
Medical College Hospital as the Principal Investigator.

Updates during and after the Reporting Period

. Following the completion of the patient enrollment for the Phase
III clinical trial of TABO14 in September 2023, we successfully
completed the last-patient-last-visit of the trial in September 2024.

. In January 2025, we announced positive topline results from the
clinical trial. The trial successfully met its primary endpoints and key
secondary endpoints.

° We are now preparing to submit a BLA for TAB014.

BRIMOCHOL™ PF and CARBACHOL™ PF (partnered with
Tenpoint)

Overview

BRIMOCHOL™ PF and CARBACHOL™ PF are pupil-modulating eye drops
designed to be once-daily, preservative-free therapeutics to correct the
loss of near vision associated with presbyopia.

. BRIMOCHOL™ PF is a fixed-dose combination of carbachol (a
cholinergic agent) and brimonidine tartrate (an alpha-2 agonist).
CARBACHOL™ PF is a proprietary, preservative-free formulation of
carbachol monotherapy.
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° Both investigational therapies reduce the size of the pupil resulting
in a “pinhole effect” so that only centrally focused light rays are able
to enter the eye, thereby sharpening both near and intermediate
images.

° Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s licensing partner for BRIMOCHOL™ PF and
CARBACHOL PF is Tenpoint, a clinical-stage U.S. pharmaceutical
company focused on developing innovative ophthalmic therapies.
Tenpoint has completed Phase III pivotal trials.

Updates during and after the Reporting Period

° In January 2024, our IND applications for the Phase I and II clinical
trials for BRIMOCHOL™ PF and CARBACHOL™ PF were approved by
the NMPA.

. We have started the patient enrollment for the Phase I and II clinical

trials. On March 24, 2025, the first patient was successfully enrolled
for the Phase II clinical trial.

. In January 2025, our licensing partner Tenpoint announced their
positive topline results from BRIO-II, the company’s second Phase
III pivotal trial. In the study, BRIMOCHOL™ PF, successfully met the
pre-specified visual acuity primary endpoints for both the U.S. and
European Union/United Kingdom with highly statistically significant
near vision improvements over eight hours, paving the way for U.S.
filing in the first half of 2025.

ZKY001 (self-developed)

ZKY001 is a seven-amino acid peptide derived from the functional
fragment of Thymosin B4 that binds actin, a type of protein that plays a
central role in cell structure and movement.

o ZKYO001 has broad applications in the healing of corneal wounds and
can potentially be used in multiple corneal repair indications.

° Zhaoke Ophthalmology has conducted Phase II clinical trials and
an investigator-initiated trial of ZKY001 for multiple potential
indications, including CED, TPRK, pterygium and NK.

Following analysis of the results from our multiple clinical studies, our
research and clinical teams chose to focus on TPRK, and specifically the
treatment of CED after eye surgery, as the indication for ZKY001. Once
approved for a first indication, we believe ZKY001 will quickly be adopted
for other corneal repair applications. We plan to initiate a discussion with
the CDE for the Phase III clinical trial protocol in the near future.
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Generic drugs

We have structured our drugs pipeline to strike a balance between
innovative and generic drugs. With awareness of eye disease growing
across Asia, the need for generic drugs to help manage and treat
ophthalmic conditions is also increasing. The strength of both our
innovative and generic portfolios means we are well placed to provide total
solutions to ophthalmologists and patients throughout the region.
Bimatoprost Timolol Eye Drop ( & Jl = @) was the first of our generic
portfolio to reach commercialization, coming to market in February
2023. This is a drug researched, developed and manufactured by Zhaoke
Ophthalmology for the treatment of glaucoma, and it is the first generic
drug of bimatoprost timolol eye drop for the treatment of glaucoma/ocular
hypertension in China; its launch signified not just the commencement
of a new phase for Zhaoke Ophthalmology as a business entity, but also
enhanced our brand awareness.

Updates during and after the Reporting Period

° On September 20, 2024, we announced that marketing authorization
for Bimatoprost Eye Drop ( & U )& ©), a treatment for glaucoma,
had been obtained from the NMPA. It is the first preservative-free,
single-dose bimatoprost eye drop commercially available in China.

° On December 9, 2024, we announced that we also obtained
marketing approvals for Latanoprost Eye Drop, Travoprost Eye Drop,
and Travoprost Timolol Eye Drop (all treatments for glaucoma)
from the NMPA. On March 18, 2025, we also obtained marketing
authorization for Latanoprost Timolol Eye Drop from the NMPA.
With this suite of products, we could better serve a broad glaucoma
patient population in China, such that physicians can choose the
drugs most suited to their patients’ individual circumstances.

o We are hopeful of receiving regulatory approval in the coming
months for our epinastine eye drop targeting allergic conjunctivitis
(Epinastine HCI).

WARNING UNDER RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING RULES: WE
MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP AND MARKET OUR
DRUG CANDIDATES SUCCESSFULLY.

R&D Team

Our R&D capabilities are driven by Zhaoke’s highly skilled and experienced
team. This diverse and international group of ophthalmology experts brings
a deep understanding of the global pharmaceutical and biotechnology
industries to our organization. As of the end of the Reporting Period, our
R&D team consisted of approximately 100 professionals.
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R&D Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s R&D expenses
were approximately RMB203.7 million, down 38.8% from RMB333.1
million for the year of 2023. This figure reflects the successful completion
of our later-stage clinical studies, including the Phase III clinical trials
for NVK002 and TABO14, alongside the commencement of a number of
earlier-stage studies, such as the Phase I and II trials for BRIMOCHOL™
PF and CARBACHOL™ PF.

Our R&D expenses also demonstrate the overall status of the Company’s
R&D programs, which has a strong focus on bringing products to market
quickly and effectively.

Commercialization

In addition to the existing Bimatoprost Timolol Eye Drop ( & Jl = @), we
expanded our portfolio with four new treatment options for glaucoma
patients. In September 2024, we obtained marketing approval for
Bimatoprost Eye Drop (& U1/&®), followed by approvals in December 2024
for the Latanoprost Eye Drop, the Travoprost Eye Drop, and the Travoprost
Timolol Eye Drop, and approval in March 2025 for Latanoprost Timolol Eye
Drop.

Including Eyprotor (a treatment for corneal ulcers) we brought in
November 2023, Zhaoke Ophthalmology now features a total of seven
ophthalmic drugs and treatments approved for commercialization.

In terms of our sales and marketing strategy, traditional channels continue
to play a critical role in Zhaoke’s strategy. Over the past year, our
commercialization team has worked diligently to strengthen relationships
with public and private hospitals, as well as ophthalmic institutions. As at
the end of 2024, we had successfully established coverage across more
than 1,200 hospitals and eye institutions across 30 Chinese provinces.
Notably, we strategically focused on and succeeded in the coverage of a
number of top-tier hospitals in China, including Beijing Tongren Hospital,
the Eye and ENT Hospital of Fudan University, Zhongshan Ophthalmic
Center, and all Aier Eye Hospitals with over 100 million in revenue. These
efforts have resulted in a fivefold year-on-year increase in sales of our
major ophthalmic drug products, with total revenue reaching RMB30.4
million.

We continued to execute our omni-channel commercialization strategy.
Besides traditional channels, Zhaoke’s digital presence is primarily focused
on our flagship stores on JD Health ( 7 % & ) and Tmall ( X J& ), two
leading e-commerce platforms for pharmaceutical products.

Our content-driven WeChat platform, Zhaoke Boshi ( Jk £ 1& 48 ), remains
a key interactive tool connecting Zhaoke Ophthalmology with ophthalmic
experts. Zhaoke Boshi has become the premier platform for ophthalmology
key opinion leaders to share insights and foster discussions with peers and
emerging ophthalmologists. As at the end of the Reporting Period, Zhaoke
Boshi had attracted over 15,400 followers, encompassing nearly half of
the ophthalmologist community in China.
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Additionally, our team is actively getting prepared for the potential launch
of our blockbuster drug products in the near future. We are also exploring
the integration of multiple commercial channels and partnerships to
expedite the market penetration of our products.

Throughout the Reporting Period, we made several significant strides in
commercialization, which not only contributed to stable sales growth and
enhanced brand visibility but also laid a solid foundation for our future
high-impact product launches.

Partnerships and Globalization Efforts

Awareness of ophthalmic disease is rapidly increasing across Asia-
Pacific. Unfortunately, this rise in awareness is not matched by the
availability of appropriate treatments and medications. As a result, Zhaoke
Ophthalmology is actively establishing a footprint across the region, as
well as exploring global markets, to help address these unmet medical
needs worldwide.

On January 29, 2024, we announced the expansion of our strategic
partnership with KDP to include BRIMOCHOL™ PF. Under the terms of
the agreement, Zhaoke Ophthalmology is entitled to grant exclusive
distribution rights for BRIMOCHOL™ PF to KDP in South Korea. KDP
will obtain, on behalf of Zhaoke Ophthalmology, the relevant local drug
registrations, as well as import, promote, distribute, market and sell the
product on an exclusive basis.

Our licensing partner Visus recently merged with another leading
organization and is now known as Tenpoint. In February 2024, we
expanded our agreement with Tenpoint to include new licensed territories.
We now have the exclusive rights to develop and commercialize
BRIMOCHOL™ PF and CARBACHOL™ PF in Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR,
Chinese Taipei (Taiwan), Australia, New Zealand, Saudi Arabia, the United
Arab Emirates, Qatar, Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman, in addition to mainland
China, South Korea and several selected Association of Southeast Asian
Nations (ASEAN) countries.

In July 2024, we expanded our licensing agreement with Vyluma for
NVKO0O02 to include new licensed territories to Australia, New Zealand and
the Middle East, in addition to Greater China, South Korea and certain
countries in Southeast Asia.

In March 2024, we entered into two distribution and supply agreements.
We partnered with Pharmaniaga to commercialize Bimatoprost Timolol
Eye Drop ( & Ul = ®) in Malaysia, and with TRB, for EyeGiene® Reusable
Eyemasks in Thailand.

On January 13, 2025, we entered into a distribution and supply agreement
for BRIMOCHOL™ PF with AFT, a leading manufacturer and distributor
of healthcare products based in New Zealand. Under the terms of the
agreement, Zhaoke Ophthalmology is entitled to grant AFT the exclusive
rights to import, distribute, promote, market and sell BRIMOCHOL™ PF in
Australia and New Zealand.
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While we continued to explore partnership opportunities overseas, we
continued to strengthen our profile in China. In June 2024, we established
a strategic partnership with Wenzhou Global Eye and Vision Care
Innovation Hub (“Eye Valley”). We will jointly establish the “Eye Valley -
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Innovative Ophthalmic Drugs Research Institute
(B R A — Jk®LER B Al #7 25 4 98 BT )” which will leverage our respective
specialisms. The Institute will co-ordinate constructive collaborations in
various areas, drive the clinical advancement of innovative and generic
drugs for ophthalmic diseases, and promote the overall development of
eye health in China.

Moving forward, we will continue exploring opportunities to partner
or collaborate with leading pharmaceutical companies, both in China
and globally. We believe these partnerships and deals will help Zhaoke
Ophthalmology enhance its presence and reputation in the global market.

Manufacturing

Zhaoke Ophthalmology operates a state-of-the-art production facility
located in Guangdong Province, China. This facility serves as a key
strategic asset, providing us with fully integrated, in-house manufacturing
capabilities. Equipped with advanced machinery sourced from leading
global manufacturers, our facility ensures that all production, dosing,
filling, and packaging processes adhere to the highest international
standards. As a result, we are well-positioned to meet the stringent
requirements of major global regulatory authorities, including the NMPA,
FDA, and European Medicines Agency (EMA).

Currently, we are operating four manufacturing lines at this facility,
enabling us to scale production effectively. Since receiving NMPA
marketing approval, Bimatoprost Timolol Eye Drop (& Jl=®), Bimatoprost
Eye Drop ( & Ul /& ©), Latanoprost Eye Drop, Travoprost Eye Drop,
Travoprost Timolol Eye Drop and Latanoprost Timolol Eye Drop have all
been produced here.

Additionally, in 2024, we successfully transferred the manufacturing of
NVKO0O02 to our state-of-the-art facility in Nansha, Guangzhou, China. Upon
receiving regulatory approval for NVK002, the drug will be produced at our
Guangdong facility, which will significantly reduce both manufacturing time
and costs.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
update

As a responsible enterprise, Zhaoke Ophthalmology is committed to
fostering a sustainable healthcare industry. We consistently evaluate
the environmental and social impacts of our operations and implement
strategies aimed at enhancing the sustainability of our business.

Our core mission is to improve global visual health, which reflects our
broader social responsibility. During the Reporting Period, we organized
a series of both in-person and online health seminars focused on the
screening, treatment, and follow-up of conditions such as glaucoma and
corneal diseases, helping to raise awareness of these critical health issues.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Equally important is our commitment to creating an environment where
our employees can thrive. We prioritize fostering a diverse, supportive
and rewarding workplace. During the Reporting Period, we launched a new
cycle of our highly popular tiered mentorship program. We also continued
our rotational scheme, offering high-performing individuals opportunities
to gain exposure to various aspects of our business.

Additionally, in September 2024, we hosted our inaugural Employee Open
Day, inviting employees’ families to visit our Guangzhou facility. The
objective of this event was to provide families with a deeper understanding
of the work their family members conduct at Zhaoke Ophthalmology.
Recognizing the benefits of physical exercise, we organized a badminton
competition in October 2024 to encourage our teams to participate in the
sport, and for beginner players to take up a new sport. Through these
initiatives, we aim to create a healthy, engaging, and supportive work
environment for all Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s employees.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is committed to the highest standards of
transparency and compliance. As part of this, we annually disclose our
ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) performance in a dedicated
report. In April 2024, we published our fourth ESG report to provide
our stakeholders with a clearer understanding of our strategies for
implementing socially responsible practices.

FUTURE AND OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2025, we are confident in our ability to sustain the
positive momentum we have built since last year and continue making
substantial progress throughout the year. Our focus will remain on
advancing our clinical programs, strengthening our brand presence and
exploring opportunities beyond China.

Following the NMPA'’s acceptance of our ANDA submission for NVK002 in
January 2025, we will continue to collaborate closely with the relevant
regulatory authorities, with the goal of bringing the drug to market as
quickly as possible. We expect to receive regulatory approval, potentially as
early as the first half of 2026.

In parallel, we have recently initiated the patient enroliment for the
additional Phase III clinical trial of CsA Ophthalmic Gel. After a productive
discussion with the regulator in early 2025, we aim to resubmit the NDA
for this drug in the first half of 2025.

Similarly, for TAB014, following the positive results from its Phase III
study shared in January 2025, we have filed a pre-BLA meeting request
with the NMPA, with the aim of submitting the BLA for TABO14 in the first
half of 2025.

We have also commenced patient enroliment for the Phase II clinical trial
of BRIMOCHOL™ PF and CARBACHOL™ PF. We aim to complete both the
Phase I and Phase II trials for these drugs within 2025.
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While we are encouraged by the progress of our clinical programs, we
are equally excited about the continued expansion of our commercial
product portfolio. We anticipate receiving marketing authorizations for our
remaining generic drug asset, Epinastine HCI for allergic conjunctivitis in
the coming months.

We are actively undertaking commercialization preparations for the
blockbuster drugs anticipated to receive approval in the near future.
Our core commercial leadership team has been assembled, comprising
members with extensive experience in collaborating with nationwide
sales channels coupled with capabilities to market and promote our drug
candidates directly to ophthalmologists. The team is poised to scale rapidly
once our key drugs enter the market. Additionally, we are establishing
a more comprehensive commercialization framework that will leverage
the commercial strengths and channels of our partners to accelerate our
efforts.

As a dedicated ophthalmic drug developer with aspirations to become
a global industry leader, Zhaoke Ophthalmology has actively explored
licensing and collaboration opportunities beyond China, particularly in key
markets across the Asia-Pacific region, including South Korea, Malaysia,
Thailand, Australia, and New Zealand. In the year ahead, we will continue
to focus on identifying growth opportunities in these markets. Notably,
we are currently in active communication with the FDA regarding the
potential Phase III clinical trial for CsA Ophthalmic Gel and the subsequent
commercialization of the drug in North America. We target to file our IND
application to the FDA by the end of 2025 to begin the trial.

Through our relentless efforts in advancing clinical programs and preparing
for commercialization, Zhaoke Ophthalmology has successfully transitioned
from a pure R&D company to a joint R&D-commercial organization. We
have experienced impressive momentum since then, bringing greater
numbers of products to market. Zhaoke Ophthalmology is well-positioned
to maintain its leadership in the ophthalmology sector, with the exciting
launches of our blockbuster innovative drugs expected within the next 12
to 24 months.

As we have emphasized repeatedly, there is a significant unmet medical
need in the ophthalmic market, both in China and globally. Through our
ambitious, yet highly realistic, growth strategy, Zhaoke’s goal is to become
a global leader in ophthalmology and, more importantly, to provide more
drugs and treatment options to those suffering from eye diseases.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MBBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our Group  AEEBEREHKFEENES  SENLAEHE(HiE
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial B&EERMEER EFBHRR)EIIWT
information and financial statements is set out below:

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 2022%F 20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBFIT AREBFIT AREBFIT AREFT
Results E
Revenue Wz 69,324 18,750 - - -
Gross profit £ 51,797 14,247 - - -
Loss before taxation MR ATER (237,493) (384,488) (407,317) (2,129,780) (726,981)
Income tax Frigt - (550) - - -
Loss for the year FREE Ckriilk)| (385,038) (407,317) (2,129,780)  (726,981)
Total comprehensive income FRA2mHIks12%8
for the year el (323,931)  (196,415)  (2,180,971)  (670,861)
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Total assets BELE 2,243,515 2,420,338 2,570,623 2,605,407 1,226,586
Total liabilities aEeE Crelikry) (372,020) (222,250)  (109,920)  (1,972,554)
Total equity B S0l 2,048,318 2,348,373 2,495,487 (745,968)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

g E)]

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLFE

2024
20245
RMB’000
AR®T T

69,324
(17,527)

51,797
87,314
(18,311)
(203,703)
(70,818)
(63,463)
(10,807)
(9,502)

(237,493)

Revenue Wz

Cost of sales SHERAR
Gross profit EF

Other income EAbA
Other net loss HAh g5
R&D expenses R
General and administrative expenses —MRITHER
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFX
Other operating expenses HAb AT
Finance costs BERS AR

Loss before taxation BB AIE R
Income tax Frig i

Loss for the year FAEE
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMZEKES

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial

HigrgeEM o EEBEMEAR ¢

BEDBEREWIFARENEBYBRE

(237,493)

80,587

(156,906)

statements of entities with functional currencies HIPE N 58

other than RMB
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZEREEE
Non-HKFRS Measures FEBUBRELEAFESR
Adjusted loss for the year TRARFRER

(228,828)

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A T

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARET T
18,750

(4,503)

14,247
82,044
(3,515)

(333,050)

(84,404)
(51,889)

(7,921)

(384,488)
(550)

(385,038)

61,107
(323,931)

(363,015)



Management Discussion and Analysis

Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded total loss of
approximately RMB237.5 million, as compared with approximately
RMB385.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The total
loss recorded in 2024 was improved, primarily due to RMB33.5 million
milestone payment we received pursuant to a product license agreement
and significant sales growth in our key ophthalmic drug products, which
was driven by our breakthrough in hospital listings. Additionally, the
decrease in R&D expenses following the successful completion of our
later-stage clinical trials, including the Phase III clinical trials for NVK002
and TABO14, along with enhanced operational efficiency and reduced
administrative expenses, have significantly decreased the loss recorded
this year.

Revenue

Our Group recorded revenue with RMB69.3 million for the year ended
December 31 2024, as compared with RMB18.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

The increase was primarily derived from the rise in licensing income,
as we received a milestone payment with RMB33.5 million pursuant to
a product license agreement dated October 2, 2020, for Adapalene/
Clindamycin Hydrochloride Compound Gel. Additionally, we were delighted
to observe a more than fivefold increase in sales of our key ophthalmic
drug products, including Bimatoprost Timolol Eye Drop ( & Ul = ©) and
Eyprotor, with revenues totaling RMB30.4 million, compared to RMB4.7
million in 2023. This growth was driven by our breakthrough in hospital
listings and the successful implementation of our innovative omni-channel
commercialization strategy and marketing plan throughout the year. Over
2024, our commercialization team has worked diligently to strengthen
relationships with both public and private hospitals, as well as ophthalmic
institutions.

We also generated revenue of RMB1.2 million from granting the exclusive
distribution rights to our worldwide business partners, including KDP, for
the distribution of our innovative drug candidates (2023: RMB5.6 million).
As at December 31, 2024, the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under our Group’s
existing contracts was around RMB14.9 million. This amount represents
revenue expected to be recognized in the future from distribution and
supply contracts entered into between the customer and our Group. We
will recognize the expected revenue in future throughout the contract
period.

IR E R M

#HE

HE2024F 128318 IEFE - RSB RETEOA
R#237.588  MEZE2023412A3181-4Z])
HAANRE385.0HE T ° 2024 F SR EIBARBEAE T
& - EERPBEPIRE 0 EMT O HE R ERE
NRARKE33SEET  URERREEmMIVSREH
B RRIEEREEBEARER - 1IN BRERE R
ELEVER R 35 (HINNVKO002 & TABO14 ) S5 1T H G K
A8 EMTER - SHEFRIERD - M HIEEEE R
ERETHRER 5B AFEHENBBEZERD -

W ax

HZE2024F12A31HILFE - AEEBSWREARE
69.3BET  MEE2023F12A31HIEFEAAAR
#18.8EETT °

BRBEEZERNEMBEAHH2020F10A20K
BE MR ET AT 63 3 W ER G AP E DA AR BA R Se MBI ZRAE 5 R
BH) RRENHRARE33.58ET - SAFATRARLM -
o BAERFANBEEERNGRE - IR
BITRIRTH) 2 MR P M SRME B ST 8l - SR AMIET
MEXERBEHBERE(ANE)LERFELIER
MemmnEREmant  alaEARY30.488
JT 0 M2023FARARK4.7EET - R20245F » &
FIBE(CERE NZE R AN E BB A KRB R
A% -

IEoh - AT A R E R EB R (B IEKDP) R L 5 558
TEFREENBROEEMEENZARKEL2EE
7£(20234% : ARMS5.6BE7T) » 12024412831
B »EEASEEBAOHBTROEANRSHERE
BHOAARBI49FEL - 2o BEEHRKAREF,SR
REBERI 5 8 R ES LR E - BFHRE
HEANFERIEI B B UKGS -
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Year ended December 31,
BZ12A318LFE

2024 2023
20245 2023%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT

30,443 4,736
2,151 -
2,003 8,414

33,523 -

1,204 5,600

69,324 18,750

Point in time: AR

Sale of ophthalmic drugs SHE IR

Sale of other drug SHE H h By

Sale of ophthalmic products SHEBRMER

Licensing income FFEA

Over time: BERFR

Income from exclusive distribution rights BRDEERA

Other Income HEtA

Our Group's other income primarily consists of bank interest income and
government grants, which represent one-off subsidies we have received
from government authorities for our R&D activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our Group’s other income
increased to approximately RMB87.3 million, compared to approximately
RMB82.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The amount
increased slightly compared to 2023, primarily due to the rise in one-
off government subsidies aimed at encouraging technology research and
development, as well as financial support for foreign-invested enterprises.

REBENEAMRA T2 BIERITH S WA RBUTHE (B
BRI T B BUR SR — IR -

HZE2024F12A31HLFE - AEENEMKRARE
£2023F12A31HIEFEHARES2.08 & T&IMIE
MEMARKES7.3AETT » TRV BT RN —
IRVEBUR RS S S9N 1R B D 2RO BA TR BB 0

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A310LLFE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBEFIT

75,228 77,399
11,419 3,387
667 1,258

87,314 82,044

Bank interest income RITF SUA

Government grants B BN

Others HAth

Total “EEt

Other Net Loss B8 FaE

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded approximately
RMB18.3 million of other net loss, compared to approximately RMB3.5
million of other net loss for the year ended December 31, 2023. Such net
loss primarily consists of net foreign exchange loss incurred during the
translation of USD-denominated or HKD-denominated assets and liabilities,
affected by significant RMB depreciation against the USD in 2024.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A T
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R&D Expenses

Our Group’s R&D expenses primarily consisted of: (i) clinical trial
professional service fees, including payments to CROs, hospitals and
other medical institutions, as well as testing fees incurred for preclinical
studies and clinical trials; (ii) depreciation and amortization related to our
R&D equipment and facilities; (iii) staff costs, including salaries, bonuses
and welfare payments for R&D personnel; (iv) costs of raw materials and
consumables used for R&D of our drug candidates; (v) equity-settled
share-based payment for R&D personnel; and (vi) utilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our R&D expenses decreased by
approximately RMB129.4 million, or 38.8%, to approximately RMB203.7
million from approximately RMB333.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2023. The decrease primarily reflects the successful completion of
our key late-stage clinical trials, including the Phase III clinical trials for
NVK002 and TABO014, which typically require lower R&D expenditures
compared to earlier phases involving more intensive activities such as
patient enrollment and clinical site management. We are how commencing
several early-stage clinical studies, such as the Phase I and II clinical trials
for BRIMOCHOL™ PF and CARBACHOL™ PF, and the R&D expenses are
expected to be managed effectively.

The following table sets forth the components of our Group’s R&D
expenses for the years indicated:

IR E R M

A& 52

REENPER T RE()RRABREEXREER
B EIERCRO - Bk K E B BB 15 5 A K FhER AR
RIFRTE M B R AR R ORI B - (i) B AT PIAF B R
NGRS ¢ (B ITRA - BEMEASR
BF D - FEAL AR ¢ (iv) BRI IRIE SR 35 P
FEME ROBREREIBA © (V)T A B S AR S
HARAD REFEORF : (Vi) KEE -

HZE2024F12A318ILFE - BRMIOAER L AE
£2023F 128318 ILFEMARE333.1EE TR
LHIANRE129.47 8 T3 38.8% = 4 AR203.7
BEL TERMAMCEEBREBENBERERHAR
(B FENVKO02 & TABO14 ) S I HikG K 5488 ) © B W
TR MESRBEEAMREREHEESEREED
MRNBERELE  CHRBRBEETENHERIER
Lo HMBERRE TERVSRBMERATE - Hlan
BRIMOCHOL™ PF } CARBACHOL™ PFH)5 1 ITH]
BaiR a5 - AT B SE REE -

TREFAEER AR FEE SRR

Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31ALFE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETT
Clinical trial professional service fee FRARAREERGER 56,676 160,966
Staff costs BIAK 57,218 57,206
Depreciation and amortization PrEs Ry 37,009 37,624
Cost of raw materials and consumables used P R R OB FE SR AR AN 5,757 16,538
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses AR z#EE LA A ERE E N FFE 2 3,262 1,942
Utilities KEE 4,679 4,861
Professional and consultation fee EEREMER 24,039 40,717
Testing fee RAER 7,662 2,286
Traveling expenses ZIRF 2,659 2,679
Others® H b 4,742 8,231
Total st 203,703 333,050
Note: 3T -
@ Represent repair and maintenance expenses and other miscellaneous expenses () s kR B R R AR MAZES N EMEIAR

in relation to our R&D activities.

¥ o

Annual Report 2024 3 25



26

Management Discussion and Analysis
k’rfinjnﬁﬂ& Tﬁ

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses primarily consisted of: staff
costs, professional service fees for legal, consulting and auditing services,
general operating expenses, depreciation in relation to our office
equipment and equity-settled share-based payment expenses for those
other than R&D personnel and commercialization team.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our general and administrative
expenses were approximately RMB70.8 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB13.6 million from approximately RMB84.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, which is primarily attributable to
the decrease in equity-settled share-based payment expenses calculated
based on vesting condition. The decrease was partially offset by the effect
of the increase in amortization of digital foundation and system digitization
for internal business model and management system.

The following table sets forth the components of our general and
administrative expenses for the years indicated:

—RRITEE R

ﬁff’ﬁﬁ’ﬂ*ﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁl%ﬁi%@%%lﬁizﬁ 7 @‘

REABRBSEERBER  —RELEHX B

1%?E§D/k&ﬁﬁﬁ§§)\E&Fﬁ%{tl%%ﬁ\\/\aiﬁ
A E AR BERE N R -

1
&
1

>» HH} B

HE2024F12A318IEFE - HM—BRITHER
HAARE70.8EEIT - BEZE2023F12A31HIEF
BEHOAREB4.4BETRINARKLZ.6BEL =&

ERRBEB G ENA RS A E AR RERN R
BRI R D AR R B R R EE RS BITE

B iR N R BES (L SHIR N R B PR o

TREFIBPIRPIRFEN R RITREBAKES

Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31ALFE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFT
Staff costs (include Directors’ fee) EIRAN(BREESHESD) 35,581 33,725
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  LAiEzsfE E IR D AERENZFES 3,996 18,200
Professional service fees EXRBER 8,394 12,733
Depreciation and amortization Tﬁ%&ﬁﬁ% 12,108 9,331
General operating expenses B LR 7,083 3,574
Others® HAob® 3,656 6,841
Total “aEt 70,818 84,404
Note: B &
@ Represent certain tax expenses and other miscellaneous expenses. & BETHEMY REMMERAY -

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of staff costs for
our commercialization team and marketing & conference expenses.

Our selling and distribution expenses increased from RMB51.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB63.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024. This increase reflects the higher
annual sales revenue on our key ophthalmic drugs, which was primarily
due to enhanced marketing campaigns and promotional activities in 2024
aimed at boosting brand visibility.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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The following table sets forth the components of our selling and
distribution expenses for the years indicated:

IR E R M

TREFIHPIRPURFERHE R0 SR ARED

Year ended December 31,

HBZ12A31ALFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Staff costs BT 30,176 28,404
Marketing & conference expenses BHEREEAY 15,515 15,438
Sales incentive HERS 9,776 -
Depreciation e 1,403 1,592
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  MAEZRAEE LARRD AER AR 1,407 1,881
Travelling and entertainment 7= i M AR 4,125 3,463
Others EHh 1,061 1,111
Total #ast 63,463 51,889

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased from approximately RMB7.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB9.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024, which was primarily attributable to the
increased interest expenses on bank loan related to cross boarder funding
arrangement during 2024.

Income Tax

The income tax recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023
represented provision for withholding tax incurred from granting of
exclusive distribution rights in Korea for the year. We did not incur any
income tax during the year ended December 31, 2024.

BVI and Cayman Islands

We were incorporated in the BVI in January 2017 and redomiciled to the
Cayman Islands in April 2020. Pursuant to the laws and regulations of
the BVI, we were not subject to any income tax there before we were
redomiciled to the Cayman Islands. We are an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and
accordingly are exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong

We did not make any provision for Hong Kong profits tax, because our
Hong Kong subsidiary, Zhaoke HK, sustained a loss.

The PRC

We did not make any provision for the PRC income tax, which is at the
rate of 25% pursuant to relevant PRC laws and regulations, because our
PRC subsidiaries sustained a loss.

BIBERHAE

HZE2024F12A31HLEFE - BINBBRARES
2023F12A31HIEFENARKE7. OB B TEMNEL
AR¥O.5HEL - TEMN2024F 6B RESTH
EVERT TR AR S B SEINAEL ©

Frig#

HZE2023F12 A31 A I FERNERHATEHRIEFARM
BEBBEER D I EENBINHHEOEE - KON
HZE2024F12A31 B L FEWEELTMAER

RERLHERHAEHS

HMR2017FIAERBRELFSEMMAL - AR
2020F4 ABMEREHRS - NEMERS S -
REZBRIESEENER  ROBANEBANE
AREH - RERSHERARE  RMURERRAERA
al - EimERPANFES BTSN -

58

mREMOE BB AR EFERER -
EEHREBNETRE -

B

E

mREMOPENBARFERSR - SERMALEREE
B BIA R ROEMIZ25% B R FHE P B TS T B -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Withholding Tax

The Group is subject to withholding tax on income from exclusive
distribution rights granted to a customer based on a withholding tax rate
of 10% under the tax law in Korea.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the above factors, for the year ended December 31, 2024,
we recorded a loss of approximately RMB237.5 million, as compared to a
loss of approximately RMB385.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2023.

Non-HKFRS Measure

To supplement the Financial Statements, which are presented in
accordance with the HKFRS, our Company also uses adjusted loss for
the year as an additional financial measure, which is not required by, or
presented in accordance with, the HKFRS. We believe that this adjusted
measure will provide useful information to Shareholders and potential
investors in understanding and evaluating our Group’s annual consolidated
results of operations in the same manner as they help our Company’s
management.

Adjusted loss for the year represents the loss for the year excluding the
effect of equity-settled share-based payment expenses. The term adjusted
loss for the year is not defined under the HKFRS. However, our Company
believes that this non-HKFRS measure is a reflection of our Group’s
normal operating results by eliminating the potential impact of items that
the management do not consider to be indicative of our Group’s operating
performance. The adjusted loss for the year, as the management of our
Group believes, is adopted in the industry where our Group is operating.
However, the presentation of the adjusted loss for the year is not intended
to be (and should not be) considered in isolation or as a substitute for
the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with the
HKFRS. Shareholders and potential investors of our Company should not
view this non-HKFRS measure on a stand-alone basis or as a substitute
for results under the HKFRS, or as being comparable to results reported or
forecasted by other companies.
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The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the loss for the year to  F&REFIAFTREE M ERE B EEAEERNEIBN Y

adjusted loss for the year during the years indicated: R -
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALFE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
Loss for the year FAEE (237,493) (385,038)
Add: /I
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  MAEZRAEE AR AER NS 8,665 22,023
Non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the year® BB BMEEREARFNEED (228,828) (363,015)
Note: Bt & -
(1) Non-HKFRS Measures (1) FEBUBEREEAFESR
Non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the year is defined as loss for the year adjusted IBBMHRELACHABRFAB BN TR ACARE
by adding back equity-settled share-based payment expenses. The above table ANEE - EPNE AR EE RN AEROM KA
reconciles our non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the year with our loss for the year. %o ERABRMIEBAUBRELCHLEFAEEL

FRBENER -
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Selected Data from Statement of Financial
Position

RIBR R EEHE

As at December 31,
A12A31H

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT

Total current assets MEEELE 1,614,912 1,794,569
Total non-current assets IFRBEELE 628,603 625,769
Total assets BERE 2,243,515 2,420,338
Total current liabilities mENBEERE 313,049 336,451
Total non-current liabilities EREABEEE 30,389 35,569
Total liabilities BEQEE 343,438 372,020
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T 14,901 6,141
Trade and other receivables B 5 MEAMRKGRIE 51,468 61,147
Investments ®E 69,467 -
Amount due from a related company FE U —FEIREEE A B15kIR 1,087 -
Pledged bank balances BRI TR 356,295 265,658
Time deposits with original maturity over RE|EA A 888 =8 A 8 E BT

three months 689 -
Cash and cash equivalents B RREEEY 1,121,005 1,461,623
Total current assets REBEERE 1,614,912 1,794,569
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B S REAMENTKIE 84,688 116,637
Contract liabilities AHEaR’E 1,369 1,179
Amounts due to related companies FERAESE A RIFIE 4,454 2,473
Bank loans RITER 212,605 206,577
Lease liabilities HEEE 9,933 9,585
Total current liabilities BB EEE 313,049 336,451
Net current assets MEVEEFE 1,301,863 1,458,118

Liquidity and Source of Funding and
Borrowing

Our primary uses of cash are to fund our clinical trials, manufacturing,
purchase of equipment and raw materials and other expenses. During the
Reporting Period, we primarily funded our working capital requirements
through net proceeds from the Global Offering. We closely monitor uses of
cash and cash balances and strive to maintain a healthy liquidity for our
operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at December 31, 2024, the current assets of our Group were
approximately RMB1,614.9 million, including cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB1,121.0 million, pledged bank balance of approximately
RMB356.3 million, trade and other receivables of approximately RMB51.5
million, investments of approximately RMB69.5 million and other current
assets of approximately RMB16.6 million. As at December 31, 2024, the
current liabilities of our Group were approximately RMB313.0 million,
including trade and other payables of approximately RMB84.7 million,
amounts due to related companies of approximately RMB4.5 million, bank
loans of approximately RMB212.6 million and other current liabilities of
approximately RMB11.2 million.

Amounts due to related companies represent payable for CROs services
and are unsecured, interest-free and repayable with maximum credit
terms of 30 days or on demand.

As of December 31, 2024, our Group had secured bank loans of RMB212.6
million which was repayable within one year or on demand.

Our Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. To achieve better risk control and minimize the cost of
funds, our Group’s treasury is centralized. Cash is generally placed in
deposits mostly denominated in USD, HKD and RMB. Our Group’s liquidity
and financing requirements are reviewed regularly.

Pledge of Bank Balance
Our pledged bank balances were approximately RMB356.3 million as of

December 31, 2024 (2023: RMB265.7 million), representing bank balances
we pledged with banks for banking facilities.

Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets forth the components of our key financial ratios
for the dates indicated:

HrIE u—JLnHHBZ Tﬁ

MR2024F 12 A31H - AEENRBEENAAR
#1,61490E8 L BERESEESZEEMOARYE
1,121.08 8w - CRFRITESRHARE356.35E
T BHREMEREHNARKESLSEET  REH
ARBEOSEHEBTLUREMABEENARKLI6.6E
BT - R20249F 128310 » REENRBAEHNAA
R¥313.0687T ' BEEHRHMENTIBHARE
84.7HE T - ENEHARFENARB458ET
BITEFNARKE212.6BBE T LEMRBEENAR
B11.2B8E7T -

Fﬁ“ﬁ?ﬁ BN A FOAIEE N CROMRIG FIA - REIER - %
E%Eﬁﬁi%%%j@ﬁﬁg?ﬁ@ 2 o

%2024¢12ﬁ]31E| AEBMOEEBRITERBAR
#212.6E8IT ' BR—FANEERKEE -

AEBMERFETBBRETRSRVEERE - BEY
WEREHIERREEREESRAE AEBNFTHERT
FlPRER - e —MEEFTR - ABDUET - BT
MAREE - AEBEBRATERDES RBERE

Il‘nﬁ’%f&#
2024912 A31H  BAHBEFEITEBROBAR
#356.3EBL(20234F : ARK265.7587T)  ER
MR TRVE S E IR T ERITRSRITAS
FEHHKEE

NREFIP PR B BRI = EW L R ERE S

As at December 31,
A12A31H

2024
20244

Current ratio® TRENEL M

5.2 5.3

Gearing ratio® BEABLE® N/ATBRA® N/ATEE®

Notes: B 5

@ Current ratio represents current assets divided by current liabilities as of the (] B RERBNRBDEERARBEE -
same date.

@ Gearing ratio represents interest-bearing borrowings less cash and cash © BEABLEERBNGREFRRE RS EBY R
equivalents and time deposits with original maturity over three months, divided RREHEBBE=EANTHFR  BRAERZAE  FE
by total equity and multiplied by 100% as of the same date. LA100%

O] As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, we were in a net cash position and thus O] MR2023F 2024512318 « KRN FHREAR -

gearing ratio is not applicable.

RApEEABLEERETER
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2024, our Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Capital Commitment

The capital commitment of our Group as at December 31, 2024 was
approximately RMB95.4 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB37.1 million as compared with approximately RMB58.3 million as at
December 31, 2023, primarily attributable to the contracts entered into
with difference service providers for the commencement of several clinical
studies, such as the Phase I and II clinical trials for BRIMOCHOL™ PF and
CARBACHOL™ PF, and additional Phase III clinical trial of CsA Ophthalmic
Gel.

Significant Investments and Discloseable
Transaction

On October 15, 2024, we subscribed for a wealth management product,
Bond Linked Note ("BLN") that is tied to the performance of a 20-year
U.S. Treasury ("UST”) bond (the “20yr UST Bond”), in the principal
amount of US$10,000,000 with Barclays Bank PLC (the “Subscription”)
for the purpose of better utilizing the surplus cash of the Group arising in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group. Such Subscription
had been accounted for as “non-equity investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss” in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position.

The principal terms of the Subscription are summarized below:

HAREE

202412310 - REBUEERERSAEE -

BAFE

HR2024F 12 A31H » AEBNEREENAARKE
95.4HE T #2023 12831 ARES8.3EE
TEAHAREI7IEET T2RABERSE TBRIK
75 (5l 20 BRIMOCHOL™ PF }2 CARBACHOL™ PFH)
BIRIEG RSB MR EARRERBOF —HB I
Felk %) AR RS EERET AL -

EAREREAETREXRS

720244108158 © & fHEBarclays Bank PLCREE
—IERER - 20 FHEEHEEESR([2056%
B REENEFERN R ([HBER]) e84
10,000,000 ([ RBEHE|) - §EF T HERA AL
ERARESTELENARRS - REEECNAEE
WERE M ISR R R ARINENZ A FER BERTEDN
FERERIRE | o

REESEIEMN T BT

Y% of the
Group's
Fair value total
Background and Principal Fixed amount as at assets as at
identity of Type of amount of returnrate  Maturity December 31, December 31,
Subscription date the counterparty Name of the product product subscription perannum  date 2024 2024 Current Status
H2024E
12R31A
120245 iz ed)
BEYE] EE 12A3184 BEEN
B4 LE EERaH ERtR ERED FpreE gEpERE R ATESE Aft BRAR
October 15, 2024 Barclays BLN linked to 20yr UST Structured 1S$ 6%  December 30, RMB 3.10%  Redeemed®
Bank PLC Bond for US$10mm note 10,000,000 2024 69,467,000
notional
045107158 Barclays ENFRERERAD ERIZE 10,000,000 6% 02451273080 ARE 310% 2EE®
Bank PLC HiEE 450085 9 69,467,000
10,000,000%70
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Notes:

(1) Barclays Bank PLC is a major global financial institution and offers a wide range
of financial services including retail banking, corporate banking, investment
banking, and wealth management. To the best knowledge, information and
belief of the Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, Barclays Bank
PLC and its ultimate beneficial owner are third parties independent of the
Company and its connected persons (as defined under the Listing Rules).

(2) Upon the maturity date, the principal under the BLN was automatically
converted into redeemable 20yr UST Bond in accordance with the terms of
Subscription.

(3) The entire portion of the 20yr UST Bond was redeemed in March 2025 when
the market value of the 20yr UST Bond was no less than the principal (i.e.
US$10,000,000) under the BLN.

The Subscription was used by the Company for treasury management
purpose in order to maximize its yield on the surplus cash received from
its business operations. The Group expects that Subscription will earn
a higher yield than current deposits generally offered by commercial
banks or licensed financial institutions while enhancing the Group’s
treasury management flexibility to the Group and mitigating the impact
of interest rate volatility in the current economic climate. As such, the
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are of the view
that the terms of the Subscription are fair and reasonable, and are on
normal commercial terms and the Subscription are in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The realized gain from the
Subscription was USD159,850 during the Reporting Period and no dividend
was received by the Company from the Subscription.

Given the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the Subscription
on a standalone basis exceeds 5% but is less than 25%, the Subscription
constitutes a discloseable transaction of the Company for the purpose of
the Listing Rules and are subject to the notification and announcement
requirements but are exempt from the shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. At all relevant times up to the date
of this announcement, none of the applicable percentage ratios calculated
pursuant to Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the Subscription
exceeded 25%.

IR E R M

(1)  Barclays Bank PLCAt FE AR & goMHE - R{LEE
EzHe kY - BRETERT  CEIRT  RERT
RO EER - RESEFEL —EBREREMAM - IR
KFifs » Barclays Bank PLCR ERKREHEE AL A
BAURARRIREBEALT(ERR ETRANME=T -

(2) REHA - HHRENFASCRBABBERNGERED
IR R Bl ) 20 S BB -

(3) 20FEEEEDR20255438 (205 EEEEERNT
BN R EHREN RS (B110,000,000%5T)) 2 5E
=K

RBEEBARRBIEERERMSG  UWBERSHEX
BEEMPCR e RMHlE - AEETEHRE R
REVE — AR AR R IRTTHIFRE 2 BB R A R

FelaE  ANREsAEENEHEREEE X
BEERMGERETNEEHNTE - Elt - EF
(“?ﬁ?%i#ﬁtﬂé%)w F REFENETBATE
B WR—REBIERETL - MRBERTAARRR
PR BB - MEHN - BRBBENCEREES

159,850% 7T « AR Ei?ﬁifiﬁ;ﬁﬂ%?lﬂﬁzwﬁe

ENRBERRBYERHENESERA S LEEB
5%181KM25% * St ETRAIME - RERREKALR
AIMATHRERS  AET EHRAE+UENBA R
RNERTE - BRERRET EHRAE TS E R
HE ° EAE!ziZJS/‘iEIHEJtﬁﬁﬁWEEE%F‘aEJ CIRIE ETAR
A 14.07 (6 RBEEAENER A S L R HEES
25% -
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The Company failed to timely identify and disclose the Subscription in
accordance with Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. However, the Company
would like to stress that the incidents were inadvertent and the Company
unwaveringly commits to transparency and has no intention to withhold
any information relating to the Subscription from disclosure to the
public. To prevent the recurrence of similar incidents in the future, the
Company conducted a comprehensive review and examination of the
subscription of wealth management products and circulated a guidance
to remind, strengthen and reinforce the knowledge of the responsible
staff, senior management and Directors relating to the subscription
of wealth management products. The Group has also reinforced the
coordination and reporting arrangements for similar transactions within
the Group, and monitor timely disclosure and on-going compliance with
relevant requirements under Listing Rules. In particular, the Company
will provide regular training to enhance knowledge of responsible staff,
senior management, and Directors regarding subscription for wealth
management products. Before entering into any potential notifiable
transaction, particularly before purchasing wealth management products,
the Company will collaborate more closely with its internal legal and
compliance department and, when appropriate and necessary, consult
professional advisors such as auditors and Hong Kong legal advisors.

Save for the aforesaid, we did not hold any significant investments as
defined under Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2024, we did not have any definite future plans for
material investments and capital assets.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

We did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Employees and Remuneration

As at December 31, 2024, our Group had a total of 294 employees. The
following table sets forth the total number of employees by function as of
December 31, 2024:

IR E R M

18 S R # B

M2024F 128318  AEBMEAAEH294%EE - T
KEFIR2024F 12 A31 RIRBAEEI DR B A%

Number of % of

employees the total

EE&R HEEEHES

Management =L 5 1.7
R&D e 97 33.0
Manufacturing HE 53 18.0
Quality control EET 37 12.6
Sales and marketing SHE R A 63 21.4
Environmental, health and safety R BERETE 1 0.3
Administrative 1T 38 13.0
Total #Et 294 100.0

The remuneration of the employees of our Group comprises salaries,
bonuses, employees provident fund and social security contributions,
other welfare payments and equity-settled share-based payment. Our
Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the remuneration offered
to employees, including executive Directors and senior management,
is commensurate with their skills, knowledge, responsibilities and
involvement in our Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages of our
employees are periodically reviewed objectively and determined based on
each individual’s performance.

The total staff cost incurred by our Group for the year ended December 31,
2024 was approximately RMB115.5 million, as compared to approximately
RMB126.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease
was primarily attributable to the decrease of equity-settled share-based
payment expenses of approximately RMB13.6 million.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the year ended December 31, 2024, our Group mainly operated
in Mainland China and a majority of its transactions was settled in RMB,
the functional currency of our Company’s principal subsidiaries. As at
December 31, 2024, a significant amount of our Group’s cash and cash
equivalents was denominated in USD. Except for certain cash and cash
equivalents, prepayments on purchases of property, plant and equipment
and other payables denominated in foreign currencies, our Group did
not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations as at
December 31, 2024. Our Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of our net foreign exchange exposures and
seeks to minimize these exposures whenever possible. We currently do
not adopt any long-term contracts, currency borrowings or other means to
hedge our foreign currency exposure.

FEBREEFHFNBEFE B4 EEAEERUER
PBEHR - MR RS IA R s 5 H AR () R AR T
K ARANHEBREEERE TRB(BENTES
RaMEREAB)MFHMERZEE - MH - REREAR
RIEHN2EZEER - RIEBNFHFTBEEHET
BB TRERESNHNRNETE -

HZE2024F12A31ALFE - AEEELNBETRA
HEA B ARB115.588 - MAE2023F12A31
HIEFERHNAARKE126.8FE T « B TRARLEH
b R AR 2R A5 H DA 1) A ELHE A FRF SO A 49
ARE13.6BE8T -

SME R B

REZE2024F 12 A31HIEFE - AEBEEERFEA
FEEE  HKIORDUAARELEE - MARKEAARA
AIEZMBARIMNAEER - 20246 12A31H + &
EENRS RIS EEYARID AFEITTHE - R2024F
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EENCEREEERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi, aged 62, was appointed as the chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the CEO on January 20, 2017. He is mainly
responsible for the formulation of the corporate development strategies
and direction for our Group as well as overall day-to-day management of
our business and operations. Dr. Li Xiaoyi also holds directorship at each
subsidiary of our Group since its establishment.

Dr. Li has over 26 years of experience in pharmaceutical R&D as well as
management and strategic planning for pharmaceutical companies. Dr. Li
founded Lee’s Pharm in 1994 and has been the chief technical officer since
then. Dr. Li was appointed as an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Lee’s Pharm in September 2003, where he is responsible for
the overall operations and management and R&D of Lee’s Pharm and Dr.
Li resigned as the chief executive officer and the chief technical officer
and has been re-designed from an executive director to a non-executive
director of Lee’s Pharm since April 29, 2021.

In addition to his roles in Lee’s Pharm, Dr. Li also has multiple experience
in the management and strategic planning for many other pharmaceutical
institutions. Since 2014, he has been serving as the vice president of Hong
Kong Biotechnology Organization, mainly responsible for developing the
biotech industry in Hong Kong. Since March 2016, he has been serving
as the president of Guangzhou Pharmaceutical Association* (B2 &),
an academic and non-profit social organization formed by pharmaceutical
researchers in Guangzhou, where he is mainly responsible for providing
industrial insights for developing the pharmaceutical industry in
Guangzhou. Dr. Li is also a member of the review committee of Innovation
and Technology Fund of Hong Kong Government, a fund supported by the
government of Hong Kong to promote and facilitate technology companies.
Dr. Li obtained his Ph.D. in pharmacology from the medicine college of the
University of Illinois in the United States in May 1992.

Dr. Li has earned multiple awards and esteemed recognitions. He has
been an adjunct professor at the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology since November 2013 and an honorary fellow since June
2016. In August 2018, he was awarded the leading innovation talent*
(E M Al % %8 = A 74 ) by the Guangzhou government. In January 2018,
Dr. Li was appointed as a member of the People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Anhui Province in the PRC, and was honored with the 16th
World Outstanding Chinese Award (it #4412 A 4%) by the World Chinese
Business Investment Foundation (it FEEREHE S ) in August 2018.

* For identification purposes only
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Dai Xiangrong, aged 45, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as an executive Director on October 23, 2020. He is mainly
responsible for overseeing R&D and daily operation of our Group.

As a licensed pharmacist, Mr. Dai has over 15 years of extensive
experience in preclinical studies, clinical research and registration of new
drugs. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Dai had worked in Lee’s Pharm since
July 2007, where he was responsible for various new drug development
programs and succeeded in bringing the programs to the clinical trial
stage, and was further promoted to senior director of the R&D centre in
February 2016. Prior to the Listing Date, Mr. Dai resigned as the senior
director of the R&D center and ceased to hold any management position in
the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group.

Mr. Dai obtained both his bachelor’s degree in horticulture and his
master’s degree in biochemistry from Anhui Agricultural University (Z# 2
% K2 in Anhui Province, China, in July 2003 and June 2007, respectively.

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, aged 71, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on February 20, 2017 and is primarily responsible for
providing guidance and advice on the corporate and business strategies of
our Group.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun is an entrepreneur and had established and run
several companies since the 1990s. Prior to joining our Group, she joined
Lee’s Pharm in April 1997. She has been appointed as an executive
director and managing director of Lee’s Pharm since December 2001,
and further as the chief marketing and sales officer of Lee’s Pharm since
September 2003, where she was responsible for the sales and marketing
activities of Lee’s Pharm.

Ms. Tiantian Zhang, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on February 5, 2021 and is primarily responsible for providing guidance
and advice on the corporate and business strategies of our Group.

Ms. Zhang has over 11 years of management and investment experience
in healthcare industry. From January 2009 to April 2012, Ms. Zhang
worked as a manager of business development at Hutchison MediPharma
Limited, which is a subsidiary of Hutchison China MediTech Limited, a
company whose shares are traded on the NASDAQ (ticker symbol: HCM),
where she was responsible for drug out-licensing and project management.
From July 2014 to December 2015, Ms. Zhang worked as an associate
manager at Zimmer Biomet Holdings, Inc., a company whose shares are
traded on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: ZBH), where she
was responsible for management of strategic initiatives. In January 2016,
Ms. Zhang joined Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers China (SL5EATEHES)
as a vice president, focusing on the firm’s life science investment practice
and portfolio management. Ms. Zhang joined Panacea Venture since
January 2018 and is now a partner; Panacea Venture is a venture capital
firm focusing on investments in innovative and transformative early and
growth stage healthcare and life sciences companies worldwide, where she
involves in the firm’s life science practice, portfolio management and fund-
raising.
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Ms. Zhang graduated from the University of Texas at Austin, the United
States with a bachelor of science degree in biochemistry in December
2006. She obtained a master degree in biotechnology from the Graduate
School of Arts and Sciences of Columbia University, the United States in
October 2008, and a master of business administration degree from the
Fuqua School of Business of Duke University, the United States, in May
2014.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing, aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 1, 2021 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Wong holds a master’s degree in executive business administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the
Chartered Governance Institute. He is also a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a chartered member of the
Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment. Mr. Wong was awarded
the Medal of Honor and appointed Justice of the Peace by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director at (i)
C CHENG HOLDINGS LIMITED (a public company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1486)); (ii) YNBY International Limited (a public
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 30)); and (iii)
Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited (a public company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1170)). Mr. Wong served as an independent
non-executive director of (i) CRCC High-Tech Equipment Corporation
Limited (a public company with H shares listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1786)) from November 2015 to October 2022; (ii) Wine's
Link International Holdings Limited (a public company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8509)) from December 2017 to March 2023; (iii)
Guangzhou Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited (a
public company with A shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600332) and H shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
874)) from June 2017 to May 2023; (iv) Inner Mongolia Yitai Coal Co., Ltd.
(a public company with B shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 900948) and H shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 3948)) from May 2017 to May 2023; and (v) Jiangxi Bank Co., Ltd. (a
public company with H shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1916)) from February 2018 to August 2024.
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Mr. Wong is a member of the Anhui Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, a panel member of Accounting
and Financial Reporting Review Tribunal, the Betting and Lotteries
Commission, the Medical Council of Hong Kong, Advisory Committee on
Enhancing Self-Reliance Through District Partnership (ESR) Programme
and the board member of Ocean Park Corporation.

Mr. Wong is the partner and responsible officer of Hermitage Capital HK
Limited, a private equity firm licensed under the SFO. Prior to this, he had
worked with an international audit firm for four years and then a listed
company as chief financial officer for seven years, after which he co-
founded Silk Road International Capital Limited (a licensed corporation
formerly known as Legend Capital Partners Inc.) and led the company
as the executive director and responsible officer for twenty-three years.
Overall, he has over three decades of solid experience in corporate
management and governance, investment management and advisory,
accounting and finance.

Prof. Lo Yuk Lam, aged 76, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 1, 2021 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prof. Lo has extensive experience in biotechnology industry, corporate
management, academic research and community service. Since July
2019, he has been serving as the chairman of GT Healthcare Capital
Partners, a private investment partnership specializing in healthcare
investments. From July 2007 to June 2009, he was a member of the
Hong Kong Government Research Grants Council. He was the chairman
of the Advisory Council on Food and Environmental Hygiene of the Hong
Kong Government from April 2015 to March 2021 and he has been the
president for HK Bio-Med Innotech Association. He also serves as the
honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Biotechnology Organisation. Since
February 2019, he has been serving as the partner of Hongsen Investment
Management Ltd, an investment company focusing on growing biotech
companies. He is now appointed as the strategic advisor to the President
and Adjunct Professor to the Division of Life Science of Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology.

Prof. Lo also holds or ever held the following positions outside our Group:

. an independent director of Sinovac Biotech Ltd., a company whose
shares are listed on NASDAQ Global Select Market (ticker symbol:
SVA), since March 2006;

. an independent non-executive director of Luye Pharma Group Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2186), since June 2014; and

. an independent non-executive director of CSPC Pharmaceutical
Group Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1093), from June 2014 to
January 2021.
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In recognition of his leadership in the community and dedication to his
field, Prof. Lo has received many awards. In 2000, he was the first to be
bestowed with the title of honorary fellow by the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology for his role in establishing Hong Kong’s
biotechnology industry. He was awarded China’s “Top Ten Financial and
Intelligent Persons” in 2007 in recognition of his outstanding contribution
to economic development and business innovation in China. He was
honored with the World Outstanding Chinese Award (it 57 £ % A #8) by
the World Chinese Business Investment Foundation (tt R E & & & &
€ ) in June 2008, the Pericles International Prize 2019 by the Alcmaeon
International Academy in June 2019, and the HKSAR Bronze Bauhinia Star
by the government of Hong Kong in October 2020.

Mr. Liew Fui Kiang, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on June 6, 2022 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Liew is currently an independent non-executive director of (i)
Shandong Gold Mining Co., Ltd., a company dually listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1787) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600547); (ii) Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3363); and (iii)
Zhongchang International Holdings Group Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 859), respectively.

Mr. Liew currently serves as an independent member of the board of
supervisors for Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China Limited,
a company dually listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2318) and
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601318), a Fortune Global 500
corporation.

Mr. Liew previously served as (i) the chairman of the board of directors
and an executive director of PacRay International Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1010); (ii) an
independent non-executive director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Company
Limited (& L # # i% 1» B R 2~ & ), a company listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600019), a Fortune Global 500 corporation; and
(iii) an independent non-executive director of China Apex Group Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2011).

Mr. Liew is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a solicitor
of England and Wales, and a solicitor of Hong Kong. He graduated from
the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom with a Bachelor of Laws
as a Tetley & Lupton scholar, and he graduated from the Hull University
Business School in the United Kingdom with a Master of Business
Administration. Mr. Liew was awarded the General Management Certificate
of Achievement by the University of Cambridge Judge Business School;
and he earned the Certificate for ESG Investing from the CFA Institute of
the United States of America.
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Dr. Lau Lit Fui, aged 62, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as president and chief operating officer of our Group on April
1, 2019 and reassigned as CSO on January 18, 2022. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall scientific functions of our Group,
including basic and applied research projects, as well as the development
of new processes, technologies or projects. He is also responsible for
promoting the efficiency, profitability and competitive position of our
Group.

Dr. Lau has 25 years of extensive experience in operation management
and R&D of new drugs. From August 1998 to January 2008, he worked
in the global R&D department of Pfizer Inc., a worldwide leading
pharmaceutical company, where his last position was senior principal
scientist heading a biology laboratory and supervising technicians in testing
drug candidates. From January 2008 to August 2012, Dr. Lau worked
as the associate director of the new product and alliance development
department of GlaxoSmithKline (China) R&D Co., Ltd., a science-led
global healthcare company, where he was responsible for department
management and R&D of new drugs treating neurodegenerative diseases.
Dr. Lau joined Lee’s Pharm in October 2012 and had been managing the
operation and R&D of Lee’s Pharm until April 2016.

Dr. Lau obtained both his bachelor’s degree in science and master degree
of philosophy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December
1985 and December 1987, respectively, where he was awarded the
Wong Siew Chan Scholarship. In December 1993, he obtained his Ph.D.
in biochemical science from the University of Connecticut in the United
States. He completed his research fellowship in neuroscience at the School
of Medicine of John Hopkins University in the United States in August
1998.

Dr. Lau’s outstanding performances have been recognized by several
leading corporations. In February 1991, he was granted SmithKline
Beecham Student Pharmacology Award by SmithKline Beecham
Pharmaceuticals, a company focused on pharmaceuticals, biologics,
vaccines, and consumer healthcare. During his employment with Pfizer,
Inc., he was granted several awards by the global research & development
department of the company, for his leadership, team work spirit and
contribution in R&D. In 2014, he was awarded the Medicines for Life
Award by UTASIA Inc., a subsidiary of United Therapeutics Corporation,
a company mainly focusing on pharmaceutical preparations business.
In 2018, Dr. Lau received an award from CVie Therapeutics Co. Ltd., a
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm, for his sustained contribution and commitment.
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Dr. Albert Tsai Jr., aged 51, was appointed as the CMO of our Group on
June 1, 2021. He is primarily responsible for leading our Group to advance
its assets through the clinical development process as well as supporting
the post-approval medical affairs for our Group’s commercial products (e.g.
safety, risk management, thought leader relationships).

Dr. Tsai has 21 years of healthcare experience across the spectrum of
pharmaceuticals, biotech, medical devices and healthcare consulting,
as well as in various country markets including China, U.S., Japan and
Southeast Asia. From 2019 to 2021, he served as the vice president,
regional medical officer of the Asia-Pacific region at PPD Inc., a leading
global CRO, responsible for business development and providing medical/
scientific product development advisory to biotech companies in Asia.
Prior to that, he served as the vice president, Asia Pacific at The Medicines
Company Hong Kong, a company listed on the NASDAQ (stock code:
MDCO) from 2014 to 2019, where he developed and implemented the Asia
expansion strategy for The Medicines Company Hong Kong with a primary
focus on establishing their presence in China and Japan. From 1997 to
2014, he worked in various leading global pharmaceutical companies
including Bayer Schering Pharma AG, Merck Sharp & Dohme (Asia) Ltd.,
Amgen Inc. and GE Healthcare Inc. in senior medical positions.

Dr. Tsai obtained his doctor of medicine from Northwestern University and
master of business administration in strategy and finance from University
of Southern California.

Mr. Zhang Guohui, aged 50, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as deputy general manager of our Group on July 1, 2016. He is
mainly responsible for overseeing manufacturing and logistics function of
our Group.

Mr. Zhang has over 24 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry.
Since his graduation in July 1997 and until June 2016, Mr. Zhang had been
working in Lee’s Pharm for more than 18 years. He was first responsible
for the R&D of new drugs, quality control and GMP management
and further promoted as the head of R&D of the company, where he
accumulated extensive experience in the R&D and registration of new
drugs, as well as project management.

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in biochemical engineering from
the Beijing Institute of Light Industry (JtR# T 2267), currently known as
Beijing Technology and Business University (1t X T A£) in Beijing, China
in July 1997. He obtained his master’s degree in business administration
from Asia International Open University (Macau) in January 2009.
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Mr. Jiang Su, aged 44, joined our Group in January 2018 and was
appointed as the clinical operations director of our Group on June 1, 2019.
He is mainly responsible for conducting and organizing clinical trials.

Mr. Jiang has over 19 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry.
Since his graduation in July 2003 and until January 2018, Mr. Jiang had
been working in Lee’s Pharm for almost 15 years. He was first responsible
for carrying out clinical trials and further promoted to the head of clinical
quality in charge of quality control of clinical trials.

Mr. Jiang obtained his bachelor’s degree in maternal and child health from
the Anhui Medical University (% # % £} X2 ) in Anhui Province, China in
June 2003.

Mr. Ma Jian, aged 38, joined our Group in January 2017. He was
appointed as assistant manager of quality assurance and quality control
on September 1, 2018, and was further promoted as the vice president of
quality control of our Group in 2021. He is mainly responsible for devising
procedures to inspect and report quality assurance issues, identifying
critical control points and preventive measures.

From 2007 to 2012, Mr. Ma had been working in the R&D department of
various pharmaceutical companies. From March 2012 to January 2017,
Mr. Ma had been working at Lee’s Pharm where he was first the leader of
document quality assurance group and further promoted as the leader of
onsite quality assurance.

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor’s degree in medicine from Anhui Medical
University (Z#&#®}X2) in Anhui Province, China in June 2007.

Mr. Mauro Bove, aged 69, was appointed as the business development
director of our Group on January 1, 2019. He is mainly responsible for
overseeing business development activities and identifying new business
opportunities and finalizing the relevant negotiations on a global basis.

Mr. Bove has almost 41 years of business and management experience
within the pharmaceutical industry working in Europe, North America and
Asia. Mr. Bove led for many years until March 2014 the corporate and
business development of Sigma-Tau Finanziaria S.p.A.. From May 2005
to December 2014, he served as a non-executive director of Lee’s Pharm.
From December 2014 to December 2018, he served as the senior vice
president of corporate and business development department of Lee’s
Pharm, overseeing the business development activities and identifying
new business opportunities for the group.
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In addition to the above, Mr. Bove has also served as a director of
many other private or listed pharmaceutical companies. He serves as
a director at RegeneRx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical
company listed on the OTCQB market under the ticker symbol “RGRX"
in the United States; KATO Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a privately held
U.S. bio-pharmaceutical company dedicated to the development of
novel therapies for pathologies of the eye with an emphasis on unmet
medical needs; Adastra Pharmaceuticals Inc., a private U.S. clinical-
stage biopharmaceutical company focused on providing novel solutions
to advance patient care in oncology; and Eyesense AG, an European
company focusing on the scientific R&D in the area of medical devices
applied to the diabetes segment.

Mr. Bove obtained his law degree from the University of Parma in Italy
in July 1980. In 1985, he attended the Academy of American and
International Law at International and Comparative Law Center in Texas,
the United States.

Mr. Feng Jiang, aged 49, was appointed as sales and marketing
director of our Group on October 1, 2020. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the branding, sales and marketing activities of our Group.

From 2000 to 2006, Mr. Feng served at various China offices of
multinational pharmaceutical companies as sales or medical representative.
From January 2007 to April 2010, he worked for Eli Lilly Asia, Inc., where
he was responsible for the promotion and sales of products in Guangdong
Province and his last position was regional manager. From April 2010
to September 2020, he served successively as the regional manager
and deputy director of the ophthalmic business department of Allergan
Information Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, where he was responsible
for the sales and marketing of the company’s ophthalmic pharmaceutical
products and was granted several awards by the company in recognition
of his great performance.

Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor’s degree in biotechnology from South China
Agricultural University (ZfE%A2) in Guangdong Province, China in July
1999.

Ms. Yau Suk Yan, aged 42, was appointed as the financial controller and
the company secretary of our Company on September 9, 2019. She is
responsible for management and supervision of auditing, report analysis
and budget control of our Group.
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From September 2004 to January 2010, Ms. Yau served as a manager at
KPMG. From February 2010 to July 2015, she was the financial controller
and company secretary of Active Group Holdings Limited, currently known
as Sino Energy International Limited (1 g2BIFR AR E AR A E]), a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1096), where she was in charge of finance management and audit
of the group. From July 2015 to September 2019, Ms. Yau served as
the financial controller and company secretary of Uni-Bio Science Group
Limited (Bt AR E£E AR A7), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 690), where she was
responsible for finance management and audit of the group.

Ms. Yau obtained her bachelor’s degree of arts (with honors) in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November
2004 and completed the CPA qualification programme and passed the
professional examination for membership admission and was issued with a
practicing certificate by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in August 2006. She has been a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2008 and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since March 2016.

Ms. Carol Liu, aged 41, joined our Group as head of regulatory affairs
on January 4, 2021. She is responsible for overseeing industry specific
practices and ensuring all government and regulations are being met
throughout drug registration of our Group.

Ms. Liu has worked for GlaxoSmithKline plc (GSK) and Lee’s Pharm from
2007 to 2021. In the past 14 years of professional career, she focused
on the area of regulatory affairs, especially for innovative drugs including
biological products and chemical drugs. She obtained her master of
science degree in the School of Pharmacy of Peking University (1t 5T AE).

Ms. Yang Lei, aged 44, joined our Group as general counsel on October
11, 2021. She is responsible for overseeing legal and compliance functions
of our Group.

Ms. Yang started her career at Shanghai Xuhui District Government'’s
Supervision Commission (LB MHRERARBIIHHAZE) in 2003. Since 2006
she worked for General Electronics after her graduation from the master
program in Germany. She joined Roche China as legal manager since 2011
and since then she focused on healthcare industry and had accumulated
rich experience in legal and compliance practice. Starting from 2015, she
joined USP China (:E % 5 & EER 4 50) as director of legal, compliance
and ethics.

Ms. Yang is pursuing PhD. in philosophy at Chinese Academy of Social
Science (FFEItE%IEPT). She obtained a master’s degree in European and
international law from Bremen University, Germany. She also obtained a
bachelor’s degree in civil and commercial law from East China University
of Law and Politics (FZRBUAKE).
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EXTERNAL CONSULTANT

David R. Guyer, M.D., aged 65, was engaged by our Company as strategy
consultant of our Group on November 4, 2024 to provide our Group with
consulting services related to planning business strategies, sourcing
business development opportunities, and offering protocol inputs and
clinical development integration in the field of ophthalmology.

David is the Co-founder, President, and Chief Executive Officer of EyeBio,
a subsidiary of Merck & Co, Inc. (Rahway, New Jersey, USA). He led
Merck’s acquisition of EyeBio in July 2024 for up to US$3 billion.

David is also a Venture Partner at SV Health Investors and is the Co-
Founder, former CEO, and Executive Chairman of Iveric Bio (previously
Ophthotech). He served as Chairman of Iveric Bio’s board of directors from
2007 to 2017, as CEO from 2013 to 2017, and as Executive Chairman
from 2017 to 2021. Under David’s leadership, Iveric Bio entered into a
partnership with Novartis that, at the time, was one of the largest ex-U.S.
partnering transactions in biotechnology industry history.

David has expansive medical, drug development, and commercial
experience in ophthalmology. His expertise is highly sought after, and
he has served on the boards of 27 companies, both public and private.
In addition to co-founding EyeBio and Iveric Bio, David co-founded
Eyetech Pharmaceuticals Inc. and served as its CEO and member of the
board of directors from 2000 until the company’s acquisition by OSI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in November 2005. At Eyetech, David developed and
commercialized the first anti-VEGF drug for retinal diseases.

Prior to co-founding Eyetech Pharmaceuticals, David was a professor and
Chairman of the Department of Ophthalmology at New York University
School of Medicine. David received a B.S. from Yale College and an M.D.
from Johns Hopkins Medical School. He completed his ophthalmology
residency at Wilmer Ophthalmological Institute at Johns Hopkins Hospital
and a retinal fellowship at the Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary at
Harvard Medical School.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yau Suk Yan, our company secretary, was appointed on September 9,
2019. Ms. Yau is also our financial controller. For details of her biography,
please see “- Senior Management.”

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no information is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report of our
Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND VALUE

As a leading ophthalmic pharmaceutical company dedicated to the R&D,
manufacturing and commercialization of therapies that address significant
unmet medical needs in the world, Zhaoke Ophthalmology lives up to
this purpose by instilling a culture that is embodied by the outstanding
capabilities of its employees and management’s desire to constantly
challenge themselves in a collaborative, transparent and mutually
supportive manner. These cultural attributes are critical to consistently
delivering the best outcomes.

Guided by our Group’s core values, and its corporate belief of “Better
Vision, Better Living” ( £ R 8 ¢ - ¥ % A &), the Board, together with
senior management, are instrumental in defining the purpose and
strategic direction of our Group, set the tone and shape the corporate
culture of our Company to ensure all businesses across our Group are
aligned with the same purpose. Alongside our Group’s robust corporate
governance framework and effective risk management and internal control
systems, the desired culture is developed and reflected consistently in
the operating practices and policies of our Group, as well as its relations
with stakeholders, through active collaboration, effective engagement
and regular training at all levels. Board oversight of the culture of the
organization encompasses a range of measures and tools, including
employee engagement, retention and training, robust financial reporting,
whistleblowing, data privacy and security and legal and regulatory
compliance (including compliance with the Code of Ethics and other
policies of our Group), as well as staff safety, wellbeing and support. From
the Board performance evaluation conducted, the Directors are satisfied
with the performance of the Board and acknowledged that the Board plays
an effective role in the development and determination of our Group’s
culture, strategy and overall commercial objective. Taking into account
the corporate culture in a range of contexts, the Board considers that the
culture, purpose, values and strategy of our Group are aligned.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability. Our Company has adopted the CG Code as the basis of
our corporate governance practices. This corporate governance report will
also further clarify how our Company applies the principles of CG Code,
so as to enable Shareholders evaluation of such application. During the
Reporting Period, two Audit Committee meetings, three Remuneration
Committee meetings and two Nomination Committee meetings were held.
Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and not be performed
by the same individual. Dr. Li Xiaoyi currently serves as both the chairman
of the Board and the CEO. Dr. Li Xiaoyi has been operating and managing
our Group since its establishment, and the Directors consider that the
present arrangement is beneficial to and in the interests of our Company
and our Shareholders as a whole and the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance. For
details, see “- The Board - (6) Chairman and CEO”. On April 8, 2024, Mr.
Chen Yu resigned as a non-executive Director in order to devote more
time to his other work arrangements.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that our Company has
complied with applicable principles and code provisions of the CG Code as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

THE BOARD
(1) Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of our Group,
overseeing our Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of our
Group to the senior management of our Group. To oversee particular
aspects of our Company’s affairs, the Board has established five
Board committees including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Investment Committee
and the Executive Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board
committees’ responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference. All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to perform their duties.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole at all times.
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(2) Directors’ and Senior Management’'s

Liability Insurance and Indemnity

Our Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of our Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

(3) Board Composition

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
the Board composition is set out below:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
Ms. Tiantian Zhang
Mr. Chen Yu (resigned on April 8, 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee is Dr. Li Xiaoyi's sister. Save for this,
there is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the Board members
and senior management.

Under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, at least one independent
non-executive Director should possess appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Mr. Wong Hin Wing, one of the independent non-
executive Directors, has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required by
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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(4) Confirmation of Independence by the
Independent Non-executive Directors

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation in writing of his/her
independence. Our Company considers that, during the Reporting
Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date, all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

(5) Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of our Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi,
Mr. Dai Xiangrong, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Tiantian
Zhang, Mr. Wong Hin Wing, Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Liew Fui
Kiang, were regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates
on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. Internally-facilitated
briefings for the Directors would be arranged and reading material
on relevant topics would be provided to the Directors where
appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at our Company’s expense.
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(6) Chairman and CEO

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and not be
performed by the same individual. Dr. Li Xiaoyi currently serves as
both the chairman of the Board and the CEO. Dr. Li Xiaoyi has been
operating and managing our Group since its establishment. Our
Board believes that vesting the roles of both CEO and chairman of
the Board in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership and efficient discharge of executive functions within our
Group. We consider that the balance of power and authority of the
present arrangement will not be impaired as the Board comprises
six other experienced and high-calibre individuals who would be
able to offer advice from various perspectives. In addition, for major
decisions of our Group, our Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.

Therefore, our Directors consider that the present arrangement
is beneficial to and in the interests of our Company and our
Shareholders as a whole and the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.
The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of our Group in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of chairman of the Board and CEO is
necessary.

We are committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance (which is of critical importance to our development) to
protect the interest of the Shareholders. Save as disclosed above,
our Directors consider that our Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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(7) Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company. The initial term of their respective service
contracts shall commence from the Listing Date and continue for a
period of three years, until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the service contract or by our executive Directors
giving to us not less than 30 days’ prior notice in writing. Upon
mutual agreement, the service contract for each executive Director
may be renewed for successive period of three years.

Each of the non-executive Directors and two independent non-
executive Director, Mr. Wong Hin Wing (an independent non-
executive Director) and Prof. Lo Yuk Lam (an independent non-
executive Director) entered into an appointment letter with our
Company. The initial term for their appointment letters shall
commence from the Listing Date and continue for a period of three
years, until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not
less than three months’ prior notice in writing. Mr. Liew Fui Kiang
entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The initial
term for his appointment letters shall commence from the date of
his appointment, and continue for a period of three years, until
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing. Upon mutual agreement,
the appointment letter for each non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Director may be renewed for successive
period of three years.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of our Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of our Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of our Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from
office and be eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting,
provided that every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall retain office
until the close of the meeting at which he/she retires and shall be
eligible for re-election thereat.
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General Meeting

We adopt the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once every year and
the Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Due notice
should be given for all Board meetings to provide all Directors with
an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for a
regular meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company
secretary or the duly appointed secretary of the relevant Board
committees with copies circulated to relevant Board or Board
committee for comments and records.

The Board has established the Investment Committee and Executive
Committee to handle affairs relating to the investment aspects of
our Company, further regulate the governance structure of the
Board and safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, five Board meetings, two Audit
Committee meetings, three Remuneration Committee meetings,
two Nomination Committee meetings, three Investment Committee
meetings and twelve Executive Committee meetings were held.
A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board
meetings, committee meetings and general meeting is set out in the
table below:

TEEAWRSE

(8) Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and (8) EZ2g3  ZE522FRKF

AE

BEMRANED - EFSSRERRT - 8F
ELBITNOR HBFEH-—R - HHEZEes
FELBIT-REGHE  MERZREGEFEIER
TTRMREH - MEEERGHEE TAD B
B HERERARSHFLREERUMAATE
Hewdl SRLBARANEREREESRE
SR LAZENMERT  BIANRIRERESS
SEELEGEN - UL E R R -

BEEECRUKREZEERBITERES  BAK
BERARRKRERBNER  MBREEFE
BRI - AR SRR

EHRN RAABBRITSREEGEE 2K
BRZEEEHE IAFMEEEEE  2RREE
ZBeeH 3RKRAZBEERRI2RBTE
gggd-  TREJESREFESER  £8B8
SRR HELEME

Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Executive General

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Director EEpE f £ ERZES ¥MzES REZE% REZEE Hi7ZER REAE
Executive Directors: YES:
Dr. Li Xiaoyi EXE h 5 - - 2 3 12 1
Mr. Dai Xiangrong mREE 5 - - - - 12 1
Non-executive Directors: FanES:
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee — Z (it 5 - - - - - 1
Ms. Tiantian Zhang Rt 5 2 3 - - - 1
Independent Non-executive Bui#7ES:

Directors:

Mr. Wong Hin Wing BRALE 5 2 3 2 3 - 1 "
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam ESHAR 5 - 3 2 3 - 1
Mr, Liew Fui Kiang [ 5 2 - - - - 1
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During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board has also held
a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of the other Directors in accordance with the code
provision C.2.7 in part 2 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the contribution required from each Director
to perform their responsibilities to our Company and is satisfied that
each of Directors has been spending sufficient time in performing
their responsibilities during the Reporting Period.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

We have adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as its securities code to regulate the dealing by the
Directors in securities of our Company.

Having made specific inquiry of all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the
Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees who are
likely to be in possession of inside information of our Company was
noted by our Company.

(10) Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
our Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at our Company’s expense and
are encouraged to access and to consult with our Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of our Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure
that they remain appropriate to our Company’s needs. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management on our Company’s behalf.
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(11) Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and has delegated the corporate
governance duties to the Audit Committee which include:

(a) to develop and review our Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of our
Company;

(c) to review and monitor our Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors of
our Company; and

(e) to review our Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in this corporate governance report.

(12) Board Independence

The Board established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board, including, among others, (i)
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to actively
participate in the Board meetings; (ii) the number of independent
non-executive Directors must comply with the requirement under
the Listing Rules; (iii) sufficient resources shall be provided to the
Board if it thinks necessary to seek independent professional advice
from Independent Third Parties; and (iv) the independent non-
executive Directors shall devote sufficient time to discharge their
duties as a Director.

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms on an annual basis, which have been reviewed and
considered effective by the Board for the Reporting Period.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

(1) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Wong Hin
Wing. Dr. Li Xiaoyi is the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, diversity, size and composition of the Board, assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to
make recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of
Directors and Board succession. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the respective website
of the Stock Exchange and our Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee meetings
were held on March 27, 2024 and August 29, 2024. The attendance
record of the committee members is set out in the section headed
“- The Board - (8) Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and
General Meeting” of this corporate governance report. The following
is a summary of key work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the Reporting Period:

. assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

. reviewed the revised board diversity policy of our Company (the

“"Board Diversity Policy”) and Directors nomination policy
(the "Nomination Policy”) and made recommendations to
the Board for approval; and

. made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting held in 2024.

The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent
on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEIERIGFR A 7

ExRET
(1) BEZEE

EEECRELTRAKIREREZES - WHIET
EEREDSE RNERRERATAY  RBEEE
BH-EBRTEEZ/ N RBLURMBE I
TEREGHARLERLAEAK - F/NRE
ITREERIRE -

REZBEENIZBEABNESRENRE %
TALIEE - ABRAR - SPRESIEITESRN
BN RERZEREFSHENERSRL
B o RART B S E E A E R A AT &
ARRIEBIEHER] -

RREHA  REZEEEN2024F3/827H K
20248 A29HRTEH - ZEGMEMLER
BERACEERRE - EES - (8)EECY
#ZELGRMREAG | UTARERE
BERBREHANEZTIERE

. FHEEIEMITE MBI

. BRI ERFNRE - ABURAER

. BAARRNEETESTEZTLBE
(EBESRLBRE)RBEERARE
(RBEBE])  WHESTRHEHESR
#t &

. MESERHNN2024F BITHRIBF
ARE LEEERNER -

REZEERIZAE &R RERRETERR
K BAEPTRL S A BB A B 5 HH SRR ST i i
ASBREAL - REZBENRRMRSRER
EEGMERE -



Corporate Governance Report

(2) Nomination Policy

We have adopted a Nomination Policy for evaluating and appointing
any candidate for directorship. The Nomination Committee will
review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness. A summary of the Nomination Policy is set out below:

Purpose

Selection Criteria

Nomination Procedure

The Nomination Policy sets out the
approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors.

The Nomination Committee would
consider the following criteria, including,
among other things, character and
integrity, qualifications (cultural and
educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under
the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of qualifications,
skills, experience, independence and
diversity, and willingness and ability
to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board or
Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee will
recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance
with the following procedures and
processes as set out in the Nomination
Policy:

. the Nomination Committee will,
giving consideration to the current
composition and size of the Board,
develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at
the outset to focus the search
effort on suitable candidates,
where necessary;
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the Nomination Committee may
consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or
selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing
Directors, advertisements,
recommendations from an
independent agency firm and
proposals from Shareholders
with due consideration given
to the criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy;

the Nomination Committee may
adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the
suitability of the candidates,
such as conducting interviews,
background checks, presentations
and third-party reference checks;

upon considering a candidate
suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold
a meeting or by way of written
resolutions to, if thought fit,
approve the recommendation to
the Board for appointment;

the Nomination Committee
will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board
in relation to the proposed
appointment and the proposed
remuneration package; and

the Board will have the final
authority in determining the
selection of nominees and all
appointment of Directors will
be confirmed by the filing of
the consent to act as Director
of the relevant Director (or any
other similar filings requiring the
relevant Director to acknowledge
or accept the appointment as
Director, as the case may be).
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In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regard to the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

Board Diversity Policy

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy for achieving and
maintaining diversity on the Board. Our Company recognizes and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level, including gender diversity, as an essential
element in maintaining our Company’s competitive advantage and
enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate employees from
the widest possible pool of available talent. A summary of the Board
Diversity Policy is set out below:

Purpose The Board Diversity Policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board and enable the Board to
comply with the CG Code.

Policy Statement Our Company considers increasing
diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. All
Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objectives Selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background,
industry experience, technical capabilities,
professional qualifications and skills,
knowledge and length of service. The
Board should also take into account
factors relating to its own business model
and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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Progress on Achieving The Board will take the opportunity
the Objectives to increase the proportion of female
members over time when selecting and

making recommendation on suitable

candidates for Board appointments. The

Board will ensure that appropriate balance

of gender diversity is achieved with

reference to stakeholders’ expectation

and international and local recommended

best practices, with the ultimate goal

of bringing the Board to gender parity.

The Board also aspires to having an

appropriate proportion of Directors who

have direct experience in our Group’s

core markets, with different ethnic

backgrounds, and reflecting our strategy.

The Nomination Committee and the Board have reviewed the
diversity of the Board and the Board Diversity Policy for the
Reporting Period. As of December 31, 2024, the diversity profile of
the Board is analyzed as follows:

. the Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
overall management, business development, R&D, quality
control, public relationships, regulatory affairs and corporate
finance;

. the Board members also consist of five males and two females,
with two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors, of ages ranging
from 42 to 76; and

. the education background of the Directors includes pharmacology,
biochemistry, business administration, management science
and engineering, finance and accountancy, with degrees
awarded by education institutions in the PRC, Hong Kong and
the United States.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, the composition of the Board is REEERAITRE  E5gERKERE5E
five males and two females (namely Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee RmE (DR AT AR+ RARF#E 2 1) ©
and Ms. Tiantian Zhang). The diversity of the Board is illustrated as EEENZLEBANT - EZEEREHAE
below. Further details on the bios and experience of the Directors — A BN A FREI6E48E ©
are set out on pages 36 to 48 of this annual report.
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As of December 31, 2024, the gender ratio of the workforce MN2024F 128310 - FEEAB(BREHITE
(including executive Directors and senior management) of our EHRSREEEE) MR E15942 LML 135
Group is 159 female per 135 male, and the gender ratio of the B MAKESREEE(REATES)N
senior management (including executive Directors) of our Group MRILLBIBIN A=2ZEENEB B - AREA
is approximately three female per nine male. The diversity of ENZtbiBREmanT -
workforce of our Company is illustrated as below.
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After evaluating various factors, the Company has set a goal of
having at least two directors of different genders. As of December
31, 2024, the Board has two female Directors, which meets the goal
of Board gender diversity, and the number of female Directors
represent 28.6% of the Board, which is slightly higher than the
industry average.

Considering gender diversity, the Nomination Committee recognized
that our Company has been sufficiently diverse at both the Board
and workforce levels. Considering the structure diversity, the
Nomination Committee was also of the opinion that the structure
of Board is reasonable, equipping a balanced mix of skill-set,
experience, expertise, and diversity which enhances decision-making
capability and the overall effectiveness of the Board in achieving
sustainable business operation and enhancing Shareholder value.

The Board is also satisfied with the gender diversity of the
Company’s employees (including senior management). The Board
is not aware of any factors or circumstances that would make it
more challenging or less relevant for the Group to achieve gender
diversity among its employees.

Going forward, our Company will engage more resources in
training female staff who have long and relevant experience in the
ophthalmology industry, with the aim of promoting them to the
senior management or directorship of our Group. We expect to have
more female members who would be qualified to sit on the Board
in the future. We also welcome all gender to join. The recruitment
strategy is to employ a right staff for a right position regardless of
gender. Our Company commits to providing equal opportunities to
our staff in respect of recruitment, training and development, job
advancement, and remuneration and benefits.

The Board and Nomination Committee will continue to consider
setting measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and review such objectives from time to time to ensure
their appropriateness and ascertain continuous compliance by our
Company with the board diversity requirement under the Listing
Rules, including gender diversity.

(3) Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, the Remuneration Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
and Mr. Wong Hin Wing, and one non-executive Director, namely Ms.
Tiantian Zhang. Prof. Lo Yuk Lam is the chairman of the committee.
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) assessing performance of
executive Directors; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing the policy on such remuneration; (iii)
determining the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and
senior management; (iv) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time; and (v) reviewing and
approving matters relating to share schemes in accordance with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee meetings
were held on March 27, 2024, July 5, 2024 and August 29, 2024.
The attendance record of the committee members is set out in the
section headed “- The Board - (8) Board Meetings, Committee
Meetings and General Meeting” of this corporate governance
report. The following is a summary of key work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the Reporting Period:

. made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of the individual executive Directors and senior
management;

. reviewed and approved the granting of options under the

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme;

. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on our
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management;

. reviewed and revised the terms of reference of Remuneration
Committee and made recommendation to the Board for
approval; and

. reviewed the performance of duties of Directors and senior
management of our Company and conducted annual
performance appraisals on them.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the second model
described in code provision E.1.2(c) in Part 2 of the CG Code (i.e.
make recommendation to our Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of our Company).
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The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries and allowances,
performance-based bonuses, share-based payments and retirement
benefit scheme contributions of the relevant Directors) payable
to the Directors for the Reporting Period was approximately
RMB18.0 million. The remuneration of the individual Director and
senior management is determined with reference to salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the Directors and senior management and performance of our
Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management of our Company are set out in Note 9 to the Financial
Statements.

Remuneration by band of the senior management (including two
executive Directors) of our Group for the Reporting Period are set
out below:

RBERN - BN EZNHHEQE(REEHES
NS -« FrE MORR - RIBIEA - AR RER
M FERARENEFEHFONB/AREL18.08
B EAEERSREREFMIZRAEL
BARXMNF S EFRERERERRNE
MR EENBEEURAEENRRETE - EEX
ARBEREEENHFMFBERRT MR T
Qo

RBMEPFRZFTHBER DN AEESREEA
B(BREMBRTER)FHMEIIAT

Number of senior

Remuneration band (HK$) management
FEEEE (B T) BREBABAY
0-5,000,000 11
5,000,001-10,000,000 1

(4) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Board with its written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hin Wing
and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang, and one non-executive Director, namely
Ms. Tiantian Zhang. Mr. Wong Hin Wing, being the chairman of the
committee, is appropriately qualified as required under Rules 3.10(2)
and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal controls system of our Group, review the financial
information of our Company, review the effectiveness of the internal
audit function, consider issues relating to the external auditors
and their appointment, review and approve connected transactions
and advise the Board. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
integrity audit and inspection in accordance with the whistleblowing
policy, which provides proper arrangements for employees, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control and other matters. The whistleblowing
policy aims to provide reporting channels and guidance on reporting
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other
matters, and reassurance to persons reporting their concerns under
this policy of the protection that our Company will extend to them
against unfair disciplinary action or victimization for any genuine
reports made.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee met twice with
the auditors to review, among others, the annual results for the year
ended December 31, 2023 and the interim results for the six months
ended June 30, 2024 in accordance to code provisions of the CG
Code and the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee meetings were
held on March 27, 2024 and August 29, 2024. The attendance record
of the committee members is set out in "~ The Board - (8) Board
Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meeting.” The following
is a summary of key work performed by the Audit Committee during
the Reporting Period:

. reviewed together with the management the accounting
principles and policies adopted by us, and the accuracy and
fairness of the consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended December 31, 2023 and for the six
months ended June 30, 2024, respectively;

. reviewed the risk management and internal control systems
and the effectiveness of internal audit function and discussed
with the management and internal audit on their findings. For
details, please refer to the section headed “- Risk Management
and Internal Control” of this corporate governance report;

. performed annual review of the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions of our Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023;

. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of external
auditor at the annual general meeting held in 2024; and

. approved the audit plan for the financial year ended December
31, 2024, reviewed the independence of external auditor and
approved its engagement.

(5) Investment Committee

The Investment Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Investment Committee comprises
one Executive Director, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hin Wing and Prof. Lo
Yuk Lam. Mr. Wong Hin Wing is the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Investment Committee are to review
proposed investments, make recommendations to the Board of
Directors, make subsequent assessments of investments, and review
and consider the overall investment strategy, direction and business
development of our Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Investment Committee meetings
were held on January 30, 2024, April 10, 2024 and October 26,
2024. The attendance record of the committee members is set out
n “- The Board - (8) Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and
General Meeting.” The following is a summary of key work performed
by the Investment Committee during the Reporting Period:

. reviewed, evaluated and proposed to the Board for approval
any investment project;

. reviewed and set the annual investment plan of our Company;
and
. determined whether the proposed investment project is in the

interests of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

(6) Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Executive Committee comprises
two executive Directors, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and Mr. Dai Xiangrong,
Company’s CSO, Dr. Lau Lit Fui and Company’s CMO, Dr. Albert Tsai
Jr. The chairman of the committee is Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee are to manage the
day-to-day activities of our business through (i) developing and
implementing strategy, operational plans, policies, procedures
and budgets; (ii) deriving and monitoring operating and financial
performance; (iii) assessing and controlling risks; and (iv)
prioritizing and allocating resources.

During the Reporting Period, the Executive Committee meetings
were held on the last working day of each month. The attendance
record of the committee members is set out in “- The Board - (8)
Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meeting.” The
following is a summary of key work performed by the Executive
Committee during the Reporting Period:

. developed and implemented strategy, operational plans,
policies, procedures and budgets of our Group as a whole;

. drove and monitored operating and financial performance on
monthly bases; and

. prioritized and allocated resources on daily operation and each
R&D project.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 which give a true and
fair view of the affairs of our Company and our Group and of our Group’s
results and cash flows.

The management of our Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the Financial Statements, which are put to
the Board for approval. We provide all members of the Board with monthly
updates on our performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon our Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the external auditor of our Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges it is responsible for our Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG risk), it is willing to
take in achieving our Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design and implementation, and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Al AA N/
PEERRE

ESTRVBBRRNMBERSE

EENREEEAHREEE2024F12A318 HFEH
MIEHE - WEBEARKRBRAR R RAREBHER U
RASENEERBSRE °

AABEEABERESERUVENEBLERN &
BEEG IR 2 UM SRR B BTG
BEMEARNESFS2EREREAARMORE - KR
RATSMEHEFR -

EFUTNBAEREFIRNEREATEERE
AR EARESRC SR BRERR -

AR RSN AL B AN R AR S B S 3R M SR E (R AR
AR B L EEN R E A ©

R E R AP EE R

EFAREAYARANAREERNIEZERRA
B UHEERAZSHENERE - BRER KA
EERREEEREMIPERREER XL B RNAR
MARERTEEEANRERMIIBREL AT IE
BEMRE -

E5e B B REEARARER KR B IRE AR
BERaNER(BEESGRR)ME REE - YHRRARAR
BRI MEFAENERNAREIR RN RS -
BERZEEMPETSREEERE  YEEEEEHRE

RERRABEERFHRG - BIERES -

Annual Report 2024 F3§

67



68

Corporate Governance Report

Al AA N/
PEERRE

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses
or fraud, we have developed and adopted various risk management
procedures, which comprised the following steps:

° Risk identification: Identify major and significant risks that could
affect the achievement of goals of our Group;

o Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk according
to its likely impact and the likelihood of occurrence; and

° Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the
risks.

In addition, we developed guidelines with defined authority for
implementation by key business processes and office functions. All
departments conducted internal control assessments regularly to identify
risks that potentially impact the business of our Group and various aspects,
including key operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance
and information security.

The management, in coordination with department heads, assessed the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provided treatment plans, monitored the
risk management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems. Through our
current risk management and the newly established ESG risk management
statement, we could therefore cover various types of risks more
comprehensively. We are devoted to maximizing Shareholders value while
ensuring the risk is at an acceptable level. We provide various training
programs to keep our employees updated on relevant laws, regulations
and policies. Our new employees are required to attend compliance
training programs soon after on-boarding, and must pass tests that
examine their understanding of the compliance issues addressed by the
training programs. Our employees are also required to regularly attend
further onsite and online training sessions to keep them informed of the
recent updates in the relevant laws and regulations.

We have formulated an information disclosure management system to
clarify the relevant obligations of insiders, reporting procedures and
information disclosure responsibilities of relevant personnel, and arrange
self-inspection in a timely manner. Our Group monitors possible inside
information and organizes intermediary agencies to determine whether the
information is inside information or whether needs to be disclosed.

We have formulated the whistleblowing policy to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible improprieties in operation, financial reporting or
other matters. The whistleblowing policy is to (i) provide a trusted avenue
for employees and other stakeholders to report serious wrongdoing or
concerns, particularly in relation to fraud, controls or ethics, without fear
of reprisals when whistle-blowing in good faith; and (ii) to ensure that
robust arrangements are in place to facilitate independent investigation of
the reported concern and for the appropriate follow up actions to be taken.
Such arrangement will be reviewed by the Audit Committee which ensures
that proper arrangement is in place for fair and independent investigation
of the matters.
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We also issued prevention of bribery and corruption policy. The anti-
bribery and anti-corruption policy forms an integral part of the Group’s
corporate governance framework, setting out the specific behavioral
guidelines that the Group’s personnel and business partners must
follow to combat corruption. It demonstrates the Group’s commitment
to the practice of ethical business conduct and the compliance of the
anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its local and foreign
operations. The anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy is reviewed and
updated periodically to align with the applicable laws and regulations as
well as the industry best practice.

Our Company reviews risk management and internal control systems
once a year. Our Group’s internal control and risk management reports
for the year ended December 31, 2024 were submitted to the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors for review in March 2025. During
the review, it was noted that the Company had not timely identified and
disclosed the subscription of a wealth management product in accordance
with Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. For details, see "Management
Discussion and Analysis - Significant Investments and Discloseable
Transaction” in this annual report. The Board, as supported by the Audit
Committee as well as the management, reviewed the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended December 31,
2024, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The
matter described above represents an administrative oversight in this
isolated case, rather than being indicative of any systematic deficiency in
the Company’s internal control system. Nevertheless, the Company has
refined its internal control procedures to prevent similar non-compliances
in the future. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and
internal audit function, qualifications, experiences, training programmes
and relevant resources.

Also, the Board engaged KPMG to assess the effectiveness of our Group’s
risk management and internal control systems once a year, which covered
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management functions during the year ended
December 31, 2024. The assessment report was reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Board. No major issue was raised for improvement.
The Board is satisfied with the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems of our Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Audit fees of our Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 payable to
the external auditors were approximately RMB2.2 million and our Group
incurred approximately RMB1.0 million in 2024 for non-audit services
related to review of interim financial information and other advisory and
other non-assurance services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Yau Suk Yan
undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update her skills and knowledge during the Reporting Period.
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GENERAL MEETING

The AGM is scheduled to be held on May 16, 2025. A notice convening the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders of our Company
in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

We consider that effective communication with the Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the Shareholders
and potential investors on our business, performance and strategies.
We also recognize the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure
of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make
informed investment decisions.

We have adopted the Shareholders communication policy with the
objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential investors
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about our Company. To promote effective
communication, we have established several channels to communicate
with the Shareholders as follows:

. both English and Chinese versions of corporate communications
(as defined in the Listing Rules) such as annual reports, interim
reports and circulars are issued in printed form (if request) and
electronic form are available on the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk and our Company’s website at zkoph.com;

. periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective website of the Stock Exchange and our
Company, where up-to-date information on our Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public

access;
° corporate information is made available on our Company’s website;
. annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for

the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management. The chairman of the Board will
attend the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions; and

. the Hong Kong branch share registrar of our Company serves the
Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment and
related matters.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the Reporting Period
regularly and considered that it is effective and adequately implemented.
The Board will continue to review the Shareholders’ communication policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.
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We keep on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication
with the current Shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes
suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. Inquires to
the Board or our Company may be sent by post to our principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

To preserve environment and increase efficiency in communication
with the Shareholders, the Company made arrangement pursuant to
Rule 2.07A and 2.07B of the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
for the Shareholders to elect to receive corporate communication in
printed form or by electronic means through the Company’s website.
Shareholders have the right to change their choice of receipt of its
corporate communications (as defined in the Listing Rules) at any time
by giving reasonable notice to the Company. The change request form
may be downloaded from the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Company will send the actionable corporate communication
(as defined in the Listing Rules) to the Shareholders individually in
electronic form by email or in printed form (if requested or if the Company
does not possess the functional email address of the Shareholders).

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each substantially
separate issue at Shareholder meetings, including nomination and election
of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholder meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of our Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after
each Shareholder meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting

In accordance with Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of our Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by our Company.
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(2) Procedures for putting forward proposals
at general meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association for
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of
Article 64 are set out above.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of our Company.

(3) Enquires to the Board

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests
to our Company as follows:

Address: Unit 716, 7/F, Building 12W, Phase 3,

Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong

Email: info@zkoph.com

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company was incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and
continued in the Cayman Islands. We have never declared or paid any
dividends during the Reporting Period. We may need dividends and other
distributions on equity from our PRC subsidiaries to satisfy our liquidity
requirements. Current PRC regulations permit our PRC subsidiaries to pay
dividends to us only out of their accumulated profits, if any, determined
in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. In addition,
our PRC subsidiaries are required to set aside at least 10% of their
respective accumulated profits each year, if any, to fund certain reserve
funds until the total amount set aside reaches 50% of their respective
registered capital. Our PRC subsidiaries may also allocate a portion of its
after-tax profits based on PRC accounting standards to employee welfare
and bonus funds at their discretion. These reserves are not distributable
as cash dividends. Furthermore, if our PRC subsidiaries incur debt on their
own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict
their ability to pay dividends or make other payments to us. In addition,
the PRC tax authorities may require us to adjust our taxable income under
the contractual arrangements we currently have in place in a manner that
would materially and adversely affect our PRC subsidiaries’ ability to pay
dividends and other distributions to us.
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Our Company currently intends to retain all available funds and any
future earnings, if any, to fund the R&D of our drug candidates and we do
not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any
declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to our constitutional documents and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. The declaration and payment of any dividends in the future will be
determined by our Board of Directors, in its discretion, and will depend on
a number of factors, including our earnings, capital requirements, overall
financial conditions and contractual restrictions. Our Shareholders in a
general meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must
not exceed the amount recommended by our Board. As advised by our
Cayman Islands counsel, under the Cayman Islands law a company may
declare and pay a dividend out of either profits or share premium account,
provided that in no circumstances may a dividend be declared or paid if
this would result in the company being unable to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. Investors should not purchase our
Shares with the expectation of receiving cash dividends.

If we pay dividends in the future, in order for us to distribute dividends
to our Shareholders, we will rely to some extent on any dividends
distributed by our PRC subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from
our PRC subsidiaries to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In
addition, regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends
of a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax profits
as determined in accordance with its articles of association and the
accounting standards and regulations in China. For details, please refer to
the paragraphs headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Doing Business in
China - We may rely on dividends and other distributions on equity paid
by our PRC subsidiary to fund any cash and financing requirements we
may have, and any limitation on the ability of our PRC subsidiary to make
payments to us could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to
conduct our business” of the Prospectus.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There is no change in constitutional documents of our Company during the
Reporting Period.
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The Board is pleased to present this report of Directors together with the
Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board composition is set
out below:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi (Chairman of the Board and CEQO)
Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Ms. Tiantian Zhang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang

GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company was incorporated in the BVI on January 20, 2017 with
limited liability and continued in the Cayman Islands on April 29, 2021 as
an exempted company with limited liability. Our Company’s Shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on April 29, 2021.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are an ophthalmic pharmaceutical company dedicated to the research,
development and commercialization of therapies that address significant
unmet medical needs in China. Leveraging our deep domain expertise,
we have built a comprehensive ophthalmic drug pipeline that covers
most major ocular indications affecting the front and the back of the
eye, through either in-house development or in-licensing. We have
also established an advanced ophthalmic manufacturing facility and are
assembling an experienced marketing team in anticipation of near-term
product launch.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of our Group during the year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including a discussion and analysis on our Group’s future business
development and the financial and operational key performance indicators
employed by the Directors in measuring the performance of our Group'’s
business is set out in the sections headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 11 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties
faced by our Group, some of which are beyond our control:

° Our business and financial prospects depend substantially on the
success of our drug candidates, most of which are in preclinical
or clinical development. If we are unable to successfully develop
and commercialize our drug candidates, or experience significant
delays in doing any of the foregoing, our business may be materially
harmed.

. We may not be able to identify, discover or in-license new drug
candidates, and may allocate our limited resources to pursue a
particular drug candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on drug
candidates or indications that may later prove to be more profitable,
or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

o The R&D of our drug candidates involves a lengthy and expensive
process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies
and trials may not be predictive of future trial results.

° If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our
clinical trials and the commercialization of our drug candidates could
be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

° We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing,
or may ultimately be unable to complete, the development and
commercialization of our drug candidates.
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. We may be unable to obtain, or experience delays in obtaining,
required regulatory approvals for our drug candidates in our target
markets.

. Our drug candidates, if and when approved, will be subject to

ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review,
which may result in significant additional expenses and we
may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements.

. Our future approved drugs may fail to achieve the degree of market
acceptance by ophthalmologists, patients, third-party payers and
others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

° We have limited experience in launching and marketing drug
candidates, and we may not be able to successfully create or
increase market awareness of our products or sell our products,
which will materially affect our ability to generate product sales
revenue.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment and
giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.

Our Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be
prepared together with this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, we have complied in
all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of our Group. During the
year ended December 31, 2024, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by our Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

A review of the employees and remuneration policies of our Group for the
Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on page 34 of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Our Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and not previously covered by the
defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the PRC, our Group
in the PRC participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the "RBS Schemes”) organized by the local government authorities
whereby our Company and its subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
make contributions to the RBS Schemes based on certain percentages
of the eligible employee’s salaries. The local government authorities
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no forfeited
contributions under the RBS Schemes. Accordingly, no forfeited
contribution was utilized during the year, and there was no forfeited
contribution available as of December 31, 2024, to reduce the level of
contributions.

Details of the pension contributions of our Company are set out in Note 7
to the Financial Statements in this annual report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our Group’s suppliers primarily
consisted of (i) CROs, who provided contracting services for R&D; and (ii)
suppliers of raw materials, reference drugs, machinery and equipment used
in the R&D and manufacturing activities.

We maintained good and stable relationship with our existing suppliers.
When procurement of raw materials or services or procurement from new
suppliers is necessary, we would strictly follow our internal procurement
policy to select suppliers, raw materials or services. For selecting
CRO service providers, our procurement team normally requests the
potential supplier to provide, among others, its industrial background
and credentials, an initial service plan designed by the CRO service
provider and the quotations with breakdown of detailed components
of the CRO services and procedures involved. Furthermore, our
procurement department routinely monitors market price for procurement
of raw materials and relevant services necessary for our business, for
benchmarking and cost control purposes.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, purchases from our Group’s
five largest suppliers in the aggregate amounted to RMB15.5 million,
accounted for 45.5% of our Group'’s total purchases for the same year.
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Lee’s Pharm Hefei was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm,
our Substantial Shareholder, and our Group’s largest supplier during
the Reporting Period. Purchases from Lee’s Pharm Hefei for the year
ended December 31, 2024 amounted to RMB6.3 million, accounting for
approximately 18.5% of our Group’s total purchase amount for the same
year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates, or any Shareholder of our Company who, to the knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of our Company’s issued capital, has
any interest in any of our Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, our Group did not experience any significant
disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, our Group derived revenues from (i) the sale
of Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop (& Jl=®); (ii) the sale of Eyprotor; and (iii)
licensing income .

We had established a broad customer base, including patients, hospitals
and medical products trade company. We maintain an outstanding
sales and marketing team, which is responsible for the promotion of
our products to patients, hospitals and medical products trade company
through omnichannel marketing activities, such as academic activities and
other new digital initiatives, to interact with KOLs as well as other industry
professionals.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue generated from our
Group’s five largest customers in the aggregate amounted to RMB42.4
million, accounted for 61.1% of our Group’s total revenue for the same
year. For the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue generated from our
Group’s single largest customer amounted to RMB33.5 million, accounted
for 48.4% of our Group’s total revenue for the same year.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholder who, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5%
of our Company’s issued capital, has any interest in any of our Group’s
five largest customers.

During the Reporting Period, we did not experience any significant disputes
with our customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH
STAKEHOLDERS

Our Group recognizes that various stakeholders including suppliers,
customers, employees, Shareholders and other business associates are
key to our success. Our Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with
them.
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Relationship with Our Suppliers

Details of relationship with our suppliers are provided in “Major Suppliers”
in this report of Directors.

Relationship with Our Customers

Details of relationship with our customers are provided in “Major
Customers” in this report of Directors.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating our
employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We conduct new employee
training, as well as professional and compliance training programs for
employees. We enter into employment contracts with our employees to
cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. The
remuneration package of our employees usually includes salary, bonus
and share option incentives, which are generally determined by their
qualifications, industry experience, position and performance. We make
contributions to social insurance and housing provident funds as required
by the applicable laws and regulations.

Relationship with Our Licensing Partners and
Business Partners

We maintain long-term relationships and effective communication with
our licensing partners and business partners to better achieve corporate
goals, through leveraging their resources and established capabilities. We
believe that licensing arrangements and business partnerships are in the
interests of our Shareholders as a whole.

Relationship with Shareholders

We recognize the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them. We
believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way process
and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information
disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the Shareholders and listen
carefully to the views and feedback from the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
our Company are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 36 to 48 of this annual report.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
our Company. Each of our non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our
Company. For terms of each Director, see “— Corporate Governance
Report — The Board — (7) Appointment and Re-Election of Directors” of
this annual report.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by the Shareholders at the first general meeting of our
Company after appointment and any new Director appointed as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the
Shareholders at the next following annual general meeting of our Company
after appointment.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract with our Company or any member of our Group which
is not determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
December 31, 2024 was our Company or any of our subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, our Company or any
other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of our Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised
any such right.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code, our
Company has established the Remuneration Committee to formulate
remuneration policies. The remuneration is determined and recommended
based on each Director’s and senior management personnel’s qualification,
position and seniority. As for the independent non-executive Directors,
their remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation from
the Remuneration Committee. The Directors and the senior management
personnel are eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors, CEO and the five highest
paid individuals for the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 9 and 10
to the Financial Statements. During the Reporting Period, none of the
Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there was no
emoluments paid by our Group to any of the Directors as an inducement
to join, or upon joining our Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in “Connected Transactions” in the report of Directors
of this annual report, none of the Directors nor any entity connected with
the Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, whether for the
provision of services or otherwise, to our Group to which our Company,
its holding company, or any of our subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended December 31,
2024.

INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Since the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we did not
have a Controlling Shareholder.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Each of Dr. Li Xiaoyi and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun currently serves as a
director in Lee’s Pharm. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the remaining
business of the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group includes an ophthalmic
drug, namely Eyprotor, which is indicated for healing of tissue without
angiogenesis effect, while our product candidates include adapalene/
clindamycin hydrochloride compound gel ("ACCG"”), a dermatological
drug candidate for the treatment of moderate acne vulgaris. Each of Lee’s
Pharm and our Company considers that the existence of Eyprotor and
ACCG will not affect the business delineation and give rise to any material
competition between our Group and the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group for
the reasons set out in the section headed “Relationship with Lee’s Pharm -
Delineation of Business between the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group and our
Group - Delineation of Businesses” of the Prospectus.
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Dr. Li Xiaoyi resigned from all his executive positions in Lee’s Pharm
prior to Listing and currently only serves as a non-executive director in
Lee’s Pharm. Although Ms. Leelalertsuphakun currently still serves as an
executive director and managing director in Lee’s Pharm, she only takes a
non-executive role in our Company and will not hold any executive senior
management position within our Group. Our Directors are of the view that
our Group will be managed and will operate independently of Lee’s Pharm
in the interests of our Shareholders as a whole. For further details about
the independence of our Company from the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group,
please see the section headed “Relationship with Lee’s Pharm” of the
Prospectus.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and save for their respective interests
in our Group, none of the Directors was interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of our Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

From time to time our non-executive Directors may serve on the boards
of both private and public companies within the broader healthcare
and biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these non-executive
Directors are neither our Controlling Shareholders nor members of our
executive management team, we do not believe that their interests in
such companies as directors would render us incapable of carrying on our
business independently from the other companies in which they may hold
directorships from time to time.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of our Company was entered or
existed during the year ended December 31, 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 29 to the Financial
Statements, the following transactions constitute connected transactions
for our Company under Rule 14A.23 of the Listing Rules and are required
to be disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of
the Listing Rules. Our Company confirmed that the other related party
transactions do not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or
“continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please see below the
information required to be disclosed in compliance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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One-off Connected Transactions

(1) Lease Agreement

Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Lee’s Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules,
Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou is regarded as our connected person.
Pursuant to the lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) entered
into between Zhaoke Guangzhou (as lessee) and Lee’s Pharm
Guangzhou (as lessor) on March 1, 2022, Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou
agreed to lease to our Group the premises consists of seven plots
with a total gross area of approximately 11,258 sq.m., which located
at Zhujiang Industrial Park, Nansha District, Guangzhou, Guangdong
Province, PRC, for our uses as office, production plant and
warehouse. The terms of the Lease Agreement expired on January 1,
2025, with a piece of plot lease from August 1, 2022.

The total rental fee under the Lease Agreement amount to
approximately RMB599,323 per month (inclusive of maintenance
fee) to be paid monthly. The transaction amount incurred under the
Lease Agreement during the Reporting Period was approximately
RMB7.2 million.

On April 1, 2025 Zhaoke Guangzhou had entered into a renewed
lease agreement in relation to the leased premises with Lee’s Pharm
Guangzhou (the "Renewed Lease Agreement”). The term of the
renewed lease agreement will expire on February 29, 2028. The
total rental fee under the Renewed Lease Agreement amount to
approximately RMB666,011.72 per month (inclusive of maintenance
fee) to be paid monthly.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the common
industry practice and long-term lease relationship between Zhaoke
Guangzhou and Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou, we believe it is cost
efficient and beneficial to our operations to continue to lease the
premises from Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou. For further details, see our
announcements published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and our Company dated March 1, 2022 and April 1, 2025.
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(2) Assets Transfer Agreement

Lee’s Pharm Hefei is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules, Lee’s
Pharm Hefei is regarded as our connected person. Pursuant to the
assets transfer agreement (the “Assets Transfer Agreement”)
entered into between Zhaoke Guangzhou (as transferee) and
Lee’s Pharm Hefei (as transferor) on November 13, 2023, Zhaoke
Guangzhou agreed to acquire, and Lee’s Pharm Hefei agreed to
transfer, among others, (i) the MAH and global distribution rights
therefor, (ii) all intellectual property rights relating thereto, including
all technologies and process relating to the R&D, registration and
commercialization, (iii) contractual interests associated therewith,
(iv) trademarks employed thereby, and (v) the remaining inventory
thereof, as held by Lee’s Pharm Hefei (the “Target Assets”),
relating to Eyprotor.

The total consideration under the Assets Transfer Agreement is
RMB60 million (subject to the Price Adjustment Mechanism as
defined in the Assets Transfer Agreement), which shall be payable
by Zhaoke HK to Lee’s Pharm Hefei by installment according to
milestones set out therein. The Assets Transfer was completed by
end of 2024.

The transaction amount incurred under the Assets Transfer
Agreement during the Reporting Period was RMB18.9 million.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the common industry
practice and long-term relationship between Zhaoke Guangzhou
and Lee’s Pharm Hefei, we believe the Assets Transfer Agreement is
entered into in the ordinary course of business of our Company and
on normal commercial terms, which are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of our Company and our Shareholders as a whole. For
further details, see our announcements published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and our Company dated November 13, 2023.
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(1) Procurement of CMO Services (1) BECMORE

Pursuant to the master CMO service agreement entered into
between Zhaoke Guangzhou (as purchaser) and Lee’s Pharm Hefei
(as supplier) on November 13, 2023 (the “Master CMO Service
Agreement”), our Group agreed to engage Lee’s Pharm Hefei as
a CMO service provider to manufacture and supply Eyprotor for
the commercial sale in compliance with GMP and relevant laws and
regulations, at a pre-determined supply price per unit, subject to
the relevant individual agreement or purchase order in the form and
substance agreed by both parties from time to time. The Master
CMO Service Agreement is set to take effect from the date when
the Target Assets have been transferred from Lee’s Pharm Hefei
to Zhaoke Guangzhou and the relevant filing and registration with
the regulatory authority in relation to such transfer have been
completed, and will remain in force until December 31, 2025. Upon
the expiration of such terms, in compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations (including the Listing Rules), it will automatically
renew for an additional term of three years, unless either party
raises an objection in writing to terminate it within 30 days prior to
the expiration date.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the R&D capabilities
and dedication proposed by Lee’s Pharm Hefei and its relevant
industry knowledge and experience, we believe engaging Lee’s
Pharm Hefei as our CMO service provider to provide the service
contemplated under the Master CMO Service Agreement is
commercially beneficial to the business of our Group. For further
details, see our announcements published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and our Company dated November 13, 2023.

Historical transaction amounts

The transaction amount incurred under the Master CMO Service
Agreement during the Reporting Period was RMB10.0 million.

Caps on future transaction amounts

The proposed annual caps for each of the two months ended
December 31, 2023 and the two years ending December 31, 2024
and 2025 is RMB2.0 million, RMB16.0 million and RMB21.0 million,
respectively.
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(2) Procurement of CRO Services for NVK002

Pursuant to the CRO service agreements (the "NVKO002 Service
Agreements”) entered into between Zhaoke Guangzhou and Lee’s
Pharm Hefei on April 8, 2022, our Group agreed to engage Lee’s
Pharm Hefei as a CRO service provider to provide relevant CRO
services for developing NVKO002 for myopia. Each of the NVK002
Service Agreements has a term commencing from April 8, 2022 to
December 31, 2024.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the R&D capabilities
and dedication proposed by Lee’s Pharm Hefei, its relevant industry
knowledge and experience and its familiarness with our Company’s
needs and requirements, we believe engaging Lee’s Pharm Hefei as
our CRO service provider to provide the services contemplated under
the NVK002 Service Agreements is commercially beneficial to the
business of our Group. For further details, see our announcements
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and our Company
dated April 8, 2022.

Historical transaction amounts

The transaction amount incurred under the NVKO002 Service
Agreements during the Reporting Period was RMB6.3 million.

Caps on future transaction amounts

The proposed annual caps for each of the year ended December 31,
2023 and the year ending December 31, 2024 is RMB18.1 million
and RMB18.1 million, respectively.
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(3) Product Licensing

Lee’s Pharm International is our Substantial Shareholder. Under the
Listing Rules, Lee’s Pharm International is regarded as our connected
person. Our Company and Zhaoke Guangzhou, as licensors, entered
into the license agreement with Lee’s Pharm International and
Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou (together, the “Licensees”) on October 2,
2020 (the “License Agreement”), pursuant to which we agreed
to grant exclusive license rights to the Licensees to promote and
commercialize the adapalene/clindamycin hydrochloride compound
gel (the “Licensed Product”) in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan. In consideration, the Licensees agreed to pay an upfront
payment of US$10,000,000 within 30 days after the signing of the
agreement and a milestone payment of US$5,000,000 within 14
days after obtaining the relevant regulatory approval for the new
drug registration of the Licensed Product in PRC, and to share with
us the profit derived from the sale of Licensed Product (the “Profit
Sharing”). In addition, pursuant to the License Agreement, we were
engaged by the Licensees to exclusively manufacture the Licensed
Product, and shall supply the Licensed Products to the Licensees
in the PRC (the “Licensed Product Supply”) at a determined
supply price per unit. The License Agreement has an initial term
commencing on the date of the agreement and continue to be in
force and effect until the date of the tenth anniversary of the initial
sale of the Licensed Product, and can be automatically extended
for additional consecutive renewal terms of five years each, unless
terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the License
Agreement. The License Agreement was entered into by our Group
and the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group out of independent commercial
considerations since we expect to focus our resources on the R&D
of ophthalmic pharmaceutical products, while the Retained Lee’s
Pharm Group has a developed business in dermatology field. It is
natural and commercially beneficial for both groups to enter into the
License Agreement so that both groups will be able to stick to their
respective business plans and development paths. For further details
on the procurement of CRO services, please refer to “Connected
Transactions - Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions -
Product Licensing” of the Prospectus.

Historical transaction amount

We have received RMB33.5 million while the payment milestone
under the License Agreement has been achieved as of the end of the
Reporting Period.

The net sales revenue incurred under the License Agreement during
the Reporting Period was RMB2.2 million.

Report of Directors
EEEWE

(3) Em:d

FRAZHERERRMOEZRR - RIFLTH
Al FERREBERSRERRFANEEAL -
AR RKBEM (EAFFRTT) BEFER AR
% e 28 O R 2R () (e[ R AF AT A7 1) 122020
FLOA2HFI LA A a5 (TRFAI AR ) - #RUt K
PIRB R AT RO BRI - ARFE -
BE RPN B EHERERERCERMER R
MEEELDRR((HFTER]) - (FRAE
WAFAIJ7 A B2 2 10 3 12 30 A A ST TR 31
10,000,000 7T 2 745 #F A 22 G2 7% A B 6 3 22
BRBRGHEBEEI AR 148 A 22N
75,000,000 7T + I B2 API 70 Ak $4 65 1R AT A2
maEEHAE(TRBED R ) o beoh - REBFFAI
& RMERAF DR B REERTER -
A7 AR B A5 E O 4 B8 (B A AR A U (AR AR AT
AEM((WFTERMIE]) - FFrIIHZ G FH
B s H R - B EE R ER R
RIHERFIRI0OFEZH - BREHTEH 8K
BIMEHISE - BRIFIRIRFT Ak O (R SRIR AT 48
b o AREMERBEPERRRMEDERD
- MRBFRAEBEBRNKERSELE
FRFRZETS - BMURT A ik Tyt AR SR B AR B UK
HEREBEERNBY BEZBEARFI © 71
BAEEMAIBIEME AR HREEMNS - ®F
MR TESAENEBABRERRE - BH
FEECROMIGHE— 7S - FLHBRERS
[BER S — PR BRER S —EmTA | -

FERX G 2R

RIREHR - BPAICUDMARE3I35HET @
FER R T RO R B AE R AR ERK -

R|MEHA - RIBFF A BEELENFHERAR
ARM2.2E8TT »

Annual Report 2024 F3§

87



88

Report of Directors
EERWE

Caps on future transaction amounts

We have set the annual caps for the Licensed Product Supply and
the Profit Sharing as formulas (the “Formulas”) below:

(i)  Licensed Product Supply

The payment to be received by us from the Retained Lee’s
Pharm Group for supplying the Licensed Products will be
determined in accordance with the following formula:

Amount receivable by us under Licensed Product Supply =
Unit supply price! amount of Licensed Product supplied

(ii)  Profit Sharing

The payment receivable by us from the Retained Lee’s Pharm
Group for Profit Sharing pursuant to the License Agreement
will be determined in accordance with the following formula:

Amount of profit receivable by us under Profit Sharing? = (net
sales revenue® X 55%) - amount receivable by our Group
under Licensed Product Supply (net of tax)

Notes:
1 The unit supply price is determined by taking into consideration the cost
expected to be incurred by us for the manufacturing of Licensed Products and

a gross profit margin of approximately 60% for such manufacturing.

2 Net sales revenue shall be net of value-added taxes and sales commissions
paid to distributors.

3 If the formula produces negative results, we are not obligated to pay any
amount to the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that: (i) the continuing
connected transactions as set out above have been and will be entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, on normal
commercial terms or terms better to us, that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of us and our Shareholders as a whole; and (ii) the
proposed annual caps and the alternative cap (as applicable) for the non-
exempt continuing connected transactions described in this section are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of our Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.

Our Company’s auditors were engaged to report on our Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter of Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors have issued
an unqualified letter containing their responsibilities and conclusions
in respect of the abovementioned continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Master CMO Service Agreement, NVK002 Service
Agreements and License Agreement as disclosed by our Group in this
report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of our Company in any of the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of our Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which have been
notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including any interest or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to our Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of our Company

EERBSITRAERARFH
HAEB EB R - BRI UK
EREENERNAR

RERERAITEY  ARREEHRBTHRAEBRAE
NAREREEE (EE REF R ERIIZEXVED) E
G - AR RERETHEE L RIEE S S
WEPISEXV RS 7 280 5B A& AN 1 ) Ko B 52 i ey i i e
#E(BREESRIEES RAEGPIBREESORE (FR
REENEAEESAR)  KECHRRIBEFLAE
GOIFEIS2EAARAFEN B MR MRE » &
RBRETRID MG AR R R TS SOARIAT

RAE R ARG HEBR G HIFE

Approximate

Number percentage in

Name of Director Nature of interest of Shares shareholding™
EERA EmnE RHHE HREBNB DD
Dr. Li Xiaoyi® 3 Beneficial owner 15,502,800" 2.84%
Z/P\RE T O@E) BEREEA

Interest in controlled corporation 2,187,600V 0.40%

R EE R

Interest of spouse 166,666\ 0.03%

BoiBiEs
Mr. Dai Xiangrong® Beneficial owner 1,961,200" 0.36%
BMLLE® EREBEA
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee® Beneficial owner 373,557 0.07%
S qa ) EREBA
Ms. Tiantian Zhang® Beneficial owner 350,000® 0.06%
SREHEH 22 L © E=BAA
Mr. Wong Hin Wing® Beneficial owner 350,000 0.06%
ERRR S E® BEREBEA
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam® Beneficial owner 350,000® 0.06%
B R © EREBA
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang® Beneficial owner 350,000® 0.06%
2l@ERAE® FmA A

Remark: The letter "L” denotes long position in such securities.
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Notes:

1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

Save

Referring to the (i) 14,022,800 Shares underlying the options granted to Dr. Li
Xiaoyi under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme; (ii) 680,000 Shares underlying
the options granted to Dr. Li Xiaoyi under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
on December 15, 2022; and (iii) 800,000 Shares underlying the options
granted to Dr. Li Xiaoyi under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on July 3,
2024.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds 65% of the equity interest of Lee’s Healthcare Industry
Investments Limited, which in turn is the general partner of Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Fund L.P. For the purpose of the SFO, Dr. Li is deemed to have an
interest in the 2,187,600 Shares held by Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P..

Referring to the 166,666 Shares held by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s spouse.

Referring to the (i) 1,261,200 Shares underlying the options granted to Mr.
Dai Xiangrong under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme; (ii) 200,000 Shares
underlying the options granted to Mr. Dai Xiangrong under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme on December 15, 2022; and (iii) 500,000 Shares underlying
the options granted to Mr. Dai Xiangrong under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme on July 3, 2024.

Referring to the (i) 23,557 Shares subscribed trough preferential offering (as
defined in the Prospectus); (ii) 200,000 Shares underlying the options granted
to Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on
December 15, 2022; and (iii) 150,000 Shares underlying the options granted
to Ms. Leelalertsuphakun under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on July 3,
2024.

Referring to the respective (i) 200,000 Shares underlying the options granted
to Ms. Zhang Tiantian, Mr. Wong Hin Wing, Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Liew Fui
Kiang under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on December 15, 2022; and
(ii) 150,000 Shares underlying the options granted to Ms. Zhang Tiantian, Mr.
Wong Hin Wing, Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme on July 3, 2024.

Calculated based on the number of the total issued share capital of our
Company as of the Latest Practicable Date, being 546,139,172.

as disclosed above, as of the Latest Practicable Date, to the best

knowledge of the Directors or chief executive of our Company, none of
the Directors or chief executive of our Company had interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of our Company
or any of its associated corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

B LTI R & S
=3
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B BEREERARESAREETSMF /N RE LR
e B AR AERA# 14,022,800/ A% 17 ¢ (ii) B2 20224F
12A15AREFERARBEERBLRE T NAE L
A AR R H0680,000 ) « R (i) #2/% 2024
F7ASARBEERARBEERBRES AT NREL
X H S A AE R #9800, 000 A% A (5

= /N # # + 4 A Lee's Healthcare Industry
Investments Limited 65% #) % & i Lee's
Healthcare Industry Investments Limited 4 Lee’s
Healthcare Industry Fund L.P.H)E @A A iR
FHEREE KD - T LR A Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Fund L.P.35E#92,187,6004% % {5 - # A &
%o

BRI LOBEERFRI166,666% A% (0

EOERBEERAARBEENBRETIRBRAKRELER
HH BB AR REAE A A0 1,261,200 B (7 ¢ (ii) BLH 20224
12A15AREERARBEERBREEIMBRRLE
R A ARRIR0 200,000 8810 « R (i) E2/% 2024
F7AZARBERAHBEERBRES B RABARELE
B R E BRI R 500,0008% 17 ©

B()BBEERE(ERRBRER)REN23,557kK
5 (i) ER2022612 A 15 BIRIEE R AR SR ER
REET &I e 2 £ X A9 BB AR FE AE B #9200, 000 A% fi%
7+ (i) E7202447 A3ARBE ERAFEERER
RERTEI[M 2 e 2 9% O FE AR MEAERE A 150,000 F i

%o

FE()ER2022F12 15 BRBEE R ARE S RELE
BIMRME AL - ERRLE  ESWMHRRIES
FAER AR AE BRI £9200,000/ K (0 ¢ (i)
1202447 A3RREE R AR SR BRET BImoRET
L ERRELE  ESWMHREIEFEERDN
SRR RIR150,0000% A% 17 -

EBRERERITHBARABE HITRALEY
546,139,172 % o

CRERERATES  AARAE

BER{THAEBMA  BMERAARESFSHZHITHA

SRARDRIHEEMEEEECER REFRAEEA
SEXVED) Bty - ARG RERE T ERCRHRR
EESRPEGIIEIS2EATFEN T LM R RA
B RRBRETRISAEARA R LR A S SOK
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EEERWE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' FERRRROREBRD I ELE
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 58791
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

REREERAITHE  REEMA - U TALZ(RRRE
FXESTTHABBRINRA R RO A0 SRR (0 o Bk
BHREAREEREARIEES LIMBGRIIFEXVE2
K37 B EAR AR R MBS PR O s SOR R
HERENREEF MR ERDIFEI36HGARFRATE
B ERMeEEIORE

As of the Latest Practicable Date, so far as the Directors are aware,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
our Company) had or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of our Company which
would fall to be disclosed to our Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to

Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of our Company

RER ARG EIEBER G HIIFE

Total humber

Approximate

of Shares/ percentage in
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest underlying Shares shareholding®
RERE ERME B3 AEBARR 7 A2 R EBAN T DL
Lee’s Pharm® Interest in controlled corporation 140,379,600 25.70%
w110 R EE R
Lee’s Pharm International® Beneficial owner 138,192,000 25.30%
2R B B R E=BEAA
Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola® Beneficial owner 150,000® 0.03%
BT @ EREBA
Interest in controlled corporation 37,947,5250 6.95%
R EE R
Pandanus Associates Inc.(® Interest in controlled corporation 32,974,000 6.04%
Pandanus Associates Inc.® SR EEER
Pandanus Partners L.P.®® Interest in controlled corporation 32,974,000 6.04%
Pandanus Partners L.P.® Sy EE R
FIL Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 32,974,000 6.04%
FIL Limited® R EE R
FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL Beneficial owner 32,974,000 6.04%
SITUATIONS PLC®
FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL E=BEA
SITUATIONS PLC®
Hillhouse Capital Management, Investment manager 30,627,200 5.61%
Ltd.®
Hillhouse Capital Management, BEKE
Ltd.®
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P.® Interest in controlled corporation 30,627,200 5.61%
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P.®  S¥EEEZ
COFL Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner 30,627,200® 5.61%

COFL Holdings Limited®

EmEB A
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Remark: The Letter “"L” denotes long position in such securities.
Notes:
(1) Lee’s Pharm International is wholly owned by Lee’s Pharm. Therefore, Lee’s

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Pharm is deemed to be interested in the 138,192,000 Shares held by Lee’s
Pharm International under the SFO. Approximately 43.16% of the partnership
interest in Lee’s Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P. is held by Lee’s Pharm. Therefore,
Lee’s Pharm is deemed to be interested in the 2,187,600 Shares held by Lee’s
Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P. under the SFO.

Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola directly holds 150,000 Shares. Each of Smart Rocket
Limited, Bio Success Investment Limited and VMS Proprietary Investment
(Global) Limited are indirect subsidiaries of VMS Holdings Limited, the ultimated
beneficial owner of which is by Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola. VMS Investment Group
Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola. Therefore, Ms. Mak Siu
Hang Viola is deemed to be interested in the 150,000 Shares held by herself,
the 26,559,400 Shares held by Smart Rocket Limited, the 4,375,200 Shares
held by Bio Success Investment Limited, the 694,425 Shares held by VMS
Proprietary Investment (Global) Limited, and 6,318,500 Shares held by VMS
Investment Group Limited under the SFO.

To the best knowledge of our Company, each of FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL
SITUATIONS PLC, FIL Limited and Pandanus Partners L.P. is ultimately
controlled by Pandanus Associates Inc. through multiple intermediary
shareholding entities.

COFL Holdings Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hillhouse Venture
Fund V, L.P. Hillhouse Capital Management, Ltd. acts as the sole management
company of Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. Therefore, each Hillhouse Capital
Management, Ltd. and Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. is deemed to be
interested in the 30,627,200 Shares held by COFL Holdings Limited under the
SFO.

Calculated based on the number of the total issued share capital of our
Company as of the Latest Practicable Date, being 546,139,172.

Save as disclosed above, our Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of our
Company, other than the Directors and chief executive of our Company, as
of the Latest Practicable Date, which would fall to be disclosed to us under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by us under Section 336 of the

SFO.

BE -

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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FRAEBBEREFRAEBRZERA - At - BREE
HREEGD - FRARERIBER R KRB R B
A #138,192,000 % i 17 F # A # 4 ° Lee’s Pharm
Healthcare Fund L.P.%7143.16% ¥ & % # 2 f1 = X
REREH - ALt - BREZFH KBS G - FRALER
#15 A 7 Lee’s Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P.¥ A
2,187,6000% A% 15 R A fEas ©

22 + E 45 A 150,000% 0% 1D - Smart Rocket
Limited - Bio Success Investment Limited 2 VMS
Proprietary Investment (Global) LimitedJ%&VMS
Holdings Limited#)fE# i &2 7] © MVMS Holdings
Limted W SR EmEBEARE LB L L - VMS
Investment Group Limited i Dzt 2EHA -
At - REFHFRHAEKG - BOWMLZEHBARERX
A¥BH150,000/% %1 + Smart Rocket Limited#
A 126,559,400 % % 19 + Bio Success Investment
Limited 56 #4,375,2000% 3% 15 + VMS Proprietary
Investment (Global) Limited #75#694,4258/% 1%
KVMS Investment Group Limited#4#76,318,500
BB R R o

B A 2 A A FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL
SITUATIONS PLC FIL Limited & Pandanus
Partners L.P.#J% Pandanus Associates Inc.i# %
1P R AR B B AR AR 1R ) o

COFL Holdings Limited % Hillhouse Venture Fund
V, LP.OEREMNEBLAR - @ RERNEBERAFER
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P.# M — & E A 71T
F oAt BEBLHZRPERY  SHELEEERA
@) & Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. & 8 # R A%
COFL Holdings Limited+% % #930,627,200 % f% {5
HERER

BEREZEFRAUTAHALCABHTREAAK
546,139,172k &15H ©
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EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN

During the Reporting Period, we have adopted two share option schemes
which was required to be disclosed as below under the requirements of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted pursuant to
the written resolutions of all Shareholders dated November 17, 2020.

Purpose

The purpose of Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to reward, retain and
motivate the eligible persons for their contribution to our Group.

Participants

The eligible persons under Per-IPO Share Option include our Group’s
employees, Directors, consultants and any other person the Board may in
its absolute discretion think fit.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares available for issue upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is
45,732,000 Shares, representing approximately 8.37% of the total issued
share capital of our Company (excluding treasury Shares) as of the date of
this annual report, being 546,139,172 Shares.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme contains no provisions on the maximum
entitlement of each participant.

Option period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the rules under Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme at any time during the option period as specified by
the Board in relation to each such option in its terms of grant. The Board
may provide restrictions on how and when an option during the period for
which an option must be held or a performance target, if any, which must
be achieved before an option can be exercised.

Vesting period

All of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are
exercisable upon vesting until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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Acceptance of offers of options

Subject to the rules under Pre-IPO Option Scheme and such other
conditions as the Board may in its absolute and sole discretion sees fit,
offers of options shall be made by us to the eligible person within the
scheme period and shall be open for acceptance in writing and such notice
of acceptance must be duly received by the secretary of our Company on
or before 5:00 p.m. on the expiry date for acceptance of the offer specified
in the offer provided that an offer shall not be open for acceptance after
the expiry of 14 days from the date upon which the offer is made. Upon
acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to our Company as
consideration for the grant, and on the date of grant option certificate(s)
under the common seal of our Company shall be issued. Offers of options
not accepted within the option period shall lapse.

Basis of determining the consideration

The exercise price is determined by the Board on a fair and reasonable
basis with reference to the performance of our Company and the past or
potential contribution of the eligible persons to the business and operation
of our Company, and notified to each grantee but in any event will be no
less than the nominal value of the shares (if any) or (where applicable)
such price as from time to time adjusted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

Remaining life

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from November 17, 2020 to November 17,
2030. The remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is over five
years. No additional options shall be granted thereunder after the Listing
Date, but in all other respects the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the exercise of any options
granted.

Before Listing, our Company had conditionally granted all 45,732,000
options to 109 grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. No
further option has been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
subsequent to the Listing Date. The exercise price of all the options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is between US$0.09
to US$1.14 per Share. The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is set out in “Appendix IV - Statutory and General Information
- D. Share Option Schemes - 1. Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” of the
Prospectus.
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The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options  TRWEBENEHZE2024F12A318 HEE - REELIQ
granted to all grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the — BA% & Bl B8 IRt s+ 8138 F A B AR A B 18 R 17160 B3 i

year ended December 31, 2024. B E
Number Number Number Number Number of

of Shares of options of options of options options Number

underlying granted exercised cancelled lapsed of Shares
Vesting options between between between between  underlying  Weighted
period outstanding January 1, January 1, January 1, January1,  outstanding average
Name and and as of 2024 to 2024 to 2024 to 2024to  options as of closing
category Exercise performance  January1, December31, December31, December31l, December31, December31, price per
of grantee Date of grant Option period price target 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 Share®

120245 120245 120245
120245 20245 1A182 18182 1A18E 2024
1318 1A18% 2045 20045 2024& 12531A
HATERRE 20045 124318 127318 12318 RfTE ShRG

5E8 PROEE 12831848 BEaREN BEgEn BERMG  BREVRN 1R
ARALEREN  HARH BRESR k& R&BER REEE RimEREHA EhRan BhisE EhREE  RERREE YHE?
US$ per share
Directors
j
Li Xiaoyi November 17, 2020 10 years commencing 0.09 Note 1 3,152,800 - - - - 3,152,800
53 0511 717R on the adoption date Bt
December 9, 2020 114 Note 1 10,870,000 - 10,870,000
20%12R98 ERRBEE0E it
Dai Xiangrong November 17, 2020 10 years commencing 0.09 Note 1 1,261,200 - - - - 1,261,200
on the adoption date
Eio 3 W0E1E7R ERRREEI10E iRl
Other 107 Between November 17, 10 years commencing Between 0.09t0  Note 1 17,463,256 - - (4,752,400) - 12,710,856
grantees 2020toMarch 2, 2021 on the adoption date L14
in aggregate
FHMOTEERA 051171782 BRABERI0E 0.0921.14 ksl
(&) M1E3FA
32,747,256 - - (4,752,400) - 27,99,856
Notes: s

(1)  20% of the options shall vest upon the completion of the Global Offering, 20% (1) 20%ERIEFENEREETHEEE  URZ20%MHER

of the options shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant, 20% of HESHAREBESNEME - F2F  F=(EREME
the options shall vest on the second anniversary of the date of grant, 20% of BEFARE - gAAREESMERENSTYEREE
the options shall vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant, and the BIRIBEIE -

remaining 20% of the options shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the date
of grant. No individual performance target was set under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

(2)  Representing the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately (2)  IEEEEARERIETTE B BIRTA ARG U (E -
before the dates on which the options were exercised.
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Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved on April 1,
2021.

Purpose

The purpose of the Post-IPO Option Scheme is to provide incentive or
reward to “Eligible Persons” (as defined below) for their contribution
to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of our Group and to
incentivize them to remain within our Group, as well as for other purposes
as the Board may approve from time to time.

Participants

Subject to the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at its discretion, specify any conditions which must be satisfied
before the option(s) under the Post-IPO Option Scheme may be exercised.

Eligible persons (“Eligible Persons”) include:

. any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of our Company
or any of its subsidiaries who has contributed to our innovative
projects, including but not limited to innovation committee member,
project leader, engineer and technician;

. any person who, in the sole opinion of the Board, provides services
to any member of our Group on a continuing or recurring basis in
its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests
of the long term growth of our Group, excluding placing agents,
financial advisors and professional service providers who are
required to perform their services with impartiality and objectivity;
and

. any Director.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme,
all schemes existing at such time and any new share option scheme of
our Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as of the Listing Date, being 53,515,550 Shares,
representing approximately 9.80% of the total issued share capital of our
Company (excluding treasury Shares) as at the date of this annual report,
being 546,139,172 Shares.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person if, at the relevant time of
grant, the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options and options under any other share option schemes of our
Company to the relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant would exceed 1% of the total number of
Shares in issue at such time, within any 12-month period unless certain
conditions are satisfied.

Option period

The period during which the option may be exercised is determined by the
Board at its discretion but shall expire in any event not later than the last
day of the 10-year period after the date of grant of the option.

Vesting period

The Board may specify any conditions which must be satisfied before the
option may be exercised, including without limitation, the purchase price,
performance targets (if any) and minimum periods for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised and any other terms in relation to
the exercise of the option, including without limitation such percentages
of the options that can be exercised during a certain period of time, as the
Board may determine from time to time.

Acceptance of offers of options

The Board shall specify a date by which the grantee must accept the offer
of option or be deemed to have declined it, being a date no later than 14
days after (i) the date on which the option is offered (the “Offer Date”),
or (ii) the date on which the conditions for the offer are satisfied, if any,
whichever is earlier.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The price at which each Share subject to an option may be subscribed
for shall be a price solely determined by the Board and shall be at least
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the Offer Date, which must be a
Business Day; (ii) the average of the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

Remaining life
The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a

period of 10 years commencing on April 1, 2021. The remaining life of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately six years.
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As of January 1, 2024, being the beginning of the Reporting Period, the
total number of options available for grant under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme was 39,905,978. While as of December 31, 2024, being
the end of the Reporting Period, the total number of options available
for grant under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was 39,933,447.
The principal terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out
in “Appendix IV - Statutory and General Information - D. Share Option
Schemes - 2. Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” of the Prospectus.

The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options
granted to all grantees under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during
Reporting Period.
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Number of Shares under the outstanding options

HATRBRESRURASA Asa
Vesting Granted percent of Weighted
Exercise Period during Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Shares in average
price and As of the  duringthe  duringthe  during the Asof issue as of Closing closing
Category and Option per performance  January1,  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting December31, December31l,  price per price per
name of grantee Date of grant period share target 2024 Period Period Period Period 2024 2024 Share® Share")
#2024%
12331A4
5R8 #2024% #2024% BRIRA SRES  ShRRfHNE
ERABHRSESR RERH EREZE  SREE RRREE 181R RBESARY RESEAME REEEREE  REEBARH 128318 BAl YHEY  FERHE"
(HKS) (HKS)
(87 o
Directors
B2
Dr. Li Xiaoyi December 15,2022 Note 1 326 Note 2/Note 6 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
PPt WNERRISE KEL M2 /K6
December 15,2022 Note L 3.26 Note3 480,000 - - - - 480,000 0.09% - -
2022512A158 g3l R}
July 3, 2024 Note 1 1.4 Note 5/Note 6 - 800,000 - - - 800,000 0.15% 14 -
20047738 fitt s /M6
Mr. Dai Xiangrong December 15,2022 Note 1 326 Note 2/Note 6 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
BREE ANERAE L Tt/ Me
July 3, 2024 Note 1 1.4 Note 5/Note 6 - 500,000 - - - 500,000 0.09% 14 -
02457538 sl Mits/Hist6
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun ~ December 15,2022 Note 1 326 Note 2/Note 6 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
Wanee
e ANERAAE ML Hit2/Me
July 3, 2024 Note 1 14 Note 5/Note 6 - 150,000 - - - 150,000 0.03% 14 -
02457538 sl Mits/Hist6
Ms, Tiantian Zhang December 15,2022 Note 1 326 Note 2/Note 6 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
Bt ANERRISE KEL M2 /K6
July 3, 2024 Note 1 1.4 Note 5/Note 6 - 150,000 - - - 150,000 0.03% 14 -
2457R3R i TizEs/Mie
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Number of Shares under the outstanding options
HATRRRESRURAHA Asa
Vesting Granted percent of Weighted
Exercise Period during Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Shares in average
price and As of the  duringthe  duringthe  during the Asof issue as of Closing closing
Category and Option per performance  January1,  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting December31, December31,  price per price per
name of grantee Date of grant period share target 2024 Period Period Period Period 2024 2024 Share® Share")
#2024%
12R3184
5R9 #2024% 20245 BRfkh SRS ShikbnE
ERABAIRASR REAH BRESR  SRAEE RENEE 1818 RBEBRRL RESEAME REEEREE  REEDARH 128318 BAl YHEe  THRHED
(HKS) (HKS)
Directors
£
Mr. Wong Hin Wing December 15,2022 Note 1 326 Note 2/Note 6 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
ERgEE ANENALE M Hit2/ M6
July 3, 2024 Note 1 14 Note 5/Note 6 - 150,000 - - - 150,000 0.03% 14 -
02457838 il s/ M6
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam December 15,2022 Note { 3.26  Note 2/Note 6 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
ESsiaR ANENAE ML Wit/ Mie
July 3, 2024 Note 1.4 Note 5/Note 6 - 150,000 - - - 150,000 0.03% 14 -
02457838 it ists/ M6
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang December 15,2022 Note 1 326 Note 2/Note 6 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
T WNERRIE KEL Mi2/His
July 3, 2024 Note 1 1.4 Note 5/Note 6 - 150,000 - - - 150,000 0.03% 14 -
02457838 iRal s/ Mite
Employees
8
110 employees in December 15,2022 Note 1 326 Note3/Noted/ 4,915,500 - (1,102,250) (81,750) 4,756,000 0.87% - -
aggregate Note 6
110252 (43) ANENAE  HE i3/ M4/
Tzt
16 employees in July 3, 2024 Note 1 14 Note 5/Note 6 - 2,520,000 - - - 2,520,000 0.46% 14 -
aggregate
167883 02457838 it BEIED
Total 6,795,500 4,570,000 - (1,102,250) (81.750) 10,181,500 1.86%
&5t
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Notes:
(1) 10 years commencing on their respective date of grant.

(2) 50% of the options shall vest on the date of grant; and 50% of the options
shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant.

(3) 10% of the options shall vest on each of the first, second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the date of grant, respectively; 20% of the options shall
vest upon achieving an R&D milestone for CsA ophthalmic gel milestones
and certain financial performance targets of our Group; 20% of the options
shall vest upon achieving an R&D milestone for NVK002 and certain financial
performance targets of our Group; and 10% of the options shall respectively
vest at the date when our market capitalization reaching certain targets,
respectively.

(4) The options granted shall vest upon the achievement of various vesting
conditions as specified in the offer letter to each grantee, including certain
anniversaries of the date of grant, R&D milestones for our Group’s key products
as well as certain financial performance and market capitalization targets of
our Group.

(5) The option granted shall vest in four equal installments, with the initial
installment vesting on the date of grant, followed by the remaining three
installments vesting on each subsequent anniversary of the previous vesting
date.

(6) No individual performance target was set under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

(7) Representing the closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on
which the options were granted.

(8) Representing the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised.

As of January 1, 2024, being the beginning of the Reporting Period, the
total number of options available for grant under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme was 45,695,550. While as of December 31, 2024, being
the end of the Reporting Period, the total number of options available for
grant under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was 41,125,550.

As of December 31, 2024, the Shares that may be issued in respect of all
the options granted under Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme, represented approximately 7.25% the weighted
average number of Shares of the Company (excluding any treasury
Shares) for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme as set out in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in our Company issuing shares or that require
our Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in our
Company issuing shares were entered into by our Group, or existed from
the Listing Date till and up to December 31, 2024.

LAND AND PROPERTIES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we did not own any properties.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

We were not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during the
year ended December 31, 2024. The Directors are also not aware of any
material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against our
Group during the year ended December 31, 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
OUR COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither our Company nor any of our subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of our Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury
Shares) during the Reporting Period. As of the end of the Reporting Period,
our Company did not hold any treasury Shares.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of our Company for the year
ended December 31, 2024 and details of the Shares issued during the
year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 26 to the Financial
Statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

We did not issue any debenture during the year ended December 31,
2024.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2024, we had a secured bank loan of RMB212.6
million which was repayable within one year or on demand, and details of
the bank loan is set out in Note 22 to the Financial Statements.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the Reporting Period, we did not issued any convertible bonds.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OF THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we did
not have any Controlling Shareholder.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2024. We were not aware of any Shareholders
that had waived or agreed to waive any dividend arrangement for the
Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of our Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices.

We have arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the Directors
and senior management of our Company for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual
basis.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

We may pay dividends out of the share premium account, retained
earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately following the
payment of such dividends, our Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As of December 31, 2024, our Company did not have any distributable
reserves.

Details of movements in the reserves of our Group and our Company

during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 118 of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not make any
charitable donations.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of our
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 12 to the Financial
Statements. During the Reporting Period, none of our Company’s
properties was held for development and/or sale or for investment
purposes.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

Our Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on April 29,
2021 with a total of 123,567,500 offer Shares issued. The net proceeds
from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$1,932.3 million,
after deducting the underwriting fees, commissions and related listing
expenses. As of December 31, 2024, such net proceeds were utilized as
follows:

AEBWE  BERRERBEHANEBFITRN
BHMRMFEL2 - RIEHA - RNAB Y EIL FERFEE
BR/HHESIRE A -

ERRETEHIEHZ

RAFRRMHR2021F4 A29 B R B - & 31T
123,567,500 S0 » 2IRE SIS HIRFRN
731,932.38 88T ETCHREHER M KkiE
B LR - 1020246128310 - ZEMIERIEFE
EERMT

Utilized net
proceeds from
Amount of Utilized net January 1, Unutilized net  Expected time
net proceeds Percentage proceeds as of 2024 to proceeds as of frame for
for planned of total net December 31, December 31, December31, unutilized
Use of proceeds from Listing applications proceeds 2023 2024 2024 amount
2024%
#2023 1A1RZ2024% %2024%
et IR LFERE 128318E8A 12A31AE®HA 12831848 REHDARHA
LHRERERR FENEFE  FEAYESH FEREEE FERIEER FENEFE BN
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BBAT) (BEBAT) (BEBAT) (REAET)
For the clinical development and 618.34 32.00% 270.37 30.57 317.40
commercialization of our two Core
Products
BAMIEROE RO RRFE S R
1. Allocated to CsA Ophthalmic Gel 438.64 22.70% 182.93 27.61 228.10 By the end of
2025
. PRTRAZARER 202557 Al
2. Allocated to ZKY001 179.70 9.30% 87.44 2.96 89.30 By the end of
2025
2. HiEFzKY001 2025FE 52 Al
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Utilized net
proceeds from
Amount of Utilized net January 1, Unutilized net Expected time
net proceeds Percentage proceeds as of 2024 to proceeds as of frame for
for planned of total net December 31, December 31, December 31, unutilized
Use of proceeds from Listing applications proceeds 2023 2024 2024 amount
2024%
®2023F 1A1AZ2024% #®2024F
iz Jiked:l EFEYE 12A31ACHA 12A31ACEHA 12A31AXHA HHBAXRHA
LHAERERR FERERE  FREAYEIH FREREER FERERE FERERE  RENEH
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BEET) (B&BT) (B&BT) (B&BT)
The continuing R&D activities as well as 888.86 46.00% 557.73 123.29 207.84
commercialization of the other drug
candidates in our pipeline
BENEST AMREEYNSERREBREEL
1. The continuing R&D activities of other key 579.69 30.00% 342.05 87.33 150.31 By the end of
drug candidates 2025
. EBTERELMNFEREED 20255 K52 Al
2. The continuing R&D activities of other 57.97 3.00% 57.97 - - -
innovative and generic drug candidates
2. Hgl¥ R EEEENNHERLED -
3. The milestone payments of our other in- 96.62 5.00% 94.02 2.60 - -
licensed drug candidates
3. HEMEMIERELEYHEREMAR -
4. The further expansion of our sales and 154.58 8.00% 63.69 33.36 57.53 By the end of
marketing team in anticipation of new 2025
product launches in the coming year
4, BEHAREMELHER BAME-—FERHEE 20256 K52/l
Carrying out the production line 135.27 7.00% 135.27 - - -
expansion of our advanced Nansha
manufacturing facility in anticipation
of our product launches in the coming
years
AERANREINECELEERBETEE -
BRIER UBEARFENERLT
Our business development activities and 96.62 5.00% 96.62 - - -
the expansion of drug pipelines
EBBREIHRERELER -
Working capital and other general 193.23 10.00% 193.23 - - -
corporate purposes
EEESRAEM—REOERAR -
1,932.32 100.00% 1,253.22 153.86 525.24
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As at December 31, 2024, all the unused net proceeds are held by
our Company in short-term deposits with licensed banks or authorized
financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The expected timeline for utilizing the net proceeds from the Global
Offering is based on the best estimation of future market conditions made
by our Company and subject to changes in accordance with our actual
business operation. Going forward, the net proceeds will be applied in the
manner as set out in “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus.
Due to the R&D progressed faster than expected, we fully utilized the net
proceeds allocated to the milestone payments of our other in-licensed
drug candidates by the end of the Reporting Period, ahead of the originally
expected time frame. Save for the foregoing, there is no change in the
intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of our Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to the
Financial Statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no material subsequent
events undertaken by our Group after December 31, 2024 and up to the
Latest Practicable Date.

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The AGM is scheduled to be held on May 16, 2025. A notice convening the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders of our Company
in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

The register of members of our Company will be closed from May 13, 2025
to May 16, 2025, both days inclusive, in order to determine the identity
of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the AGM, during which
period no share transfers will be registered. To be eligible to attend the
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with our Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on May
12, 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by our
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 49 to 75
of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available and within the knowledge
of the Directors, our Company maintained the prescribed public float as
required under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of our Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands where our
Company is incorporated which would oblige our Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITORS

Our Company has no change in auditors in any of the preceding three
years. The Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024
have been audited by KPMG, the auditor of our Company, who will retire
at the conclusion of the AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of by KPMG as auditor
of our Company will be proposed at the AGM.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

We do not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21,
13.22, 14.36B and 14A.63 of the Listing Rules.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this report of
Directors form part of this annual report.

By Order of the Board
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited
Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Chairman of the Board and executive Director

Hong Kong, March 24, 2025

Report of Directors
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% AR

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhaoke
Ophthalmology Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 116 to 212, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December
31, 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of impairment of in-licensed rights in intangible assets

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies in notes 2(g) and 2(i)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

B AR

BAEEFTEEH (&)

A BB 5| AR
FEEGR B RANAIRIIURMZ2(9) R201)(i1)F e 251

B -

BRETER

BENENNEERSE

As at December 31, 2024, the
Group’s in-licensed rights in intangible
assets, which were not ready for use,
amounted to RMB330.5 million.

These intangible assets are subject
to impairment assessment annually
even if there is no indication of
impairment. The impairment
assessment is performed at the
product level by comparing its
carrying value with its recoverable
amounts, which is the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use based on discounted
cash flow forecasts. Based on the
impairment assessments performed
by management, impairment loss
of RMB10.8 million was recognized
in profit or loss for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

We identified the assessment of
impairment of in-licensed rights
in intangible assets as a key audit
matter because of the significance of
the carrying value of such assets to
the consolidated financial statements
and because the preparation of
discounted cash flow forecasts for the
purpose of impairment assessments
involves estimating revenue growth
rate and discount rates, which are
subject to a significant degree of
judgement and could be subject to
management bias.

Our audit procedures to assess impairment of
in-licensed rights in intangible assets included
the following:

. understanding and evaluating the
design and implementation of key
internal controls over the impairment
assessment;

. with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
methodology adopted by management
in its preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

. evaluating the key assumptions
adopted in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts,
including revenue growth rate with
reference to our understanding of the
business, historical trends and available
industry information and market data;

. with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
discount rates used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts by benchmarking
against other companies in the same
industry;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of impairment of in-licensed rights in intangible assets

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

BAEEFTEEH (&)

A BB S| AR

FRHE R BRI IR IILRMZ2(9) R2(i) (i) F a8 7

policies in notes 2(g) and 2(i)(ii). B o
How the matter was addressed in
The Key Audit Matter our audit BEETEE AANESNAEEZSE
. comparing the key assumptions o BEEBTEAFRE
included in the discounted cash flows KBRS R 2 TEA
forecasts prepared by management in FEENERERRE
the prior year with the current year's REERREBEETE

performance to assess the accuracy
of the prior year’s forecast, making
enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations
identified and whether these had
been considered in the current year
discounted cash flow forecasts and
considering if there was any indication
of management bias;

o performing a sensitivity analysis of key
assumptions in the discounted cash
flow forecasts and considering the
resulting impact on the impairment
charge for the year and whether there
were any indication of management
bias; and

o assessing the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Accruals for services fees to outsourced service providers

Refer to the accounting policies in note 2(g)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

B AR

BAEEFTEEH (&)

During the year ended December 31,
2024, the Group incurred significant
research and development ("R&D")
expenses of RMB203.7 million, of
which service fees paid to contract
research organizations ("CROs")
and clinical site management
operators ("SMOs") (collectively the
“outsourced service providers”)
amounted to RMB56.7 million.

We identified accruals for service fees
for the outsourced service providers
as a key audit matter because clinical
trials are core part of the Group's
R&D activities and there is a risk of
under/over accruals of R&D expenses
at the end of the reporting period
given the significance of the Group's
R&D expenses to the consolidated
financial statements.

Our audit procedures to assess accruals for
service fees to outsourced service providers
included the following:

o understanding and evaluating the
design and implementation of key
internal controls over:

u the engagement of CROs and
SMOs;

u the oversight and management
of the progress of the underlying
clinical trials;

u the accounting for related
expenses;

. inquiring management and project
managers about the progress of clinical
trials;

. examining, on a sample basis, the

service fees to outsourced service
providers recorded during the year,
agreeing them to the relevant service
agreements, outsourced service
providers’ acknowledgement of
milestones achieved, invoices and bank
payment advices for settled balances
and assessing whether the related
service fees have been recognized in
accordance with the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

. re-calculating the accruals for service
fees to the outsourced service providers
and comparing the recalculated amount
with the recorded amount, on a sample
basis, based on the progress of related
clinical trial activities/milestones
achieved and the terms stated in the
underlying service agreements;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Accruals for services fees to outsourced service providers

Refer to the accounting policies in note 2(g)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

BAEEFTEEH (&)

BT SB R BB B

FEEME2(g)(i)FHIETEE o

BRETER

BENETNNEEZSEE

sending confirmations to major
outsourced service providers to confirm
the service fees, progress/milestones
achieved, on a sample basis. For
unreturned confirmations, comparing
service fees paid and payable to
outsourced service providers with
the underlying service agreements,
outsourced service providers’
acknowledgement of milestones
achieved and invoices;

comparing actual service fee payments
during the current year with the
accrued service fees to outsourced
service providers at the last reporting
date to assess the accuracy of accruals
of R&D expenses; and

comparing actual service fee payments
made subsequent to the reporting
date with the accrued service fees
to outsourced service providers at
the reporting date to assess whether
there were any significant under/over-
accrued balances.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

B AR

e BRI R EZBE RS
HER

EEFHEMESAE - AMESSBETHNFERAN
58 - BETBEGA M BEER LRI SRS

BAYEEPHRENBERL TREEMEER - BT
THZEEMERERENTANEZHER

BERMEGREMBHRENEN - RANEERMAER
=8 - FEiiBiET  EEEMESIE RS MHR
REBPIEFHBIET T HOBAFEEEBERE
UFFHEERERRAER -

ERHEMSAITOIE  IREMBAEMESFES
Regfil - RIFEREZFE - HEHE - BIDR
BERH=RS -

EENARSHMBBRRARENELE

BEERAEARBEEESHMASENI(ERM G REE
ADRBECARGIDNEER EERBRRMPBOES
MBHE  UHERRESAMBRROEENTEHR
REGEF Sk EE SR BB B R SERR R P 3R M BRI ) &

B o

EREBEAMBHRERE EFAHENE ESEFE
KEMRED  TEERBATHREEFSELEEHAN
FEURERASELLEREHER  RIEEEFE
1 BEREFESRAELEE  IRIBEEGERNERT

o

bt

EFAEERZBENHB TAEEE

Annual Report 2024 F3§



114

Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent HARBIZHEMBENEFEEAEARZASE -
auditor’s report is Lau Tai Cheong.

KPMG EFRSTTMEHA
Certified Public Accountants B

8th Floor, Prince’s Building FEPIR

10 Chater Road EITIEL105%
Central, Hong Kong KRFAESE
March 24, 2025 202543 A24H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

meEBEmR

For the year ended December 31, 2024
HZE2024F12A318LFE

2024 2023
2024F 2023%

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PifeE AR®T R ARETT

Revenue € 4 69,324

Cost of sales SHEMA (17,527)

Gross profit EF 51,797

Other income HipA 5 87,314 82,044

Other net loss H At E51EFRE 6 (18,311) (3,515)
Research and development expenses HEFRY (203,703) (333,050)
General and administrative expenses —REITHER (70,818) (84,404)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAY (63,463) (51,889)
Other operating expenses Hag e 7(c) (10,807) -

Loss from operations KEEE (227,991) (376,567)
Finance costs EUE D #N 7(a) (9,502) (7,921)
Loss before taxation MR AR 7 (237,493) (384,488)
Income tax FriSHt 8 - (550)
Loss for the year FREE (237,493) (385,038)
Loss per share (RMB) SREB(AR%T) 11

Basic EHK (0.43)

Diluted o (0.43)

The notes on pages 122 to 212 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
reBalkHEMEEKER

For the year ended December 31, 2024
HZE2024F12A310LFE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income for the
year

Item that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of

BEDEEERAIEARBNERIBRERN

(237,493) (385,038)

80,587 61,107

financial statements of entities with PEH Z &R
functional currencies other than Renminbi
("RMB")

Total comprehensive income for the FAZHERHEEAHE

year

(156,906) (323,931)

The notes on pages 122 to 212 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR R

At December 31, 2024
#2024F12A31H

2024 2023

2024% 2023%F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
BT AR¥T T ARETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HEREE 12(a) 192,137 223,648
Intangible assets M AE 13 413,553 392,463
Prepayments and deposits FERRIE KRS 16 22,913 9,658
628,603 625,769
Current assets REEE
Inventories GE 15(a) 14,901 6,141
Trade and other receivables B 5 REM EWGRIE 16 51,468 61,147
Investments & 17 69,467 -
Amount due from a related company FEM — A RREE R BB 21 1,087 -
Pledged bank balances EIEIRIRITAE R 18(a) 356,295 265,658
Time deposits with original maturity over REIHA A8 =18 A 0 E #iFE R
three months 18(a) 689 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEHED 18(a) 1,121,005 1,461,623
1,614,912 1,794,569
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENRIE 20 84,688 116,637
Contract liabilities AHBE 19 1,369 1,179
Amounts due to related companies FEISTRERSE AR5k 21 4,454 2,473
Bank loans SRITER 22 212,605 206,577
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 9,933 9,585

313,049 336,451

Net current assets

1,301,863

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

awafE

1,930,466 2,083,887

23 16,049
19 13,542

131
24 667

30,389

1,900,077

26(b) —*

1,900,077 2,048,318

1,900,077

2,048,318

Contract liabilities

Long service payment liabilities RERKAE
Deferred income RIEWA

Net assets EEFE
Capital and reserves BEAXRR#E
Share capital e

Reserves i

Total equity B

* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000.

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on March 24,

2025.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
ZNRELT
Director

EF

The notes on pages 122 to 212 form part of these financial statements.

B EEINARKEL,0007T -

R2025%F3 A24 RIS EE S HE LI -

Mr. Dai Xiangrong
HMEREE
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREEHR

For the year ended December 31, 2024

HZE2024F1283181EFE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FOAERRREL
Share Share Other Capital Merger Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
e RAEE Efiale B5E AHEE EXGfE ZitER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ANREFT NREFT ARETTL ANREFT NRETT ARETTL AREFT
Balance at January 1, 2023 12023515 1RAMER - 5,427,511 4,358 122,513 2,411 220,855 (3,429,275) 2,348,373
Changes in equity for 2023: 2023%HEH%2E :
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (385,038) (385,038)
Other comprehensive income  Zt2EME - - - - - 61,107 - 61,107
Total comprehensive income 22 - - - - - 61,107 (385,038) (323,931)
Equity-settled share-based ~ DIEZEENRS
payment expenses BEROTTRR - - - 2,03 - - - 22,03
Shares issued under share REBRETERTH
option schemes Tt -* 16,125 - (14,272) - - - 1,853
Lapsed share options BRHERE - - - (7,457) - - 7,457 -
Balance at December 31,  #2023%12A31Rf
2023 3 122,807 281,962 (3,806,856) 2,048,318
Changes in equity for 2024: 20245 8B :
Loss for the year FRER (237,493)  (237,493)
Other comprehensive income 2Nz - 80,587
Total comprehensive income ~ 2EEAE (237,493)  (156,906)
Equity-settled share-based NEREENRD AER
payment expenses B 8,665 - 8,665
Lapsed share options BRHERE (9,596) 9,596 -
Balance at December 31,  }#2024%12831H
2024 fih 5,443,636 121,876 2,411 362,549  (4,034753) 1,900,077
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * HEaeBEINARKL0007T
The notes on pages 122 to 212 form part of these financial statements. F122F 2128 W FHBAR A I HREN—3 D -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended December 31, 2024
HZE2024F12A318LFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
BT ARETR AREFT

Operating activities REES
Loss before taxation BB RIEE (237,493) (384,488)
Adjustments for: BUATHIBEFE
Depreciation ne 7(c) 40,690 40,044
Amortization of intangible assets m A ERH 7(c) 12,874 8,660
Finance costs EUR I #N 7(a) 9,502 7,921
Equity-settled share-based payment LARESR S E UARR (D AETEH)

expenses RFEZ 25 8,665 22,023
Bank interest income ERITH BUA 5 (75,228) (77,399)
Gain on lease termination IR E 6 - (132)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE REERE

equipment 6 (559) -
Fair value change of investments recognized RIBHERNEENAFEEE) —

in profit or loss - realized B 6 445 -
Fair value change of investments recognized RIEZHERIREN A FEZE) —

in profit or loss - unrealized RET 6 3,717 -
Impairment loss of in-licensed rights SR TR E TR 7(c) 10,807 -
Net foreign exchange loss INEES1EFRE 14,547 905
Changes in working capital: SELTEE) -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other B 5 L EMENRRECE M), R

receivables (5,244) 14,763
Increase in inventories FEIEM (8,760) (6,141)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other B REMBRRBBARENEE

payables and contract liabilities GR350 (29,712) 54,413
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to FEATRAR A RIFRIERE I, (R 4>)

related companies 1,980 (4,424)
Increase in long service payment liabilities REIRG S AEEM 128 -
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income EEWA CRid) /180 (82) 741
Tax paid: BT
— Withholding tax paid —BRTENH - (550)
Net cash used in operating activities RETBAARSTE (253,723) (323,664)
Investing activities RETH
Increase in pledged deposits [SEEwEE il (79,278) (88,178)
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits with [RE|EA A BB =18 A M T BFER

original maturity over three months (&), W (674) 9,784
Payment for purchase of investments BEERENNR (212,744) -
Proceeds from sale of investments HERENSRIEA 140,672 -
Increase in amount due from a related FEUR —FEI B A R IRIE N

company (1,087) -
Decrease in prepayment on purchase of BEYE  BEKREOENRE

property, plant and equipment L 1,316 20,494
Payment for purchase of property, plant and BEE®% - BE REENTR

equipment (10,098) (36,467)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and HEWE - BERSERERE

equipment 2,300 -
Payment for purchase of intangible assets BEETEENMNR (33,972) (58,800)
Interest received EUFLE 77,117 77,399
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHFMARESFE (116,448) (75,768)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
,\\/T\/\Eﬁi;/ilf%?%

For the year ended December 31, 2024

HZE2024F1283181EFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
B s ARETR AREFT
Financing activities RMEEE
Proceeds from bank loans SRITERMATERIE 18(b) 108,807 120,821
Repayment of bank loans EIBIRITER 18(b) (102,779) (8,744)
Proceeds from shares issued under share RB B B BITIRDE
option schemes FRiSEUE - 1,853
Capital element of lease rentals paid [ENEiEkaz kN P 18(b) (8,371) (8,760)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BT S8 18(b) (1,408) (1,756)
Interest paid BAFIE (8,371) (4,120)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing RE&ES(FIA),/Fri5HEE 54
activities (12,122) 99,294
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRBLEEYWRD FE
equivalents (382,293) (300,138)
Cash and cash equivalents at the ENREREBESEEY
beginning of the year 1,461,623 1,716,351
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /MNEERS 5T 41,675 45,410
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FXREERREZEY
the year 18(a) 1,121,005 1,461,623
The notes on pages 122 to 212 form part of these financial statements. F122F 2128 W FHBAR A I REN—3 D -
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1.

Notes to the Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) on January 20, 2017. On
April 29, 2020, the Company was redomiciled to the Cayman Islands
with its registered office at Vistra (Cayman) Limited, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, George Town, Grand Cayman
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands (the "Cayman Companies Act”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) are principally engaged in
the development, manufacturing and marketing of ophthalmic drugs
and products.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
Group’s consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these financial statements.

B ISR AR B RE

—REH

HKBHERARAR([AQE )H2017F1 820
ERBEXBESTML - K2020F4H29A8 -
AAmEMEHERS  BEMASESEEF22
BRRNE(1961F A GI3 » 474 R1EET) ([ B
SRR AERRERAT - MR EER
Vistra (Cayman) Limited, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, George
Town, Grand Cayman °

ARBR—HEREZERAR - ARRRENHEBEAR
(B &M ) T BN ERBEEY L E RO
TEERENE-

BEAREBCR
(a) &HE8

AEBNGEAMBHRRCREMBEERE
B BREE (BRGNS EMEPT
BEMERNEEVBHRELER - BB G
R MRS BB R REDIIRE
BEmB  UEON - REEEMER S TSR
BITEBMARIMAERIAES LTH
BB PR R 163

ERSHMASERME TRAREARS
AR B RN A H IR R R BRI
BRELANERTA - MizE2(c) R TIA &
RARMBHRAN RN A HREEAE
EEENERMESNEMN S HREED

Annual Report 2024 F3§

123



124

Notes

to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR T ot

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

(c)

statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2024 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group. None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(d) Subsidiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. EXRERBEGE)

(d) 1@ A&

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and cash flows and any unrealized
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interest within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
the resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is recognized at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(i)(ii)).
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RARENEERRIFERESSRIFY
WHE - ARRALHESEE - BT
BRI ER SIS -

BEARAKBKREHME R R M EEE - B
BHENZMBRA RN 2R AR
BEEE R RSB IRNMERER - RKE
I B AT B A BR B e (AT
MR A HEER - e REEIEVRER
SRMEENATE  K(NEE) NIETHER
REERRHAERENRENRA -

RARBIME RN EF - RIEBARE
& & 1 AR B S 18 51 BR (LB RE2(1)
(ii)) °

Annual Report 2024 F3§

125



126

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Investments

Investments are recognized/derecognized on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") for
which transaction costs are recognized directly in profit or loss.
These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

Investments are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Expected
credit losses, interest income calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 2(s)(ii)(a)), foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in
profit or loss.

- fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI"”) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of
the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale. Expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as if the financial asset was measured
at amortized cost. The difference between the fair
value and the amortized cost is recognized in other
comprehensive income ("OCI"). When the investment
is derecognized, the amount accumulated in OCI is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognized in profit or loss.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEIERIGFR A 7
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. EXRERBEGE)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note

2(i)(ii)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of an asset.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the estimated net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognized in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if
any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Estimated useful life

Properties leased for Over the unexpired periods of the

own use leases and their estimated useful
lives
Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or remaining
lease term
Machinery and 3-10 years
equipment
Furniture, fixture and 3-10 years
office equipment
Motor vehicle 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents machinery and equipment
pending installation and is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(i)(ii)). Cost comprises the purchase costs of
the asset and the related construction and installation costs.

Construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment when the asset is substantially ready for
its intended use and depreciation will be provided at the
appropriate rates in accordance with the depreciation policies
specified above.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Intangible assets

(i)

Patents

Patents are capitalized on the basis of the cost incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific patent. These
costs are amortized over the estimated useful life of 10
to 17 years. The Group should assess whether there is
any indication that patent is impaired at the end of each
reporting period.

The patents relate to therapeutic technologies developed
by the Group. The useful lives of the patents were
estimated by the Group based on the respective
periods over which economic benefits are expected
to be derived from the underlying technologies. The
estimation of the useful lives has taken into account
the expected period required for the development of an
innovative biopharmaceutical drug from its discovery
to commercialization, the patent protection period, the
historical life of similar products, the characteristics of
such technologies, their update frequency and market
requirement and competition. Based on the different
commercialization commencement dates and the
expected lifespan of economic benefits of individual
technologies, the useful lives of the Group’s patents
have been assessed to range from 10 to 17 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREFHBXE)

(CONTINUED)
(9) Intangible assets (Continued) (9) BEEE (&)

(ii) WrEExkd

(ii) Research and development expenditures

The Group incurs significant costs and efforts on
research and development activities, which include
expenditures on drug products. Research expenditures
are charged to the profit or loss as an expense in the
period the expenditures are incurred. Development
costs are recognized as assets if they can be directly
attributable to a newly developed drug products and all
the following can be demonstrated:

(i) the technical feasibility of completing the
development project so that it will be available for
use or sale;

(ii)  the Group’s intention to complete the development
project to use or sell it;

(iii) the Group’s ability to use or sell the development
project;

(iv) how the development project will generate
probable future economic benefits for the Group;

(v) the Group’s availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the development
project; and

(vi) the ability to measure reliably the expenditures
attributable to the development project.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is the
sum of the expenditures incurred from the date the asset
meets the recognition criteria above to the date when it
is available for use. The costs capitalized in connection
with the intangible asset include costs of materials and
services used or consumed, employee costs incurred
in the creation of the asset and an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads. The Group generally considers
capitalization criteria for internally generated intangible
assets are met when obtaining regulatory approval of
new drug license.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii) Research and development expenditures

(Continued)

Capitalized development expenditures are amortized
using the straight-line method over the life of the related
drug products. Amortization shall begin when the asset
is available for use. Subsequent to initial recognition,
internally generated intangible assets are reported as
cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)) (if any).

Development expenditures not satisfying the above
criteria are recognized in the profit or loss as incurred
and development expenditures previously recognized
as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a
subsequent period.

(iii) In-licenses

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost.

Certain intangible assets are for licenses of intellectual
properties in development, with non-refundable upfront
payment, milestone payment and royalty payment.
Upfront payment is capitalized when paid. The
milestone payment is capitalized as intangible assets
when incurred, unless the payment is for outsourced
research and development work which would follow the
capitalization policy in note 2(g)(ii). Royalty payment
would be accrued for in line with the underlying sales
and recognized as a cost of sales.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREFTEEGE)
(CONTINUED)
(9) Intangible assets (Continued) (9) BEEE (&)
(iii) In-licenses (Continued) (iii) SIE A (&)

The intangible assets are assessed to be either finite EREEENTEREHY RERE
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are SERRE - BRAINER EERR
subsequently amortized when ready for use and over AR L AR IR Al AR AS B F HR
the economic useful life and assessed for impairment o W ENRBERNEREE R
whenever there is an indication that the intangible BERERE - AERAGAF
asset may be impaired. The amortization period and HMETEEN BN REET A
the amortization method for an intangible asset with ELOREREMREE— K- AE
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of PR {58 PR 4F HA 3 1o >R AT R (60 FR 0 A A2
each reporting period. Intangible assets with indefinite BESTSEE HEFEBIR
useful lives or not ready for use will not be amortized ReEEBMERETRERNR -
but tested for impairment annually either individually ZRERIFA K LRSI EF R EER
or at the cash-generating unit level. The impairment I El & FE AR - AJRFH
test would compare the recoverable amount of the in- HEFEENTIERFHEFET
licenses asset to its carrying value. The useful life of HE - DEEERFHNTERES
an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed BBERDIEFE - 0E - BRI {ER
annually to determine whether the indefinite life FHF G HRERNABROERIZ
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the ATIE M AR -

change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

In-licenses with finite useful life are amortized using ABRAERAFHNSEFITNE
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the HEREERBABELEERSR
underlying products, commencing from the date when IR EF AN E SRR -

the products are put into commercial production.

In-licensed technologies acquired from third parties. SRR RIT IME=HIBE &K
The useful lives of the in-licensed technologies were SEEENTEA A B AEBRMEEL
estimated by the Group based on the respective T 2 O AR FE BE R A 5T S T AT 3R
periods over which economic benefits are expected T AT E A GF A - Al A F HR Ve
to be derived from the underlying technologies. The FHEE T A A B (335
estimation of the useful lives has taken into account B ) TEHRFT R BORRT  SI#ERT
the expected period required for the development of an AR B AR - BUERS
innovative biopharmaceutical drug from its discovery [ELFH - BRI HREN
to commercialization, the exclusive rights period of ARARTIHERRBE - ERE
in-licensed technologies, the historical life of similar BT R E R 96 3 B B RS
products, the characteristics of such technologies, Mz R TEBRARRR - AN E ST ]
their update frequency and market requirement and BAra Al A F BT RN TS5
competition. Based on the different commercialization Z15% -

commencement dates and the expected lifespan of
economic benefits of individual technologies, the useful
lives of the Group’s in-licensed technologies have been
assessed to range from 5 to 15 years.

Both the period and method of amortization are B REBHE A EHEE T UM
reviewed annually. &t e
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR T ot

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Intangible assets (Continued)

(iv) Software

(v)

Computer software which is recognized at historical
cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses (see
note 2(i)(ii)). The Group amortized on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years based
on the current functionalities and the daily operation
needs of the software.

IT applications development in progress represents IT
applications pending execution and is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)). Cost comprises the
purchase costs of the asset and the related set up and
installation costs.

Both the period and method of amortization are
reviewed annually.

Distribution rights

Distribution rights are capitalized on the basis of the
cost incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
rights. These costs are amortized over the estimated
useful life range from 8 to 17 years. The Group should
assess whether there is any indication that the rights are
impaired at the end of each reporting period.

The rights relate to exclusive rights to register, import,
promote, distribute, market and sell certain medical
devices and ophthalmic drug. The useful lives of the
rights were estimated by the Group based on the
respective periods over which economic benefits are
expected to be derived from the underlying rights.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h) Leased assets

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. EXRERBEGE)

(h) HELE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalized are recognized as an expense on a systematic basis
is over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease is capitalized is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(f) and 2(i)(ii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets and measured
at amortized cost (see notes 2(s)(ii)(a) and 2(i)(i)). Any
difference between the initial fair value and the nominal value
of the deposits is accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the
present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment” and presents “lease liabilities” separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECLs"”) on financial assets measured at
amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents, as
well as trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject
to the ECLs assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR T ot

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the
12 months after the end of reporting period; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECLs
model applies.

Loss allowances for receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXGEEHE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i) GEERREEHRE &)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) eMIANEEEEE)
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
end of reporting period with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
(ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR T ot

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due
status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLs
amount is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with note
2(s)(ii)(a) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. ERAEHBR(E)
(CONTINUED)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i) GEERREEHRE &)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) EMIANEEEEE)

(Continued)

Write-off policy MHHE R

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written i BEER LR ERIEES - A%
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there BRI eME(Br2B) 2EE
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally RIRRE MR - ZBERARHREER
the case when the asset becomes 90 days past due or EESH0 Ak AL EREEBA
when the Group determines that the debtor does not REBREXELERHREREN
have assets or sources of income that could generate WA SRR E R T E R S 5 o
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the

write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously BE 12 UK BB 7 B EE R B E R e
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment in EAE B R R R ERE

profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(ii) Impairment of non-current assets (ii) FRBEERE
Internal and external sources of information are REER SRS HREBHA DRI
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify HEARRR - BT EERST
indications that the following assets may be impaired HERREEDR - AT HERRR
or an impairment loss previously recognized no longer BEEEREETHBFEXAERD

exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of- - ME - BERRE(RIEE
use assets; RAEEE)

- intangible assets; — EmAE

- other non-current assets; and - Hi3EneEE + &

- investment in a subsidiary in the Company’s - AR B FBAR N K PR —
statement of financial position. WERRRIEE -

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable wmE Ll ERBREIR - AlgEE

amount is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets EHEEEMNTAKNESE - o - &

that are not yet available for use and intangible assets RERAIHEANELEERES

that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount ERAMGATHNEREE W

is estimated annually whether or not there is any EAGFERENR - HEFMETA

indication of impairment. IR [El &8 ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXGEEHE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i) GEERREEHRE &)
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of non-current assets (ii) FRBEERMEE)
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(for example, head office building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation
can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis,
or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use (if
determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

(J)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of non-current assets
(Continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favorable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognized.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Costs of raw materials and finished goods are calculated
using the weighted average cost formula. Costs comprises
all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realizable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

When the inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognized as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognized. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realizable value and all losses of
inventories are recognized as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognized as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognized as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. ERETBRGE)

(CONTINUED)
(k) Receivables

(1)

(m) Contract liabilities

(o) Interest-bearing borrowings

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the 518 -
policy set out in note 2(i)(i).

A contract liability is recognized when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue (see note 2(s)(i)(c)). A contract liability is also
recognized if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognizes HAaE ERENBALT  TeEREE
the related revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding FENRIE (R FRE2(K)) ©

receivable is also recognized (see note 2(k)).

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to R o MAIIATERE - 5T BB FIRE A
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated PR VR REEELEE CHE
at amortized cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognized and redemption value being recognized in FIRENERIARR A BERER -
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of

the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,

using the effective interest method.

(k) EEW«M

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an FEU SR IE R A S B G B R (R R A R AR (B
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is HAFEST - BB B RER ARG -
required before payment of that consideration is due.

RER - MR EEEREERNER AR

Receivables are subsequently stated at amortized cost, using FE R IE B 1% DAB B I SRR S K A7)
the effective interest method and including an allowance for
credit losses (see note 2(i)(i)).
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When the contract includes a significant financing component, EANBREEARERN IR  aHEH
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see note 2(s)(ii)(a)).

(n) Payables

BREREBEERNZREE O E (RME
2(s)(ii)(a)) °

(n) E7E

Payables are initially recognized at fair value and are ERFIEYIRR A TERR - HER%S
subsequently stated at amortized cost unless the effect of SHAKANFIER - HEMHBEIR BT R - BikE
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated ZeRyIER -

at invoice amounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR T ot

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant
to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the
jurisdictions in which the Group’s subsidiaries located are
recognized as an expense in profit or loss as incurred,
except to the extent that they are included in the cost of
inventories not yet recognized as an expense.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees,
directors or consultants is recognized as an expense
with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity over the period that the individuals become
unconditionally entitled to the options. Share options
granted to employees, directors or consultants, are
measured at grant date using the binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted.

The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the number of share options for which the related
service and non-market vesting conditions are expected
to be met, such that amount ultimately recognized as
an expense is based on the number of awards that do
meet the related service and non-market performance
conditions at the vesting date.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

2. EXETEERE)

(p) BEE7 (&)

(ii) Share-based payments (Continued) (ii) URGOHERENLR(E)

During the vesting period, the number of share options

REBHEA - AEESRA RS
BENOBRERE - HHREFED

that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognized in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. The equity amount is
recognized in the capital reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount recognized
in share capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to equity).

(q) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(q) Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized, are recognized. Future taxable
profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilized.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured based
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilized.
Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q) Income tax (Continued)

(r)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognized when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognized.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realize the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realize and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sales of goods or provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognizes revenue on a gross basis, including the sales of
ophthalmic drugs and products. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether
it obtains control of the products before they are transferred
to the customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability to
direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies are
as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.

(a) Sales of ophthalmic drugs and products

Revenue is recognized when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the goods. Payment
terms and conditions vary by customers and are
based on the billing schedule established in the
contracts or purchase orders with customers,
but the Group generally provides credit terms
to customers within 60 days upon customer
acceptance.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and other income
(Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)
(b) Licensing income

Contracts that out-license the Group’s license
rights to other parties result in fixed and variable
considerations from upfront payments, regulatory
approval milestones and sales-based royalties.
Income that depends on the achievement of a
regulatory approval milestone is recognized when
it is highly probable that a significant reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will
not occur, which is usually when the related event
occurs.

(c) Royalty income and income from exclusive
distribution rights

Royalty income earned through a license is
recognized as the underlying sales are recorded by
the licensee.

Income from exclusive distribution rights arises
from the receipt of upfront, milestones and
other similar payments in respect of granting
of exclusive distribution rights of the Group’s
products to third parties. These payments are
generally recognized as income over time over the
contract period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and other income

(Continued)
(ii) Other income

(a) Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

(b) Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognized as
income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are recognized initially as
deferred income and amortized to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset
by way of being recognized in other income.

(t) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Company
initially recognizes such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t) Translation of foreign currencies
(Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

(u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

(v) Related parties

(@)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(M

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or a joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or a joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(v) Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 27 contains information about the assumptions and their risk
factors relating to financial instruments.

Other key sources of estimation uncertainty is as follows:

Impairment assessment of intangible assets not
ready for use

Intangible assets not ready for use are tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. In-licensed rights acquired by
the Group that are subject to continuing research and development
work prior to commercialisation of products are classified as
intangible assets not ready for use.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the
intangible asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. Depending on the Group’s assessment of the overall
materiality of the asset under review and complexity of deriving
reasonable estimates of the recoverable amount, the Group may
perform such assessments utilizing internal resources or the Group
may engage external advisors to counsel the Group. Regardless
of the resources utilized, the Group is required to make many
assumptions to make these assessments, including revenue growth
rate and discount rates. Changes in any of these assumptions could
result in a material change to future estimates of the recoverable
amount of any asset. Details of the impairment assessment are
disclosed in note 13.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are development,
manufacturing and marketing of ophthalmic drugs and
products.

(i)

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products or service lines is as follows:

Wss ] 7 ARER &

(a) Kz

REENEEEBRREEEY R E RO

(i)

Revenue from contracts with

customers within the scope of BEFEHWE
HKFRS 15
Point in time: RE—R2
Sale of ophthalmic drugs SHERTEEY)
Sale of other drug SHE HAbEEY)
Sale of ophthalmic products HERRER
Licensing income HEIEON
Over time: BERF
Income from exclusive distribution BR S HERA
rights

ERMBHREEUFI1SHHAERRN

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
one customer (2023: two) with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. In 2024, licensing
income to this customer amounted to approximately
RMB33,523,000, and arose in Mainland China. (2023:
Income from exclusive distribution rights and sale of
ophthalmic products to these customers amounted
to approximately RMB5,600,000 and RMB2,600,000
respectively, and arose in South Korea and Mainland
China respectively). Details of concentration of credit
risk arising from these customers are set out in note
27(a).

Revenue expected to be recognized in
the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting
date

As at December 31, 2024, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts is
RMB14,911,000 (2023: RMB14,135,000). This amount
represents income from granting of exclusive distribution
rights of the Group’s products under distribution and
supply agreements entered into between the Group and
its customers, and will be recognized as income over the
remaining contractual period.
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(i)

W25

BRFAMRFETEERIREGE
AFHET :

2023
2023%
RMB’000
ARETT

5,600
18,750

AEEBHNBEREZTE  B8F—
%(2023F : MB)XFHEELAE
B EEBB10%MEF - K2024
F - RERBEWHATRALBA
R#33,523,0007 © 3R HEKX
BEEELE(2023%F  RABRH iHE
RAZERFHERERDIA
2RI B ANRS,600,0007T K A
R#2,600,0007T - VELEAFE
RABEAREE) - BZERFEENE
BEFRBFEIHNE27() °

REEEMREFF SR
giﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ’éﬁ BERHIW

H2024F12A31H » HEFA
EERAENTHBRBHEBHHR
SEREERARE14,911,000
J0(2023%F : AR 14,135,000
TT) ° e AR AREAEE H
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. W#R 5% (&)
(CONTINUED)

B E

S

(b) Segment reporting (b)

BIOREAEESSTHERER
By BC AR K RHf 0 BRI EHIE
ERIREEE -

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal Ly
reports that the Group’s most senior executive management EIFaE:
reviews regularly in allocating resources to segments and in Ealzofa
assessing their performances.

A
7]
v
;:|

The Group’s most senior executive management makes ZK%EIE’JEE— THE R ERE NS E 2
resources allocation decisions based on internal management BEVE BRDEARSR - WS AEER A —
functions and assess the Group’s business performance as HirEEB(MFRBL EBHENIIER
one integrated business instead of by separate business lines W)ﬁﬁ%i%i‘%fi At - AEERE—E
or geographical regions. Accordingly, the Group has only one KLENE - AR HEBERS o
operating segment and therefore, no segment information is
presented.
Geographic information wEER
The following table sets out information about the geographical TR BB AEERE IR AU
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers @ RODAEENYE - BERZREAR
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment and mPEE(BEFRRBEE ] HHIECE
intangible assets (“specified non-current assets”). The B BRPMMIZMEEN AL -
geographical location of customers is based on their operating HWE - BERBREMNS - BFEFTDHE
location. The geographical location of the specified non-current ERNMIENEERNEEMTERLE M
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in the MEFEENES  HEERBEENHE
case of property, plant and equipment, and the location of the NEEREBDEEBAELME -
operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible
assets.

Revenues from Specified

external customers non-current assets
RENPEFHKE REERBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023% 20245 2023F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR AR#TR ARBTR

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (FTTEH) 803 313,363 306,662
Mainland China AR RE 67,317 , 292,327 309,449

South Korea B 1,194 , = -
Others Hity 10 - - -

69,324 18,750 605,690 616,111
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

5. OTHER INCOME 5. HfgA
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Bank interest income RITHABUA 75,228 77,399
Government grants B B
- Employment support grants (note (i)) —EZEMB (M) 128 303
- Other government grants (note (ii)) — H o BURT#H B (BT (i) 11,291 3,084
Others Hfth 667 1,258
87,314 82,044
Notes: PHEE -
(i) The amount represents government grants received from various i) ZE IR E P BBATH BRI MR ATH#E) - E
PRC government authorities in connection with the fiscal subsidies RAREERREHMB S RAEE XN TENY
for providing financial support to enterprises and paying wages to the BUERE AR o
employees.
(iiy  The amount represents subsidies received from the PRC government for (i)  Ze IR P B AT W) LA 5% B B 9 A 3% 1O 4
the encouragement of technology research and development, as well as B ARINEDEZBIEE) -
financial support for foreign-invested enterprises.
6. OTHER NET LOSS 6. HitEHE R
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
Net foreign exchange loss SNEEIRFRE (14,708) (3,647)
Gain on lease termination LIS W - 132
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE &L EkE
equipment -

Fair value change of investments recognized RBZHERMIZEMNAFEZS :
in profit or loss:
- realized — DI
- unrealized — REI8
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. BREAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRB R8T S HIBR DA & IB 1R EL
(a) Finance costs (a) ABHF
2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Interest on bank loans SRITEFFE 8,094 6,165
Interest on lease liabilities THEAENE 1,408 1,756
9,502 7,921
(b) Staff costs (b) ET A
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHMEF 102,069 100,232
Contribution to defined benefit MR ERRERETEIED AR
retirement plans 6,584 6,291
Long service payments KRB S 128 -
Equity-settled share-based payment PARESS A B LARD B AR R IR X
expenses 6,760 20,321
115,541 126,844

Notes: MIE

(i)  The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the (i) AEEREBEBRHERERE
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident GO AR BB REBIENEEE &R
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under HEANZEMZ AT RERERFE
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance RETEIRIE BB B & Pisa sl ATE
and not previously covered by the defined benefit retirement SR EI([BELTE]) - afEsst
plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement ElR—ERBUYZIATENRTE
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF HFRINETE] - BIFRESFTE] -
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required BENREESASEREEHEBI
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ AHIS5% AT EVELHZR - FAAE
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of B A _EBR &30,000/8 7T  5F &l
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately. KRN RB -

(i) Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the (i) WRIEPENEFELSESRESE - &
PRC, the Group in the PRC participates in defined contribution S @A B2 B 5 BT SR P 4R
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organized by the B FoE HBCGRIRE A E 8 ([ 5
local government authorities whereby the Company and its Bl Bt ARFERERPEL
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to make contributions to the WBARBRAEREEHENE
Schemes based on certain percentages of the eligible employee’s FTEDLLAGFTEMER o #75 BATEH
salaries. The local government authorities are responsible for the PFIAEERTXMNRAREINZIE
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees. ELER o

(i)  Staff costs includes remuneration of directors and senior (i) BEIRABEEZEERAAERERN
management (notes 9 and 10). (K9 10) ©
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Notes

to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR T ot

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Other items

7.

BRBE A1 &5 15 (4R)

(c) BEtiEH

Amortization of intangible assets ER AR (MTFE13)
(note 13)
Depreciation charge (note 12(a)) wEEAMEL2(a))

—BEYE  BELRE

- owned property, plant and
equipment

- right-of-use assets —(ERREEE
Auditors’ remuneration ZEET BN &
- audit services —EZRE
- other services — H RS

Impairment loss of in-licensed
rights (note 13)

SR IR ER IR (T 13)

TFEMRA(HE15(b))

Cost of inventories (note 15(b))

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the
Group are domiciled and operated.

(a) Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman
Companies Act.

There is no income tax in the Cayman Islands and accordingly,
the operating results reported by the Company, is not subject
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

(b) Hong Kong income tax

(c)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided
for at the rate of 16.5% as the Group’s Hong Kong entity
sustained a loss for taxation purposes.

The PRC corporate income tax

No provision for Mainland China corporate income tax has
been provided for at a rate of 25% pursuant to the Corporate
Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “CIT Law”) and the
respective regulations, as the Group’s PRC entities sustained a
loss for taxation purposes.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

8.

2024 2023
20245 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
12,874 8,660
32,569 31,633
8,121 8,411
40,690 40,044
2,240 2,150
998 1,107
10,807 -
14,167 4,503

mEBBERTPHAES

AEEAGREK B ARZMREEREREEER
& FTELE RS HBREREEZMAEH -

(a) BEHEFEH

ARAIRIEFRERARVENRS S MK
UREREBRAR -

MSEBYE|AAEH - At - ARRHE
MREREER SRS DABMENMS
B e

(b) ZBFF#

(c)

BHRARENBEERARIENE RZE
18 I EZ16.5%M B REHEE B G
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mAREEMNTEEREAREN S XZE
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. HMEBBERPHFEH(E)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(CONTINUED)
(d) EHIH
AEEARE—BEFRLERD i

AR R FR BB E L TR X 10 %4
BB

(d) Withholding tax

The Group is subject to withholding tax on income from
exclusive distribution rights granted to a customer based on a
withholding tax rate of 10% under the tax law in Korea.

(e) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (e) e RERAOBURSE :

represents:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Current tax — Overseas BNERRIE — 8ok = 550

(f) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at () #EmxmesFRRERRRENY

applicable tax rates: B :
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE (237,493) (384,488)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, BRATSIENREREBERAEER
calculated at the rates applicable to EEMEAMEATE)
losses in jurisdictions concerned (53,409) (93,506)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A 35T X T S 52 22 4,405 3,058
Tax effect of non-taxable income HERBRMAN T B (5,088) (1,596)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized FRIERHIEEIBRIFETE 81,187 120,806
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERH AR S R NS 2
differences not recognized 701 168
Tax effect of super deduction for TR F ST ANETHIBR TR S R 2 (P 3E)
research and development expenses
(note) (27,796) (28,930)
Withholding tax EEE - 550
- 550
Note: According to the CIT Law, an additional 100% of qualified MiGE : RBGEMSHE - m20214181H

o JERR B T EE SR 100% HO 7
BRI FRE LR -

research and development expenses incurred is allowed to be
deducted from taxable income effective from January 1, 2021.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. HMEBBERPHFEH(E)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(CONTINUED)

(9) Deferred tax assets not recognized (9) KRERREALS EEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(q), RRBMIEE2(q) T & 5T HUR - AR
the Group has not recognized any deferred tax assets in FATEE R ECHEEE

respect of the following items:

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR AREFT
Tax losses BIEEE 1,813,225 1,456,638
Deductible temporary differences AR E R =R 7,050 4,248
1,820,275 1,460,886
It is not probable that future taxable profits against which the HEABE A EEBERBEETAEES
tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilized SRR B ER B R A 4 2 PR A5 TE s 8 e AT 40
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. BE R ERE o
(h) Deductible losses that are not recognized as deferred tax assets (h) RwERBEERIEEEN TR ESE
will be expired as follows: BT -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ANERBFIT
2025 2025% 119,002 119,002
2026 20264 294,696 294,696
2027 2027 400,263 400,263
2028 20284 419,927 419,927
2029 20294 262,936 -
Do not expire under current tax WG A T T2 5 H

legislation 316,401 222,750
1,813,225 1,456,638
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Notes to the Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS 9.

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
are as follows:

ESME

RIBEEBRAEDIE383(1)ER AT (KRESF
NEERDROIRENEEHSOT

2024
20245

000

130

Salaries,
allowances
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary
fees in kind bonuses
e EER
Eshe BNEH MiETEA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’
AR¥TTT AR¥TT AR¥ETT
Executive directors HITES
- Dr. Li Xiaoyi —ZNREL 7,155 3,
- Mr. Dai Xiangrong ~HRELE 1,280

Non-executive Directors F#H{TES
- Ms. Leelalertsuphakun —FEp T
Wanee
- Mr. Chen Yu (resigned on  —BRF 54 (72202445

8 April, 2024) 4A8AEIT)
- Ms. Tiantian Zhang —RiftE L
Independent Non- BYKHITES
executive Directors
- Mr. Wong Hin Wing —-EBETE
- Prof. Lo Yuk Lam —ESMHE
- Mr. Liew Fui Kiang e dytd

644

Retirement
scheme
contributions

BIRGHBIE
RMB’000
ARETR

599

B %5 SR T

Share-based
payments Total

DY il
REBHHAR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT AR¥TTT

3,033 13,917
562 2,486
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9. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS 9. EEME(E)
(CONTINUED)
2023
2023%F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme  Share-based
fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments Total
e 2R VAR5
EE2kn ENEH WIEEA  RIGTEIEER  REROM st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
Executive directors HTEE
- Dr. Li Xiaoyi —FRET - 6,980 3,072 584 6,718 17,354
- Mr. Dai Xiangrong Dk - 653 163 - 1,001 1,817

Non-executive Directors J#{T&8%

- Ms. Leelalertsuphakun —ZFERLT
Wanee 272 - - - 150 422
- Ms. Cai Li (resigned on — Bt (7120235
November 27, 2023) 1179278EH) - - - - - -
- Mr. Chen Yu -BFEE - - - - - -
- Ms. Tiantian Zhang — Rttt 272 - - - 150 422
Independent Non- BIFHTES
executive Directors
- Mr. Wong Hin Wing -BRERE 272 - - - 150 422
- Prof. Lo Yuk Lam —ESHHE 272 - - - 150 422
- Mr. Liew Fui Kiang —BIEREE 272 - - - 150 422
1,360 7,633 3,235 584 8,469 21,281
Note: There was no payment to any of the directors or the individuals with et - AEIE2024F 22023F12A318 ILFE - 1
highest emoluments (as disclosed in note 10) as an inducement to join EREREEN&ESME AL (K 10ATHEE)
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any office SATEARIFRIR - YER DA SRR DA 55 B 5 i) 58
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Bhsl e R BRI E -
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10.INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST

EMOLUMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023:
one) of them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2023:

four) individuals are as follows:

B %5 SR T

10. 55 AL

ERamsMEALd  MA(20235F - —F)
REF - EMSRIEoRE - He4=4(2023
FmBR) AL AN T

2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Salaries and other emoluments
Discretionary bonuses
Share-based payments
Retirement scheme contributions

e hEMME
BB FEAT

VARRA BT B9 1R
RORFT BN

6,869 9,994
867 1,949
2,473 6,355
34 16

10,243 18,314

The emoluments of the three (2023: four) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following bands:

=#(2023%F : mR)&RHHEALHOBEER A
TEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

A¥” A8

HK$3,000,001 - HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 - HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 - HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 - HK$5,000,000
HK$8,000,001 - HK$8,500,000

3,000,001 7% 3,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001% 72%24,000,000/% 7T
4,000,0017% 7L %4,500,0007% 7T
4,500,001 7T.%5,000,0005% 7T
8,000,001 72%8,500,000/% 7T

N

[y

[ury
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

11.LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB237,493,000 (2023: RMB385,038,000) and the weighted
average of 546,139,172 ordinary shares (2023: 543,922,707
ordinary shares) in issue during the year calculated as follows:

11. 8REE

(a) BREFEE

BRERNEEDIEFRANRNAR L @EE
R ELE1E AR 237,493,000
(2023% : AR#385,038,0007T) &%
17 % AR N4 19 £546,139,172 8%
(20234 : 543,922,707/ & T

Issued ordinary shares at the FUEBTTAER
beginning of the year

Effect of shares issued related to
equity-settled share-based

transactions

BT TR

ARz A E AR ) RER N 5

Weighted average number of ordinary &R @A IEFHE
shares at the end of the year

2024 2023

20244 20234
Number of Number of
shares shares
RHEEE 8B
546,139,172 543,843,992
78,715

546,139,172 543,922,707

(b) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, as all of the
potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A T

(b) B/ #EERE

HRFBEELE BRI AEREFTTE
WE E 20244 % 2023F12 A318 IF4F
EnEREEEEREGRERGIERR -



12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

Notes to the Financial Statements

B R SRR o

12.9%¥ - BEKRRZRE
(a) FRE 2 EERE R

Furniture,
Properties Machinery fixture and
leased for Leasehold and office Motor  Construction
own use improvements equipment equipment vehicle in progress Total
HE EEZE
BREENE HEMRER BRRRE RBAZRE KBEH TRIR b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT AREFT ARETFT ARETT ARBTT
Cost: A
At January 1, 2023 #2023%1A18 55,376 7,377 199,959 7,583 1,011 61,417 332,723
Exchange adjustments B 5 A 67 84 - 45 12 - 208
Additions AE 3,742 - 1,701 579 395 24,279 30,696
Transfer from construction BESERETRE
in progress - - 52,996 318 - (53,314) -
Disposals st (1,227) - - - - - (1,227)
At December 31, 2023 and 72023%12A318 kK
January 1, 2024 20244151 57,958 7,461 254,656 8,525 1,418 32,382 362,400
Exchange adjustments B 5 AR 153 111 - 60 15 - 339
Additions RE 2,845 1 2,520 52 - 5,384 10,802
Transfer from construction BESEETRE
in progress - - 16,738 265 - (17,003) -
Disposals e (177) - (4,354) (87) - - (4,618)
At December 31,2024 #2024%12f318 60,779 7,573 269,560 8,815 1,433 20,763 368,923
Accumulated 2iE:
depreciation:
At January 1, 2023 2023%1A18 23,386 2,902 68,052 4,174 466 - 98,980
Exchange adjustments B 5 48 29 - 15 4 - 9%
Charge for the year FRYE 8,406 1,058 29,084 1,167 329 - 40,044
Written back on disposals ~ FHEREE (368) - - - - - (368)
At December 31, 2023 and #2023512A318 %
eyt WUERA I S T S 1
Exchange adjustments ] 102 70 - 38 11 - 221
Charge for the year FREH 8,121 1,062 30,169 1,057 281 - 40,690
Written back on disposals i EFEE (177) - (2,613) (87) - - (2,877)
AtDecember31,2024 ~ R204F12A31A 9518 sl e 6364 Lt . 176,786 _ ®
Net book value: REFE: \
At December 31, 2024 12024%12A31H 21,261 2,452 144,868 2,451 342 20,763 192,137 “
At December 31, 2023 7#2023%12A31H 26,486 3,472 157,520 3,169 619 32,382 223,648
5
i
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 9% - BMERRE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EFEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by RIEEEERE S MERELEERTDF
class of underlying asset is as follows: BEAT :
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Properties leased for own use, carried HERMAEWE  ZITERAYIIR (M)
at depreciated cost (note) 21,261 26,486
Note:  The Group has obtained the right to use properties as its MizE: AEBZBREHERGEERMEA
buildings for its research and development, offices and staff EHE  MAEREIBESEFTOR
quarters through tenancy agreements. The leases typically M- HENVHEHBEER2E10F -
run for an initial period of two to ten years. None of the leases HEM TS ERENR -

includes variable lease payments.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognized HHEENESERN T EBEE ST T ¢
in profit or loss is as follows:

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use RAEEERREI S NFEREEETES
assets by class of underlying asset A (EE7(c)) -
(note 7(c)):

Properties leased for own use EREEmE 8,406
Furniture, fixture and office equipment XE& - BEIEH B M AEERE 5

8,411
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7(a)) MEBEFE(MHiE7(a)) 1,756
Expenses relating to short-term lease AEEHHESHES 586
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 9% - BERRE(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (b) EAELE &)
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were FRNRBEGAEAEARE2,845,0007T
RMB2,845,000 (2023: RMB3,742,000). This amount primarily (20234F : AR¥3,742,00070) ° &
related to the capitalized lease payments payable under new HXZERBEFHERZAENNEERE
tenancy agreements. AHEENHKER -
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity HERSRHEBEREESEIBMAON
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 18(c) and 23 BIEFIBE D BIEAMIEL8(c) k23 °

respectively.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment including right- PREECAEEAEEANDE  BER&E
of-use assets has been charged to the consolidated statement MEERGEBERIBAT

of profit or loss as follows:

2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Research and development expenses 2RI 36,003
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168

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. B EE
In-licensed Distribution
Patents rights Software rights Total
=3 SIS B DEHRE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note (b)) (Note (c))
(F37E (b)) (&£ (c))
Cost: BA:
At January 1, 2023 #2023F1A1H 25,652 277,100 41,515 1,384 345,651
Exchange adjustments B 5 % - 6,564 1,141 39 7,744
Additions wE - 33,597 6,335 18,868 58,800
At December 31, 2023 and #2023F12A318%

January 1, 2024 2024F1 718 25,652 317,261 48,991 20,291 412,195
Exchange adjustments B 5 AR - 9,845 1,594 51 11,490
Additions NE - 14,414 690 18,868 33,972
AtDecember 31,2024 R2024%12A31R 25652 34150 2275 39,210 457,657
Accumulated amortization and R EBHERAESE

impairment loss:

At January 1, 2023 #2023F1A1H 10,732 - 296 - 11,028
Exchange adjustments i 5 A% - - 44 - 44
Charge for the year FAZH 2,044 - 6,616 - 8,660
At December 31, 2023 and #2023F12A318%

January 1, 2024 2024F1A1H 12,776 - 6,956 - 19,732
Exchange adjustments ke - 248 441 2 691
Charge for the year FRZH 2,044 - 9,535 1,295 12,874
Impairment loss REEE - 10,807 - - 10,807
AtDecember31,2024 ~ W204F12A31F 14820 1,055 . 16932 1,297 . 44,104
Net book value: BREHE
At December 31, 2024 #2024F12A318 10,832 330,465 34,343 37,913 413,553
At December 31, 2023 #2023F12A31H 12,876 317,261 42,035 20,291 392,463

(a) Amortization of intangible assets has been charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

(a) svaEgEHENEABRRNBNT

2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT

Research and development expenses

i E R

1,006
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B &EE (&)

. . N N
(b) In-licensed rights (b) S/

BRIMOCHOL™

PF and
TABO14 1C-265 NVKOO2  PAN-90806 NTCO14 NTCO10  ResolvER CARBACHOLPF Total

BRIMOCHOL™

PFR
TABO14 1C-265 NVK002  PAN-90806 NTCO14 NTCO10  ResolvER CARBACHOLPF i
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB00O
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT

Note (i) Note (ii) Note (i) Note (iv) Note (v) Note (v) Note (vi) Note (vii)

() G20 (i) Hi(iv) HE(Y) () HsE(vi) T vi)

Cost of in-license rights  ZIEHFHERK

At January 1, 2023 #2023%171A 52,358 10,378 68,767 2,079 3,330 749% 6,877 103,815 277,100
Exchange adjustments  EX % - 29 2,076 758 9% 12 193 2,937 6,564
Additions #1 - - 21,219 12,378 - - - - 33,597
AtDecember 31,2023 12023%12A31A 52,358 10,672 92,062 37,215 342 7,708 7,070 106,752 317,261
At January 1, 2024 202451518 92,062 37,215 7,070 106,752 317,261
Exchange adjustments  [E5 5% 383 3,307 1,337 255 4,165 9,845
Additions 10 - - - - 14,414 14,414
At December 31,2024 12024512A31A 52,358 11,055 95,369 38,552 7,325 125331 341,520

SHERFHENESRIE RIS = 7 ISR
B I B O R B e m AL R R AR A
B EARRHEER - ARAEBRTES
ENEEEN - BB RN EELRE
LER AZRFAELESZRERRT
B ZEFANIEGRREIIOT

The balance of in-licensed rights represent payments made
to acquire development and commercialization rights of
ophthalmic drugs and products from third parties and are
not available for use. Due to the inherent uncertainties in
the research and development processes, these assets are
particularly at risk of impairment if the project is not expected
to result in @ commercialized product. Key terms of these
licenses are set out below:

(i) License agreements with TOT BIOPHARM (i) ERBEERMDERAAE
International Company Limited (“"TOT (MREBZEZE |) 3T ML AVEF A 15

BIOPHARM") E
On January 5, 2017, Zhaoke Guangzhou entered into a M2017F1A5H « JKERIEMER
license agreement with TOT BIOPHARM, a China-based RuX(—BBRORHEZEAFTEY
biopharmaceutical company dedicated to developing and BYRBEETEERELRERE
commercializing innovative biological drugs and therapies BHARSAAR AR LETHF

and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
for licensing TABO14 bio-pharmaceutical know-how for
development and commercialization for a period of 10
years in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. TAB014
is an ophthalmic formulation of bevacizumab for the
treatment of retinal neovascularisation, such as wet age-
related macular degeneration ("wAMD").

EYRIBENTE]) RIS A A - A
BRETPEARE - &5 KRPME
LR TABO14E MR EEH
fi » AEI104F - TABO142 Bk 2
MR BRBIRE - ARa G EEN
B PIIRMEEFE SRR
(TWAMD ) -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

()

License agreements with TOT BIOPHARM
International Company Limited (“"TOT
BIOPHARM”) (Continued)

Zhaoke Guangzhou made the non-refundable upfront
payment of RMB8,400,000 and the first milestone
payment of RMB8,400,000 upon signing of the
license agreement and obtaining Investigational New
Drug approval respectively during the year ended
December 31, 2017. Zhaoke Guangzhou made the
second milestone payment of RMB6,300,000 for
execution of Phase II clinical trial during the year ended
December 31, 2020. Zhaoke Guangzhou made the first
development milestone payment of RMB8,400,000 upon
first patient enroliment of Phase III clinical trial and
the first and second commercial milestone payment
of RMB16,000,000 and RMB8,000,000 upon signing
of the supplemental license agreement and obtaining
the National Medical Products Administration approval
respectively during the year ended December 31, 2022.
Zhaoke Guangzhou is also obliged to make certain
payments upon the achievement of certain development
milestones, certain commercial milestones and royalty
payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net
sales of the products in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Macau.

On March 1, 2022, Zhaoke Guangzhou finalized a
supplemental license agreement with TOT BIOPHARM,
pursuant to which Zhaoke Guangzhou will have full
control and responsibility in the execution of clinical
trials and the ultimate decision-making power in
the development and commercialization of TABO14
in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. Zhaoke
Guangzhou is also given the right of developing TAB014
for other ophthalmic indications besides wAMD or novel
formulations for ophthalmic indications. Pursuant to the
supplemental agreement, in light of the adjustment to
the mode of collaboration, the payment schedule of the
commercialization milestone payments has also been
adjusted accordingly such that it is primarily linked to
the regulatory approval progress of TAB014, while the
total milestone payment amount remains the same as
that in the original agreement signed on January 5,
2017.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

13. B E&E (&)
(b) SIEFFHFEE

()

HERBHEERDARAF
(ISREBZEZE |)R] M YR T 156
= (E)

REE2017F 12 A31 B It F
o KBIEM D BIERRT A
HMRESHERKRARB B
HEREIATTREENRARE
8,400,0007T & B2 B2 A
R #8,400,0007T » & £2020
F12A31HIEFE - KREMN A
ETEIBEREARABRINE =28
RS 3k A R 6,300,000 7T °
REZE2022F12A31HIFEE -
KBIEMRBIISHERABNE
LEREANEBINE—EHREE
288 1 7 A 2 % 8,400,000 7T -
INEDBIESETHAT I HER
ESHRREREBEETERMER
TNEERE - EgEaREA
A R#16,000,0007T & AR
8,000,0007T » JKEHEIMN IR E &K
FERETHRERMEPEER
MBS NETRE  URIBEEH
EREFPEARE - &8 KRFINF
HEEERERNSTEEAEXR
S EEEERE -

R202243 718 - kRIEMER
BEEEZE—HERTUIHBE
Bt o KRB S E /7 TABO14
WERSBHEEE2mEHERE
I WHTABO14HFIEE RAER B
R EA RRRERE - KRHE
M IR 15 5k wAMD JA 98 E b R R
EEERI 2 TABO 14 st IR RLE e
FEFA T AT BE 5 BRI - AR
ik - HREESEEAELFAE -
MR BREN RN RERE
MEMAERE  BEREREENR
TABO14MEE R EEEY - m
BRI HEEEN2017F1A5
AEFIRIBZEYE— -



Notes to the Financial Statements

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

License agreement with IACTA
Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("IACTA")

On July 24, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with IACTA, a US-based
ophthalmology-focused pharmaceutical company
developing drugs with novel mechanisms of action that
treat diseases in areas of significant unmet medical
need, to acquire the exclusive rights to IC-265 for dry
eye and IC-270 for allergic conjunctivitis (i.e. “Licensed
know-how"”) for development and commercialization
for a period of 10 years in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable
upfront payment of US$1,500,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,391,000) during the year ended December 31,
2020. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also obliged to make certain
payments upon the achievement of specific development
milestones, commercial milestones and royalty payments
based on net sales of the products in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian
countries.

License agreement with Nevakar, Inc.
(“Nevakar”)

On October 19, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with Nevakar, a US-based
biopharmaceutical company developing multiple
innovative medications in the ophthalmic and hospital
injectable areas, for the exclusive rights to develop,
manufacture and commercialize NVK002, a novel topical
eye treatment for slowing the progression of myopia
in children, for a period of 15 years in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South
East Asian countries.

B R SRR o

13. B E&E (&)
(b) 5% E

(ii) BEIACTA

Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(TTIACTA D RT M WIFF I s

N2020%F7 F248 - kRIFHH
IACTA(— I E TR R Y r) = 5
BBNF AREERERERROE
R BB J7 7 B EL ST 70 4/ P A ) )
W) RIS RF Al e AIREB A&
ARIEAIC-265 R AR BRI AL
HIC-2700 B RER (BN EHiEEA
BAfr)) « MR BEARE - B8 - B
P - AERREEERRAEREE
1t BHI10% -

MREZE2020F12A31HIEFE -
KM BB A RREENK
1,500,000 & T (HHE RN AR
10,391,0007T) * JKHEE AR
BEERETAEHEERELE
KERBMBEINE TR - URR
FERERETRARE  FE R
Fl BBEREEERAFHER
SNEFRFREERE o

& Nevakar, Inc.
(TNevakar ) 5T Z FVEF A
&

H2020F 108198 » KB&HEFE
fNevakar(—E 4 PRAER -
HELERA LB AL A
BN EYR SN R]) ] SLFF AT 1
AR EARRE S R
P A% BMEEKEEDERRA
B 2L R ENVK002 (—7&
I8 R ERRIRA A SN AR ED
BR)BEREN - BHEILSF -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(iii) License agreement with Nevakar, Inc.

(iv)

(“Nevakar”) (Continued)

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable
upfront payment of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB68,828,000) during the year ended December 31,
2020. Zhaoke Hong Kong made the milestone payment
of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to RMB21,219,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2023. Zhaoke Hong
Kong is also obliged to make certain payments upon
the achievement of specific development milestones,
commercial milestones and royalty payments based on
net sales of the products in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South East Asian
countries.

License agreement with PanOptica, Inc.
(\\PANI')

On December 15, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with PAN, a US-based
ophthalmology-focused pharmaceutical company
developing a topical eye drop for the treatment of
sight-threatening eye diseases caused by abnormal or
leaky blood vessels, for the exclusive rights to develop,
manufacture and commercialize PAN-90806, a wAMD
solution, for a period of 10 years in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South
East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made an upfront payment of
US$3,500,000 (equivalent to RMB24,101,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2020. Zhaoke Hong
Kong made the first development milestone payment of
US$1,750,000 (equivalent to RMB12,378,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2023. Zhaoke Hong
Kong is also obliged to make certain payments upon
the achievement of specific development milestones,
commercial milestones and royalty payments based on
net sales of the products in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South East Asian
countries.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

13. B E&E (&)
(b) SIEFFHFEE

(iii)

(iv)

&Nevakar, Inc.
(TNevakar )R] ZH9EF A
W= (&)

NEZE2020F12 A31EIFFE -
KEEBEZNTARBEMNK
10,000,000 7t (HHE R AR
68,828,0007T) ° RE E20234F
12A31BIEFE - KBEEEX
2 325% 4 53,000,000 3 5T (48
ERAR®21,219,000T) ° ¥k
MEBTAERBIEERSE T RER
BHERELRAEEREESNET
FIE URBEEBEREREK
BE- &R A BERR
MARERAFHEE ST RE
A% -

E2PanOptica, Inc.
(TPAN 1) 3T 3 W9 F T 1753

H20204F 12 A15H © KEIEH
HIPAN( —FE4ASERAER - Bix
RELEEYMEENE - EARER
% £ 5 sk 5| BeE R AR
Z K BRI 1 B3 — TSN R R
W) RTSLAF AT Hpadk  AEEREFRER
B BB BRPY A BERER
IR - BiE R E(LPAN-
90806 (—FEWAMDEER T &) H) 18
KAEF) - BHAL0F -

REZE2020F12A31HIFEE -
KRR BB 24 7814503,500,000
Zt(HE N AR 24,101,000
JT) c B E2023F 12 A31H 1k
FE - KNBEBCEINEEFREE
2R 51,750,000 7T (FEE H
ARR#12,378,0007T) « KEIEE
B EBTERS TABMAEER
MR EERREINETHE -
ARIBIEEBEERTREKE &
R RS EREKEEDE
REFHERE T RrRERE -
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13. B E&E (&)
(b) SIEFFHFEE

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(v) License agreements with NTC S.r.l. (v) EENTC S.r..([NTC|)sT3Z

(“NTC”)

Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into a license agreement
with NTC, an Italy-based pharmaceutical company
specialized in developing innovative therapeutic solutions
in the areas of drugs, nutraceuticals and medical
devices, to acquire the exclusive rights to NTC014
for the indication of moderate-to-severe bacterial
conjunctivitis and NTC010 for the prevention and
treatment of inflammation and inflection associated with
cataract surgery for development and commercialization
in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and the
South East Asian countries.

NTCO014

On December 31, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a license agreement with NTC for licensing NTC014 for
development and commercialization for a period of 12
years in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and
the South East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable upfront
payment of EUR400,000 (equivalent to RMB3,109,000)
during the year ended December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong
Kong is also obliged to make certain payments upon the
achievement of specific development milestones and
commercial milestones.

NTCO010

On February 15, 2021, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a license agreement with NTC for licensing NTC010 for
development and commercialization in Mainland China.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made the non-refundable upfront
payment of EUR300,000 (equivalent to RMB2,333,000)
and the first milestone payment of EUR600,000
(equivalent to RMB4,666,000) upon signing of the
license agreement and obtaining Investigational New
Drug approval respectively during the year ended
December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also obliged
to make certain payments upon the achievement
of specific development milestones and commercial
milestones.

B 7 0 o

KRB EBENTC(— AR E
AMBLENR] - EFIRELEY)
EEREDREEERBENAI
BRF R )T F A HhaE - A
BEREREARE - &5 B9 A
ERREEERAEEEE AR
SAETREEAE AR EEED
NTCO14 & AR TER) KJaE B NFE
FHT BRI R EAHNTCO108)
BRIEF o

NTCO014

720209128318 « kI EHH
NTCEI 77 A #pa + SATEERFE R
KEE -~ B RPY - AERERE
BRI R ENTCO14H 75 A
¥ BEI12F o

REZE2021F 12 A31 B It F
B KRBEAEINAARER
$50400,000B 7T (FHE R ARYE
3,109,0007t) - KB BAMAE
BEERE TRAEREERERYE
¥ERMEINETRE-

NTCO010

R20214F2H158 » kB EFEE
NTCEI 7 A #pa + SAEERFE R
ABEFEE R A (ENTCOL0K) 7 AT
o

REE2021F12A31HIFFE -
JKRIE 5 BITE 25 5T 7 Al fpad Mo
BBEERABRBBIERIAT
AR 32 A1 300,000 T (A8 E
MARM2,333,0000T) REEE
212 {43 600,000 8 7T (FHE R A
R#4,666,0007T) ° JKEIE B IR
BEBEERETABREERR
REERRBEINETHRE -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(vi) License agreement with KATO

(vii)

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("KATO")

On May 31, 2021, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a license agreement with KATO, a US-based clinical
stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to the
development of novel therapies for pathologies of
the eye with an emphasis on unmet medical needs,
for licensing KATO patent rights for development and
commercialization in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau
and the South East Asian countries. KATO patent rights is
an intravitreal injection of liposome-loaded urea for the
treatment of vitreomacular traction.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made the non-refundable upfront
payment of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB6,421,000)
upon signing of the license agreement during the year
ended December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also
obliged to make certain payments upon the achievement
of certain development milestones, certain commercial
milestones and royalty payments at the applicable
royalty rates based on net sales of the products in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and the South East
Asian countries.

License agreement with Tenpoint
Therapeutics Limited ("Tenpoint”)

On May 6, 2022, the Company entered into a license
agreement with Tenpoint, a US-based clinical-stage
pharmaceutical company focused on developing
innovative ophthalmic therapies to improve vision,
to acquire the exclusive rights to BRIMOCHOL™ PF
and CARBACHOL PF for correction of the loss of near
vision associated with presbyopia for development and
commercialization for a period of 10 years in Mainland
China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the
South East Asian countries.

On February 24, 2024, the Company finalized a
supplemental license agreement with Tenpoint, pursuant
to which the commercialization territory will be further
expanded to Australia, New Zealand and certain Middle
East Countries.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

13. B E&E (&)
(b) SIEFFHFEE

(vi) EKATO

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(TKATO )R] M I Al {65

MA2021F5H318 » kRIFHH
KATO(— R R EG R ER IR B A2
PBBENT] XN ERFAEGTE
B2 2 5 SRR O 19 BR B0 E 2 E0% )
M AR e AEEEFREK
e BE  RFIR R D ERMAE
K P AL KATO BRI FF AT 4E o
KATOSE FiE A — B8 R ir E 8 IR
EHEBRENE Y - BRA
BRI DIShE -

REE2021F12A31HIFEE -
KRB BERB Al b
7] 3R $E 78 {4 31,000,000 & 7T
(FHENARK6,421,0007T) °
KB BEBNBEBKTENSE TH
LEREBEREERREAINET
FIE ARBREBEEBEREPEK
B B/E RFIREMDEROF
HEEEREANSECAER
SRS -

(vii) E2Tenpoint

Therapeutics Limited
(TTenpoint)sT X KIFF A
tih i

H2022F586H © AR A HE
Tenpoint ( — i Bz 1A Be IR B B 19 3
BN T]  BIREERERS
R B FTER BHEE ) 5T S 77 A h ik
VAEERFE R B KB « B/~ RPT -
B BMEERRETEERBAERE
EARBERZICRMBTLAR
§E B 48 /1 ®) BRIMOCHOL™ PF %
CARBACHOL PFRIBZIER - A
HI10%F ©

202428248 F ARFH
Tenpoint % & 50 7T 7l i - &
It BECREAGE - TRAER
M B R ETHRER o



Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

13. B E&E (&)
(b) SIEFFHFEE

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(vii) License agreement with Tenpoint (vii) EETenpoint

Therapeutics Limited ("Tenpoint”)
(Continued)

The Company made a non-refundable upfront payment
of US$15,000,000 (equivalent to RMB100,862,000)
during the year ended December 31, 2022. The
Company made the development milestone payments
of US$2,000,000 (equivalent to RMB14,414,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company
is also obliged to make certain payments upon the
achievement of specific development milestones,
regulatory milestones, commercial milestones, sales-
driven milestones and royalty payments based on net
sales of the products in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan, South Korea, the South East Asian
countries, Australia, New Zealand and certain Middle
East Countries.

(viii) Impairment test

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, all in-licensed
rights were not ready for use and the Group continues
the underlying research and development activities.
As such, they are subject to annual impairment tests
based on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit ("CGU") to which the intangible assets are related,
which is at the product level. Management determined
the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU using the
value in use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on management’s expectations of
timing of commercialization and revenue growth rates of
the drugs over the license period of individual in-licensed
rights. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the
fair value measurement hierarchy due to unobservable
inputs used in the valuation.

With the assistance of an external appraiser,
management determined the recoverable amount of the
in-licensed rights based on the following approach and
the key assumptions:

- The revenue growth rates were based on the
expected market penetration rate and selling
conditions considering the features of marketing
and technology development; and

- The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

(viii)

Therapeutics Limited
(Tenpoint|) 5] Z WEF®
ELG

REE20224 12 A31 8 It 4
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15,000,000 T (FHE R AR
100,862,000t ) » A & %2024
F12A31HLEFE - ARAEIEX
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R FSHE RS R ERE -
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It HEARBEEVEELERE
EHENBRSESSEMNN A KE
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(viii) Impairment test (Continued)

13. B EE (&)
(b) 5% (&)

(viii) RE R ()

The key assumptions used for calculation of value-in-use 72024 F 2023912 A318 -
of individual in-licensed rights as at December 31, 2024 AR E R @S EATER
and 2023 are as follows: FTEBBOT
TABO14 TABO14
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Pre-tax discount rate TATALIR & 25% 28%
Expected revenue growth rate TER G RE 11%~318% 0%~274%
Recoverable amount of CGU e EABROA B EEE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥EFT) 526,305 283,879
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBMNRESE
(in RMB’000) (AR®EFIT) 52,358 52,358
IC-265 IC-265
2024 2023
20244 2023F
Pre-tax discount rate THAIBLIR = 28% 29%
Expected revenue growth rate FAR S R -10%~39% 0%~877%
Recoverable amount of CGU REELBEMMATRESEHE
(in RMB’000) (AR®TFT) 81,397
Carrying amount of CGU REEFBMNRMSHE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥ETFT) 10,672

During the year ended December 31, 2024, an
impairment loss of RMB10,807,000 (2023: Nil) was
recognized as other operating expenses for IC-265. The
recoverable amount of this CGU was assessed to be
zero, as management determined that the related R&D
activities would be put on hold without any concrete plan
to resume the R&D activities in the foreseeable future,
resulting in delays in both the R&D process and revenue
generation from this CGU.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A T
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ISR &R M5

13. B E&E (&)
(b) 5% (&)

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(viii) Impairment test (Continued) (viii) F{ERI ()

NVK002 NVK002
2024 2023
202445 2023%F
Pre-tax discount rate TiRTREER & 26% 27%
Expected revenue growth rate TEE g R -21%~76% -5%~81%
Recoverable amount of CGU ReEEBMNAIKEETE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥ETT) 1,478,374 1,155,183
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBEMUNKREESHE
(in RMB’000) (ARETT) 95,369 92,062
PAN-90806 PAN-90806
2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
Pre-tax discount rate TARLIR = 29% 31%
Expected revenue growth rate FRA g R -4%~281% -4%~281%
Recoverable amount of CGU WBEELBEMMATRESE
(in RMB’000) (AREFT) 721,110 397,017
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBMNRESE
(in RMB’000) (AR®EFT) 38,552 37,215
NTCO014 NTCO014
2024 2023
20245 20234
Pre-tax discount rate FHATRLIR = 28% 27%
Expected revenue growth rate TEE SRR 0%~82% 0%~82%
Recoverable amount of CGU HeEEBAHIKESE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥EFT) 19,113 44,585
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBEUNEmeE
(in RMB’000) (AREFT) 3,545 3,424
NTCO10 NTCO10
2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
Pre-tax discount rate BIRTALIR & 25% 26%
Expected revenue growth rate TEE I R K 1%n~120% 8%~140%
Recoverable amount of CGU REELBEMMATRE S
(in RMB’000) (AREFT) 36,854 42,848
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBMNRESE
(in RMB’000) (AR®EFT) 7,985 7,708
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued) (b) 5/E457FHE (4E)
(viii) Impairment test (Continued) (viii) RERE (&)
Resolv ER Resolv ER
2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
Pre-tax discount rate FAIRLIR =X 29% 30%
Expected revenue growth rate FRA S R -4%~14% -4%~24%
Recoverable amount of CGU ReEEBEMMATIRESE
(in RMB’000) (AR#BFT) 28,696 23,601
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBMNRESE
(in RMB’000) (ARETT) 7,325 7,070
BRIMOCHOL™ PF and CARBACHOL PF BRIMOCHOL™ PF)
CARBACHOL PF
2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
Pre-tax discount rate BIRTALIR & 26% 27%
Expected revenue growth rate TEHA U I R R 1%~226% 1%~234%
Recoverable amount of CGU REELEBMMATIRE S
(in RMB’000) (AR®EFIT) 234,081 143,294
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBEUNERESHE
(in RMB’000) (ARHBFT) 125,331 106,752
Except for IC-265, based on the result of impairment BRIC-265%5 » R E T fH a4
assessments, there was no impairment on other CGUs as R R2024%F 2 2023F12A31
at December 31, 2024 and 2023. A HitReEEBMRELRR

{H o
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ISR &R M5

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued) (b) 5/E457FHE (4E)
(viii) Impairment test (Continued) (viii) F{ERI ()

Impairment test - sensitivity SR B A — BRE
The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing REEBIBAERE EMMEHRER
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of FHRERT © D RIS AT R
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for = 1%k T8 B 5P 1E 5% (M E A
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible ErTErFEENKRRSENETER
assets, with all other variables held constant. The R)ETHRENS HEREE
impacts on the amount by which the intangible asset’s el EBEERTD S EASEE
recoverable amount above their carrying amount (BETEDT :

(headroom) are as below:

TABO14 TABO14
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Headroom 11 473,947 231,521
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHAMRERNTE
discount rate (31,895) (21,783)
Impact by decreasing expected FETEAI =&
revenue (26,677) (15,322)
IC-265 IC-265
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT
Headroom ] N/ATREMA 70,725
Impact by increasing pre-tax RERAREENEE
discount rate N/ATEHR (8,377)
Impact by decreasing expected FETE R R 2
revenue N/ATIER (4,180) . e
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued) (b) 5/E457FHE (4E)

(viii) Impairment test (Continued) (viii) F{ERI ()

Impairment test - sensitivity (Continued)

JRLTE B — SRR ()

NVK002 NVK002
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFT
Headroom 1R 1,383,005 1,063,121
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHRRENTE
discount rate (142,923) (89,189)
Impact by decreasing expected [ 78 HR Uz ) R 2
revenue (85,245) (70,829)
PAN-90806 PAN-90806
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ANREBFIT
Headroom & 682,558 359,802
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHAMRERNTE
discount rate (60,464) (42,456)
Impact by decreasing expected FETERI N E
revenue (CE1-1-1:)) (26,586)
NTCO14 NTCO014
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFT
Headroom &E 15,568 41,161
Impact by increasing pre-tax REMARE R e
discount rate (2,986) (9,028)
Impact by decreasing expected &K TE Rz ) R 2
revenue (2,393) (8,484)
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ISR &R M5

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE(E)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued) (b) SI2E%5FE (&)
(viii) Impairment test (Continued) (viii) F{ERI ()
Impairment test - sensitivity (Continued) JR1EAER — SRR (4B
NTCO010 NTCO010
2024 2023
20234 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTFIT
Headroom iR 28,869 35,140
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHAMRENTE
discount rate (3,644) (8,112)
Impact by decreasing expected FHETEE I &
revenue (3,558) (7,803)
Resolv ER Resolv ER
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETT
Headroom EE 21,371 16,531
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHAMRENTE
discount rate (4,062) (3,409)
Impact by decreasing expected FETERI =&
revenue (2,433) (2,167)
BRIMOCHOL™ PF and CARBACHOL PF BRIMOCHOL™ PFk
CARBACHOL PF
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT
Headroom 1R 108,750 36,542
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHAMRENTE
discount rate (16,609) (15,091)
Impact by decreasing expected FETE R R R E
revenue (29,757) (11,390)
Considering there were still sufficient headroom based ERIETERINERENET -
on the assessments, management believes that a ERERAHEERSEESEMA
reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions WK El & BAKEBEOEMEZREL
on which management has based its determination of ARAEZETSESRESER
the CGUs’ recoverable amount would not cause their AR El SR o

carrying amount to exceed their recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR T ot

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(c) Distribution rights

(i)

(i)

Distribution agreement with C&V Tech,
Inc.

On October 4, 2022, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a distribution and supply agreement with C&V Tech,
Inc., a Korea-based medical device manufacturer
developing medical devices for the diagnosis, treatment,
and prevention of glaucoma, to acquire the exclusive
rights to TONO-i, an innovative tonometer designed
to be contactless, portable and self-measuring, for
registration, import, promotion, distribution, marketing
and selling for a period of 10 years in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable distribution
fee of US$200,000 (equivalent to RMB1,345,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2022.

As at December 31, 2023, the distribution rights were
still under preparation stage and were not ready for use.
As at December 31, 2024, the distribution rights are
ready for use upon completion of product testing in July
2024.

Distribution agreement with Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Company Limited
(“Lee’'s Pharm Hefei”)

On November 13, 2023, Zhaoke Guangzhou and Zhaoke
HK entered into a distribution and assets transfer
agreement with Lee’s Pharm Hefei, to acquire the
distribution right and associated assets of Eyprotor, a
ophthalmology drug for promoting the replacement and
utilization of glucose and oxygen by eye tissues and
cells.

Zhaoke Guangzhou made the first consideration
installment of RMB20,000,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2023. Zhaoke Guangzhou and Zhaoke HK
made the second and third consideration installments of
RMB20,000,000 and RMB10,000,000 respectively during
the year ended December 31, 2024. Zhaoke Guangzhou
and Zhaoke HK are also obliged to make further
consideration installment upon achievement of specific
sales milestone.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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Notes to the Financial Statements

14.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The
class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Place of

B R SRR o

14. A B A TR E

&
20

e

Betn

BIIHEAEEEE  BEXBEENTE
TR ABIFE - BIERBFI - BRI

BRI E B -

Proportion of ownership

incorporation/ interest
establishment Particulars of FERRERLLH
Name of company and business issued and paid up capital Direct Indirect Principal activity
FEMREL/ BILR
AREH e BRIRBERFHE HE BE  TEER
Zhaoke Hong Kong Hong Kong Hong Kong dollar ("HK$") 100% - Development of
10,000 ophthalmology products
KRIES BE 10,0007 70 BRI E MR
Zhaoke Guangzhou*#@ The PRC US$80,000,000 (note) - 100%  Development and
manufacturing of
ophthalmology drugs and
products
JKBIE N *e FE 80,000,000% T (Fi7E) HEREERNEYRER
Note: During the year ended December 31, 2023, Zhaoke Hong Kong injected fRE : AEZE2023F12A31ALFE - KREAEE
capital of US$30,000,000 for strengthening the capital base of Zhaoke #%30,000,000Z 7T AN ILFHE N 80 & A ELHE -
Guangzhou.
* KPMG are not the statutory auditors of this company. * A BRETEAZEEN IR S B S ST AN SIS -
# The company name in English is a direct translation of the registered “ FZARMBEN BB ATMP B BOEERZE -
Chinese name for the purpose of identification. EHER -
@ Registered under the laws of the PRC as a foreign investment enterprise. e BRI BEDEETMAINERERE -
‘€=
15.INVENTORIES 15. %8
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position (a) HFEMBURARFOGEERRE:

comprise:

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

REF#
R
BUpK

10,603 1,874
322 -
3,976 4,267

14,901 6,141
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ISR &R M5

15.INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 15. 775 ()
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognized as (b) RERAZ W AGEEBRNTESED
an expense and included in consolidated profit or loss is as T -
follows:

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFENRMSHE 13,352 4,503
Write down of inventories WoRIFE 815 -

14,167 4,503

16.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. E 5 & HAtb B U FIE

2024 2023
20245 2023%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B S REUGIE (k% EEEE) 1,379
Value-added tax recoverable AT B E R 7,345
Prepayments to suppliers TR R IR 52,770
Other receivables HAth EUGRIA 12,887
74,381
Represented by: Rk -
Non-current portion JERENE D 22,913
Current portion mENER D 51,468
74,381
Apart from the non-current portion disclosed above, all of the b XTI BERIERB DI - IEEME S R
other trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or E RS IETEE R — F R B S ER AR o

recognized as expense within one year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

16.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16.E 5 R HMEWRIEE)
(CONTINUED)
Ageing analysis R
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade RB|EER - BHRRGBEEREE B BRI
receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as EEREEOIRESTAT ¢
follows:
2023
20234
RMB’000
AR¥ETTT
Within 1 month 1EAA 1,381
1 to 2 months 1Z218A 667
2 to 3 months 2Z 31 A —*
Over 3 months but within 6 months HRB3ME AE61E A A 1,662
Over 6 months BiE6ME A -
3,710
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * EHeBEONAREL,0000T -
Trade receivables are due within 30-90 days from the date of billing. B HRMFIENFEHAE302908NEIE - A
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising AAEEE S EERIBEEEIR REERBRAE
from trade receivables are set out in note 27(a). — B ERITE27(a)
17.INVESTMENTS 17.1%&
2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Non-equity investments measured at FVTPL %A EF BIBETENIFERRE 69,467 -
Note: These investments represents United States 20-year treasury bonds. IEE : ZEREIREB20FEE -
L
18.CASH AND BANK BALANCES 18. R ERBITHEER
(a) cash and bank balances comprise: (a) BeRBrIEpeE
2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Cash at banks RITRS 1,121,005 1,461,623
Cash and cash equivalents in the RFEReRERNASLASEEY
consolidated statement of cash flows 1,121,005 1,461,623
Pledged bank balances (note) BIEIRIRTTAE R (I 5E) 356,295 265,658
Time deposits with original maturity RE B R BB =EANTEHEFER
over three months (3:3:} -
1,477,989 1,727,281
Note: As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, these bank balances were MaE © 20244 22023F12A318 » ZER
pledged to banks for banking facilities. THREBREIER T IRITAMGRITRE -
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ISR &R M5

18.CASH AND BANK BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising
from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

18. RERBITHER(E)

(b) BEZEFIELEEHE K

TRAMAEEREEZDIEEABHE
B BRReRIRSEH - METDH
§$ﬁ1 RESREBARKRSRENAK

EiFeReRnERFTHOERMETDR
ﬁmuiﬂ’]ﬁfﬁ"

Lease
Bank loans liabilities Total
BITER HEERE @5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTL AREFTL
(note 22) (note 23)
(Kisk22) EZX)
At January 1, 2023 ®W2023F1A1H 94,500 37,428 131,928
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREHREEE :
Proceeds from bank loans FITERNAESE 120,821 - 120,821
Repayment from bank loans BRBITER (8,744) - (8,744)
Capital element of lease rentals paid [BAREiEA Oy = - (8,760) (8,760)
Interest element of lease rentals paid [EAREiEE Aok - (1,756) (1,756)
Total changes from financing cash flows BER&HELHEE 112,077 (10,516) 101,561
Exchange adjustments BN AR - 30 30
Other changes: Hit#5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering HIRzI IHRERELNHEEE
into new leases during the period )l - 3,742 3,742
Decrease in lease liabilities from lease ~ EdAEMELHAEEERD
modification
Interest expenses (note 7(a)) FIERZ (M3E7(a))
Total other changes Hin#Eam
At December 31, 2023 and #W2023F12A318%
January 1, 2024 2024%F1A1A 206,577 238,026
Changes from financing cash flows: BWEREFEEE
Proceeds from bank loans BITEFEFTEE 108,807 108,807
Repayment from bank loans EERITER (102,779) (102,779)

Capital element of lease rentals paid BRfEsMAEEH
Interest element of lease rentals paid BRESMFSHS

Total changes from financing cash flows FBER&RELHEE

Exchange adjustments R

Other changes: Ht#s :

Increase in lease liabilities from entering HiR:T U HEERELNHEARE
into new leases during the period i

Interest expenses (note 7(a)) FEF%(ME7(a))

Total other changes Hin 2 e e

At December 31, 2024 #2024%12A31H

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A T

212,605

(8,371) (8,371)
(1,408) (1,408)

(9,779) (3,751)
59 59

2,845
1,408
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ISR &R M5

18.CASH AND BANK BALANCES 18. R ERBITHEER(E)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERZ LA
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases AenERMIBEST|ER THIRE

comprise the following:

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ANEEBFIT

Within operating cash flows WETEROITE 630 586
Within financing cash flows BEFSHREIRE 9,779 10,516

10,409 11,102

These amounts relate to the followings: ZECFETIIEE B -

2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T

Lease rentals paid ENHEERS 10,409 11,102
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19.CONTRACT LIABILITIES 19. 8K EE
2024 2023
Contract liabilities aHEaE 20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Granting of exclusive distribution rights - RIEBR Dt —
upfront payments FERER
- Non-current —3ERE 12,956
- Current —nE 1,179
14,135
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract HITERE N ABESEERTEN — BRI RIER
liabilities recognized are as follows: PO
The Group receives upfront payments in respect of granting of REERARFRLEEEMNBER S HEKIE
exclusive distribution rights of its products to customers. The upfront 50 BIRBENRERAEHNEE  WHRHRT
payments received are recognized as contract liabilities and will be EHVEANTERBUA ©
recognized as income over the remaining contract period.
2024 2023
Movements in contract liabilities BREBEEE 202445 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Balance at January 1 M1ALBERAS 14,135 -
Exchange adjustments [ 5B 515 -
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result AHEBERFARRFYEFTAEHNAE
of recognising revenue during the year EolthEsTinye R
that was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year -
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of &%) & & EUETE S Z0 M N
receipt of upfront payments 14,135
Balance at December 31 W12 A31HH&H% 14,135
Contract liabilities under current liabilities are expected to be EHRRBEBEETHNENAEHER —FRER
recognized as income within one year. AU o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

B %5 SR T

20. E5 R EHMEMNRRE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT

Trade payables & S8

Payables for purchase of property, plant and BEE¥% - B/E KRB RN A
equipment

Payroll payables EREE

Accrued costs for research and development #13£5 sx e 5T A A
expenses
Payables for purchase of materials (note (i)) FREEM A A FER A (HFE())

1,169 1,166

4,634 6,775
18,250 16,383

49,485 74,656
1,612 8,101
8,480 7,954
1,058 1,602

84,688 116,637

Accrued office expenses and others FERTR A ERT READ
Other taxes payables (note (ii)) b SRR IE (B EE(iT))
Notes: 5T -

(i) As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, all payables for purchase of
materials are aged within one year, based on invoice date.

(i) Accrued withholding taxes on the acquisitions of development and
commercialization rights of ophthalmic drugs and products from third
parties based on appropriate withholding tax rates applicable to the
relevant jurisdictions.

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within
one year or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

(i) 720245 20236128318 « FiEREM R
AENFRENERARNRRA—F -

(i)  ME=TIWEERM Y R E MR R CER
ERTTRI Y IE R AR R E B EMEE
FEMPBEE -

B E 5 REMBNRAERBR —FREEL

RIEER  BHRMRBEBRERNEE A PNRER
DT -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

720 433

15 137
138 596
296 -

1,169 1,166

Within 1 month 1EAR

1 to 3 months 1£3{EA

Over 3 months but within 6 months a3 MEAE6EARN
Over 6 months BiBE61E A
AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

COMPANIES

Amount due from a related company is unsecured, interest-free and
recoverable within one year.

Amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable with a maximum credit terms of 30 days or on demand.

21. UYL (FE(Y) BB A R FE

& — R AR FRR BRI - RERAIR—
FAYE -

RN EMARREAEEN 58 EEHSE
30RKRERME -
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22.BANK LOANS

Secured and repayable within 1 year or
on demand

BEMEIFARIRELEER

= =
22.8R1TER
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBF R AREFT
212,605 206,577

The bank loans were obtained by the Group’s subsidiary, Zhaoke
Guangzhou.

At December 31, 2024, Zhaoke Guangzhou had banking facilities of
RMB230,000,000 (2023: RMB230,000,000) and utilized to an extent
of RMB212,605,000 (2023: RMB206,577,000), and the respective
bank loans were secured by the Group’s pledged bank balances
(note 18(a)).

23.LEASE LIABILITIES

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable
as follows:

RITERAAEEATE R RRBEMNIS -

M2024F 12 A318 - kBEMAE AR
® 230,000,000 jt ( 2023 F : A K #¥&
230,000,000 7T ) R TR E - X 2 A
A R ¥ 212,605,000 T (2023 F : AR
206,577,0007T) - HHERITEFBHAEEHE
HIRIRITAERR (MFE18(a) )44 -

23.HEAE

M20244 %2023 12A31H - AEAEERE
BN ¢

Within 1 year or on demand R—FRATIRER

After 1 year but within 2 years —FIRERWFA
After 2 year but within 5 years MERERAFA

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT

9,933 . 2585
7,710 7,533
8,339 14,331

el N 21,864
25,982 31,449

24.DEFERRED INCOME

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, deferred income of the Group
represented grants received from the government to compensate
the capital expenditure on production lines. Government grants
are recognized as other income over the useful lives of relevant
machinery.

The amount of government grants recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss is disclosed in note 5.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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20244 % 202312 A31H » KEBHELT
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B) - BUSTHBIA AR N rIEAFHRERE
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25.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

25. UEHEHURB BERH X
2

(i) Pre-IPO Scheme

On November 17, 2020, the shareholders of the Company
approved the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Scheme”) which is a share-based incentive plan to reward,
retain and motivate the Group’s employees, directors and
consultants (collectively, “eligible persons”). Under the Pre-IPO
Scheme, the directors of the Company are authorized, at their
discretion, to grant share options to acquire ordinary shares
of the Company to eligible persons on a fair and reasonable
basis with reference to the performance of the Company and
contribution of the individuals.

(a) The terms and conditions of the share options granted
are as follows:

(i)

BERAFRER A&

R2020F11A178 » AR AR EUE
BRAMBENERETE((ERAME
ERistEl])  EAEE - BB RHEARE
EES  EZLEM(HEIEEBAL])
BRR D BB AT & o MIRE X AFBERE
B ARRESEREZATEAENE
H o RERRRNKRLEAAGEE - B
BRGERATEEBERRALBEBRD
FERRIE -

(a) EBRLBREOERRGEAT

Number of Contractual Vesting
options life of options conditions
BREZSE BRENSHH BEGS
Options granted to directors: RESHLNERE :
- On November 17, 2020 —mM2020F11H17H 4,414,000 10¢years %otfe a
10 fita
- On December 9, 2020 —12020F12A9H 10,870,000 10 years Note a
10% FisEa
Options granted to employees: RS &L MEEMRE :
- On November 17, 2020 — 12020611 A17H 12,927,600 10 years Note a
109 Miita
- On December 9, 2020 —12020F12A9H 4,148,000 10 years Note a
\ 105 firixa
- On December 9, 2020 —7A2020F12A9H 5,716,400 10 years Note b
105 MiFrb
- On March 2, 2021 —1202143A2H 3,430,400 9.7 years Note a
9.7% fiita
Options granted to consultants: R L EEEIRE -
- On November 17, 2020 —12020F11H178 4,225,600 10 years Note a
1045 fiiEa
45,732,000

(a) 20% upon completion of the Company’s IPO; 20% on
the first anniversary from the date of grant; 20% on the
second anniversary from the date of grant; 20% on the
third anniversary from the date of grant; and 20% on the
fourth anniversary from the date of grant.

(b) 20% upon completion of the Company’s IPO; 15% on
the first anniversary from the date of grant; 15% on the
second anniversary from the date of grant; 15% on the
third anniversary from the date of grant; 15% on the
fourth anniversary from the date of grant; 10% upon
meeting certain market conditions during the first and
second year from the date of the Company’s IPO; and
10% upon meeting certain market conditions during the
third and fourth year from the date of the Company’s IPO.

(a)  20%MARAWERRFMEET
PR 5B 20% 5% B EeE
BEBEFARE  20%7R%HA
HREREE —(ERF R 0 20%
REEABRENE=(ERAFEE
& }20%p % H A EE A
ERFAFES -

(b)  20%MARFENERAFHEET
FRES 5B 15%m R B EIE
EEAFEEE : 15%N XA
HRENE —_ERAFRRE  15%
REHAPENE=ERFHS
B 15%RE BB EN
(ER B E : 10%NARFEH
RAMBEERREE—REZF
NERETTHETRERE &
10% N ARF ERAFMEE R
RE=ZRENFRERETHS
TSR -
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25.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) Pre-IPO Scheme (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(Continued)
The contractual life of the above options is ten years.

For accounting purposes, service condition is not
considered in the grant date fair value measurement of
the services received. The completion of the Company’s
IPO is considered a non-market performance vesting
condition which is taken into consideration in estimating
the number of options that are expected to vest. Market
conditions are reflected in the grant date fair value.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of
share options are as follows:

25. M EREEURDBERNR

7 (1)
(i) BX

(a)

(b)

2024
2024%

Weighted
average

exercise
price
METLEITEE
US$0.80
0.80%7

Us$1.14

Number of
options
BRESA
32,747,256

(2,000,740)

1.14%5%

Us$1.14

(2,751,660)

1.14%5%

Outstanding at the beginning BRI
of the period

Exercised during the period BRTE

Forfeited during the period BRI

Lapsed during the period HREM

Outstanding at the end HARBITE
of the period

Exercisable at the end R

of the period

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for shares options exercised during the year was US$Nil
(2023: US$0.52).

The options outstanding at December 31, 2024 had an
exercise price of US$0.09 or US$1.14 (2023: US$0.09 or
US$1.14) and a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 5.88 years (2023: 6.88).

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A T

US$0.74
0.74%7%T

US$0.72
0.72%7%

27,994,856

24,852,366

AR E R & ()

(&)
LB ENEHES10%F -

REETREME - St EMBUSRSE
PR B B A T ER IR E R
IR - RABERDFEETK
WA BEG RS BB B ARE
BEARZEENFETHERERB K
o RIRE B BNATES KRBT
BRI

RS E RV TTRENT

2023
2023%F
Weighted
average
exercise Number of
price options
MET9TEE BREHE
US$0.74 37,043,508
0.74%7T
US$0.09 (2,151,680)
0.09%7T
US$0.33 (676,320)
0.33%7
US$0.51 (1,468,252)
0.51%7T
US$0.80 32,747,256
0.80%7T
US$0.82 20,360,508
0.82%7T

FRBITEBRENTTE R EIR M
EFHREAZTET(2023F ¢
0.52%7L) ©

2024912 A31 BEITEINER
HERITEEA0.0955 Tk 1.143%
7L(20234F : 0.09E Tk 1.14%
TL) - AT FE A 4 A5.88
F(2023%F : 6.88%F)
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25. M EREEURDBERNR
5 (%&)

(i) BEXRFZER1E(E)

25.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) Pre-IPO Scheme (Continued)

(c) Fair value of share options and (c) BRENATERER

assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair
value of the share options granted is measured based on
a binomial model. The contractual life of the share option
is used as an input into this model. Expectations of early
exercise are incorporated into the binomial model.

LA 5% i AR SR LA B BUS AR 7%
HAFEZERRHBEREND
FEFE - IREERENAFE
BEtRIE BB 2 - Bk
HI& KB (ERZ AR A M 8 A B -
RAMTTENBHEFA BN E

1)

4

k

November 17, December 9, March 2,

Grant date 2020 2020 2021
20204 20204 2021F

RitAH 118178 12A9A 3A2A
Fair value at measurement date Rt BB ATE US$0.91-US$0.92 US$0.38-US$0.48 US$0.46-US$0.54
0.91%7%0.92%m  0.38%X7nZ0.48%T  0.46E1Z0.54%T

Share price R E1E US$1.00 US$1.01 US$1.14
1.00%7T 1.01%51 1.14%7

Exercise price TEE US$0.09 US$1.14 US$1.14
0.09%7T IBLESH IBTESH

Expected volatility BEKE 43.93% 43.23% 43.21%
Option life BRERR 10 years 10 years 9.7 years
10% 105 9.7F

Expected dividend yield BHRER 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate EERF|E 0.86% 0.94% 1.43%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining
life of the share options), adjusted for any expected
changes to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

TRERN B T E R SR B (IR B A
I RIRHRE) - WER
REE R A E E A R AROR B &
TEH I - EINR B YRR E £ IR
Rt - TEEARBRRNE
AEEEATERFEEERTE -
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25.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25. U EREEURO/ERNHR
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) % (&)
(i) Pre-IPO Scheme (Continued) (i) BEXAFHZRER=12/(#E)
(d) Equity-settled share-based payment expenses (d) ERABERRERNUESEEN
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss D RERONHAZAT

are as follows:

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Research and development expenses  #1Zs% 2,084 281
General and administrative expenses — B &ITHER 2,851 15,891
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R HF X 949 1,192
5,884 17,364
During the year, the expenses include equity-settled FAMFAZ BERER IR AE
share-based payment to consultants of RMB1,905,000 mEE RN AERONRARE
(2023: RMB1,702,000). 1,905,000t (2023 F : AR

1,702,0007T) °

(ii) Post-IPO Scheme (ii) B X R E#ZE

On April 1, 2021, the shareholders of the Company approved MN2021F4[18  AREIREIEE X
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Post-IPO Scheme”) ARAEEEERESE([BERAMRER
which is a share-based incentive plan to reward, retain and sTEID - (ERIEE - BB RHEEERA
motivate the eligible persons. Under the Post-IPO Scheme, the THRMD BB E - BEBEEXAREEE
directors of the Company are authorized, at their discretion, to & ARFEFREERATEENE
grant share options to acquire ordinary shares of the Company £ BEARNBMKRBREEANER - B
to eligible persons on a fair and reasonable basis with BREGEBATELBEERRA L BRD
reference to the performance of the Company and contribution FEARHE -

of the individuals.
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25.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(ii) Post-IPO Scheme (Continued)

(a)

The terms and conditions of the share options granted
are as follows:

B R SRR o

25. M EREEURDBERNR
5 (%&)

(ii) EXRFARERT & (&

(a) ERLBRESGRRGEAT

Number of Contractual life Vesting
options of options conditions
BRESE BRENSHH BEGE

Options granted to directors: REEFLMERE
- On 15 December 2022 —12022F12A15H8 1,000,000 10 years Note a

105 MiiEa
- On 15 December 2022 —12022F12A15H 880,000 10 years Note b

105 HsEb
- 0On 3 July 2024 —1A2024%7A3H 2,050,000 10 years Note d

10F Mizhd
Options granted to employees: mES KT MERE :
- On 15 December 2022 —12022F12H15H 1,440,000 10 years Note b

105 MisEb
- On 15 December 2022 — 1202212 A15H 840,000 10 years Note ¢

10% Mz
- On 15 December 2022 —2022F12A15H 3,660,000 10 years Note d

104 FizEd
- 0On 3 July 2024 —12024F7HA38 2,520,000 10 years Note d

105 fizEd

12,390,000
(a) 50% on the date of grant; and 50% on the first (a) S0%RELBEHEE: &
anniversary from the date of grant. 50% 7% T B BFE ) & (R
FHRE -

(b) 10% on the first anniversary from the date of (b) 10%FA 1% B AR A & A

grant; 10% on the second anniversary from the
date of grant; 10% on the third anniversary from
the date of grant; 10% on the fourth anniversary
from the date of grant; 40% upon meeting certain
research and development as well as financial
performance milestones; and 20% upon meeting
certain market conditions.

FHEE  10% R EE B
HENE_ERFARE
10% 1% H B HRERY S =13
AERRE : 10%REEE
HENENERE B RE
40% R EMK E T3 MBS
FRBREBINERE  k20%
RERE THSEERS
E o
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A %5 SR T ot

25.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(ii) Post-IPO Scheme (Continued)
(a) (Continued)

()

(d)

10% on the first anniversary from the date of
grant; 10% on the second anniversary from the
date of grant; 10% on the third anniversary from
the date of grant; 10% on the fourth anniversary
from the date of grant; and 60% upon meeting
certain research and development as well as
financial performance milestones.

25% on the first anniversary from the date of
grant; 25% on the second anniversary from the
date of grant; 25% on the third anniversary
from the date of grant; and 25% on the fourth
anniversary from the date of grant.

The contractual life of the above options is ten years.

For accounting purposes, service and performance
conditions are not considered in the grant date fair
value measurement of the services received and
performance met. The completion of certain research
and development as well as financial performance
milestones are considered non-market performance
vesting conditions which are taken into consideration in
estimating the number of options that are expected to
vest. Market conditions are reflected in the grant date
fair value.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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5 (%&)

(ii) EXRFIREZ B (&)

(a) (&)

(©

(d)

10%A % H B #iAE 80 & (88
FHEB  10% R R EHE
HEME_EBAFARE
10% A% H A BB A 5 = A
BEEHSE  10%AEHA
HENENERE BRE
K 60% R EMK A T R Er
ERIBBIZHMESES -

25% % B BRE ) & (R
FEARB  25% R EA
HRME —@EFARE
25% R EIH AHRENE =
ERAEHSEE  R25%N %
B ERA AN EEF B 5
%c

FaliEREN A B R10%F -

e EREmE

sHEPTES RS

KA ERRNEE AN AFE
0 R E BRI S R B RAF © FERK
ETHERMBRERRZERES
FEfAEH TR I 57 B A0 B i B B B
ZRMIFMSRAGEBIGMT - X
H BB A TFEERRTSET -
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25.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25. U EREEURO/ERNHR
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) % (&)
(ii) Post-IPO Scheme (Continued) (ii) EX 2 FREEE (&)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) HBERIENHE RNEFHITERBN
share options are as follows: T

2024 2023
20245 20234

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

kg hnE
FHITEE BREHE FIFTIE(E fEARERE

Outstanding at the beginning Ei#137 7751

of the period HK$3.26 6,795,500 HK$3.26 7,820,000
3.268 T 3.26/87T
Granted during the period iR H HK$1.40 4,570,000 - -
1.40%E T
Exercised during the period HiRTT{E - HK$3.26 (143,500)
3.26/87C
Forfeited during the period  EiRRUL HK$3.26 (1,102,250) HK$3.26 (839,750)
3.26E T 3.26/87C
Lapsed during the period EEIAPSY HK$3.26 (€:3W4-11)) HK$3.26 (41,250)
3.268 T 3.26/87T
Outstanding at the end of BAREEATIESN HK$2.43 10,181,500 HK$3.26 6,795,500
the period 2.43%T 3.26/87C
Exercisable at the end of HRARATAT(E HK$2.74 4,077,750 HK$3.26 1,497,250
the period 2.74% 7T 3.267C
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise FRBITERERENTTE B BN
for shares options exercised during the year was HK$Nil BEHRERZTAEIIT(20234F
(2023: HK$4.00). 4.0087L) °
The options outstanding at December 31, 2024 had an 7K2024F 12 A31 B E#ITEINER
exercise price of HK$1.40 or HK$3.26 (2023: HK$3.26) BEHITEES1.405 T 5K 3.268
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 8.53 70(20234% : 3.26/87T) - MNETF
years (2023: 8.96 years). BRI E HH58.534 (20234 -
8.96%F) °
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25.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

25. M EREEURDBERNR

5 (%&)

(ii) Post-IPO Scheme (Continued)

(c) Fair value of share options and

assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair
value of the share options granted is measured based on
a binomial model. The contractual life of the share option
is used as an input into this model. Expectations of early
exercise are incorporated into the binomial model.

(ii) EXRFIREZ B (&)

(c) BRENAFERRR

VAT $% th s AR R S R B B BR S BR 75
MAFEDSEREOBRENR
FEFE - MRHBRENATE
fhFFER ZIRAREE 2 o BE
A NBREZRI NBEABIE -
RATEMEHESAZEAXE

A o

December 15, 2022
2022%12A15H

July 3,2024
2024%7A3H

Grant date

A

Fair value at measurement date R ERENATE
Share price RDER

Exercise price 11158

Expected volatility TBHIKED

Option life FEARAEEAR
Expected dividend yield LIRS
Risk-free interest rate R =

HK$1.44 - HK$1.84
1.44BTE1.848 T

HK$0.69 - HK$0.84
0.69%8TE0.84E T

HK$3.23 HK$1.40
3.2387% 1.40%8 7
HK$3.26 HK$1.40
3.2687%T 1.40% 71
47.19% 55.38%
10 years 10 years
10 105
0.00% 0.00%
3.65% 3.59%

(d)

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining
life of the share options), adjusted for any expected
changes to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
are as follows:

TEHDR B T B S B (s e
IEFIRIRRRFE) - WHER
ARERERNEMRRRSEE
{EH IR - HIIE TV ERE L A%
BEH - THBAZBRRNED)
AR ATEGHEEEATE -

(d) TEHABRRERNAEREE
D RERNHRFEX -

Research and development expenses 3R
General and administrative expenses — MR &ITHER
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAY

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
1,178 1,661
1,145 2,309
458 689
2,781 4,659
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26. EX K f#E
(a) AR5 # 5

26.CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Movement in components of the
equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of AR i S e H D ) R ARG A
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of BIARER D & 1R E B R Z PR 2

S A TC .
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity DESEE S
between the beginning and the end of the reporting period are
set out below:
A=
Company AL
Share Share Other Capital Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
B REEE Hibfte EhiEE EXffE 2itEE @z
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
k3 ARBTT ARETL ARBTT ARBTL ARETT ARBTT ARBTI
Balance at January 1, 2023 7202351710 &k -5 5427511 (129,033) 122,513 238,443 (2,554,997) 3,104,437
Changes in equity for 2023: 20235 HEHEH
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - 26,495 26,495
Other comprehensive income  Efti 2 EE - - - - 88,107 - 88,107
Equity-settled share-based AR BRI AEREY
payment expenses FARFEZ - - - 22,023 - - 22,023
Shares issued under share REBRE2IRTRN
option schemes -* 16,125 - (14,272) - - 1,853
Lapsed share options BRMGERE - - - (7,457) - 7,457 -
Balance at December 31, 2023 12023F12A318 k%
and January 1, 2024 202451A1RMES 30 - 5,443,636 (129,033) 122,807 326,550 (2,521,045) 3,242,915
Changes in equity for 2024: 20245 HEHEE
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - 11,970 11,970
Other comprehensive income  Eft 2z - - - - 116,948 - 116,948
Equity-settled share-based AR BRI AEREY
payment expenses EG5 - - - 8,665 - - 8,665
Lapsed share options BAMEBRE - - - (9,596) - 9,596 -
Balance at December 31, 2024 1202451231888 30 - 5,443,636 (129,033) 121,876 443,498 (2,499,479) 3,380,498
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * wEHeELONAREL,0007T -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

26.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Share capital

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares, issued and BETRAEEER
fully paid

At the beginning of the year E20)]

Shares issued under share option IBEBRE BB TR
schemes

At the end of the year FX

* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000.

(c) Issued ordinary shares

26. EX K f#tE (&)

(b) K#&
ERTRAZ

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAEE k) RPEE kx|
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARET T

546,139,172 543,843,992 e
- 2,295,180 —
546,139,172 546,139,172 —

* EHEEINARKEL,0007T

(c) ERTEEK

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends LBREEABRBBARSEIRNKRE -
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per WARRBAREG LHERBRGO=Z=E—ZEH
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank BEE - AT BRNAATFIGBREES
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. ZHEHENRER

(d) Dividends (d) B2
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend BETEFIRTEZE2024F12A31A 1

for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: Nil).

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A T
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR R FI 5

26.CAPITAL AND RESERVES 26. 5K f#E (&)
(CONTINUED)
z 5 ,
(e) Nature and purpose of reserves (e) FEMHEREH
(i) Share premium (i) BHRE
The share premium represents the difference between %@/ﬁ%fﬁ’fﬁ %ﬁﬂ%fiﬁfﬁil’i
the par value of the ordinary shares of the Company and ﬁﬂﬁ‘f éﬁﬁx”@zﬂ'ﬂiﬁfﬁﬂlﬁz
proceeds received from the issue of the ordinary shares FEEJE']§%§ *E%EE%;—{A ADE i’x’i
of the Company. Under the Cayman Companies Act, the EE?LH%{;;/EEEEEJ@ E*\Zﬁ’ﬁﬂ o
share premium account of the Company is distributable ﬁEXkﬁ ' F%%%Eﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁiﬁz
to the ordinary shareholders of the Company provided EIE;$’D\E;Eﬁng§E BEB
that immediately following the date on which the IR ESHIETR -

dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
would be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of the business.

(ii) Other reserves (ii) Hftuf#EE

Other reserves represent (i) the waiver of the amount Hi R EEREEHSEER AT
from a shareholder arising from the issue of the JE1&7:202047 A 220208 A1E
Company’s ordinary shares to a shareholder as deemed HEVER - (NVHEEARLARR -5
distribution to a shareholder; and (ii) the waiver of the PR B AT E AR T B — B IR A0
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries arising from research FE - ERGEA—BERDIK
and development activities as capital contribution to R (i) % 5 BT EOS Ehifn A8 15 7] 2
the Group, pursuant to instructions from the then EQEE@%E EREAKEM G
ultimate holding company in July 2020 and August 2020 B

respectively.

(iii) Capital reserve (i) EXRE
The capital reserve comprises the portion of the grant iﬁ$f§§1ﬁ@?§%%%$§ﬁé f
date fair value of unexercised share options granted to B 5 R BRI AT AO RS SRR IS 55
AN . 1 AE M
employees, directors and consultants of the Group that H_J'_E/H\'ﬁ\ﬁ"]/—\jfﬁ%q:‘ M};z,ﬁ\\\[ﬁE/Z(p)
has been recognized in accordance with the accounting gzqﬂﬁ%%ﬁffﬂﬁi%ﬁiw’ﬁ%\%mﬁ’ﬂ
policy adopted for share-based payments in note 2(p)(ii). BRI RRIER R ESD ©
. : N
(iv) Merger reserve (iv) S6H#E -
Merger reserve represents the difference between the BHRBEL I ST B R
Mk R EE N AN NI% 3
fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition )\Eﬁ\ﬁ;&)\l\iﬁﬂ’gﬁ@ﬂ’qé{ﬁgﬁjg “
of Zhaoke Guangzhou from Zhaoke PHK and the MEZXFEBREHERERAZH
investment cost as originally contributed by Zhaoke H)ZEH
PHK.
5
=)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

26.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(v) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations with functional currency other
than RMB. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with

the accounting policies set out in note 2(t).

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and

benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholders return, taking into consideration the future of
the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows and projected

capital expenditures.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares, new debt financing or the
redemption of existing debt. The Group made no changes to
its capital management objectives, policies or processes during

the current and prior years.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

26. EX K f#tE (&)

(e) FEMERE (&)

(v) EXR#E

ERFHERERENEEBIIEA
REHEBHI SRR TEERAT
BHNEEEE - ZREHIREWE
2(t) TS ETBURERIE -

(f) EXEE

FEEEREANEREIBHRELEE
FrBS L a1 - DA AR RIZH O]
RAREMFF N E SR
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¢ o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

27.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks, for which the Group
considered to have insignificant credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group has assessed that during the year, trade and other
receivables has not had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Thus, a 12-month expected credit
loss approach that results from possible default event within
12 months of the end of the reporting period is adopted
by the Group. The Group assesses the credit quality of the
counterparties by taking into account their financial position,
the past loss experience, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking information at the end of the reporting period.
Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables
is set out in note 16.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
Company’s shareholders when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

B H5 sk M et

27. SBEAREER LM A
AF{E

AEBERBEGHEEEE  RHES - X
MEBRR - AEBEEZSEBRORORAE
EEEZSABRAMNESREREIEBENED
HmaT -

(a) EEEE

ERERREXSHFERANEEMER
AEERZHMBRRANER - AEENE
BERBEIERAE S MEMBYKFOR - &
SEXERSLBVITERNEERRSA
B ARRSYHTREERERIT - 8A
RAEERBIETERX -

AEEYERESCASEEBERRR
EEAATHELR o

NEEDFEFERNE 5 R HE M REU IR
EEER S EIRMER AR EAE EF o
At - AEBRARREHRL2(EA AR
BEENBHELANI2EABHEEBER
e RIREHR  AEBEBBERERSY
FRMBRR - BEBEESR - EBHE
RMAR BT BRI ERZEFNEE
Bx - BANEERE S REMERFKIE
MEANEERBNE-—TTEHRBEER
FAMIEELE ©

(b) HEBEL/EEE

AEENEEEERAESENREE
B SRR SRMRETERRAENMER
KANBNERRSFFR - ERETER
ETEERBKTHFERRFIORL
o AEBENBREEHESRRDEST
Ko DHERESTRNRSHEBARAE
BORMBBISRRNAREERE &
MERRBRERRDESHTL -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

27.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

27.cmEBEEREMTIA
NFEE)

(b) "EEZmEE (E)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay:

TRIRAEEFTESREANREH
ROBTROBR - THIREA L RIRER
ERE(BRERRONEFENTEN
o RMMAFEFIE - BIRBERME SR
EVIRTTRIRETE ) AR AR B AT RE R (R
REHHHE

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BRRBERALTE
Within More than More than
1 year 1yearbut 2 yearsbut
oron less than less than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
R-FRH BE—F BEME
RER BLAME BHIREE @t BESHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
As at December 31, 2024 12024F 124310
Trade and other payables B S5 REMERFE 84,688 84,688 84,688
Amounts due to related JEI AR A RIF0E
companies 4,454 4,454 4,454
Bank loans HITER 212,605 212,605 212,605
Lease liabilities HEERE 10,202 27,910 25,982
311,949 329,657 327,729
As at December 31, 2023 72023%12A31R
Trade and other payables g5 REMENTIEA 116,637 - - 116,637 116,637
Amounts due to related JERBER A RIFR
companies 2,473 - - 2,473 2,473
Bank loans RTER 206,577 - - 206,577 206,577
Lease liabilities HEAR 9,859 8,441 16,299 34,599 31,449
335,546 8,441 16,299 360,286 357,136

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-bearing financial liabilities at variable
rate at the end of the reporting period are bank loans, and
the cash flow interest risk arising from the change of market
interest rate on the balance of relatively short maturity is not
considered significant. The Group’s interest-bearing financial
liabilities at fixed interest rates at the end of the reporting
period are lease liabilities that are measured at amortized
cost, and the change of market interest rate does not expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Overall, the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk is not significant.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A T

(c) FIZERE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

27.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
different functional currency in different subsidiaries which
give rise to cash and bank balances and payables that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily EUR and US$.
Overall, the Group’s exposure to currency rate risk is not
significant.

(e) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorized into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

B R SRR o

27.cmEBEEREMTIA

DNE(E)

(d) E¥mEE

AEEEGRNEERREZREZHBA
ATENINEEE  ZEMEARELN
RGPS EBOD LB AN B FHE
IR & RIRITHEBRIA R B FRIE  EAE
LR EE 2 RBUTRET - BiEM
5 AREEHNERERRBRILNEK -

(e) AT AL FEFE
(i) RAFEFENEBIA

N FEER

TRIRARBIZE R LR ERR
SR ENSRTANRTE
BEBYBHREENFE1IHEQF
BEFfE IREN=ERFEBED
o RFEFERANERZRMAE
EHECIIT AT PR B A BB B T BRI I
BERIRELT

—  EURMEE: EEREIRS
AR (RVAR A BN 2
S5 745 0 A S 2
HH{E)3HRIATE -

- E24MhHE : ERABE22HRBA
2 (AIRBERT A 58 LARRIT
B AT ER A i A BUR ) K3
ERABEETABREEARE h
SENATE - TUBRRE “
ABIBEY BT HBUIRNE
ABUE -

D
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

27.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 27 . cRiEREEREMIA
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL DNFEGE)

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement of financial (e) £ T AL -FlaE ()
instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair (i) RAFEENEMIA
value (Continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) N FEER(E)

Fair value measurements
as at December 31, 2024 categorized into
AT EFTER2024F12A31AK 28

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1R 2R FE3R st
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR¥TR ARBTT ARBTT
Non-equity investments BRATEEBERTEN
measured at FVTPL HERITE 69,467 69,467

Fair value measurements
as at December 31, 2023 categorized into
NFEFER2023F12A31805 %

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1H £24 £3% FCE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ANREFTT ANREFTT ANREFTT ANREFTT
Non-equity investments BATERBERTEN
measured at FVTPL FERIRE - - - -
During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were REZE2024F12A31HIEFE -
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers FIREE2H/ 2 EWEEE - £
into or out of Level 3 (2023: nil). The Group’s policy M AL E L (20234 -
is to recognize transfers between levels of fair value ) o REENBR AR R TERER
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which FEGENEREENREER
they occur. REETL o
(ii) Fair value of financial instruments carried (ii) EHFRAFEIENEBT
at other than fair value ENATE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial H2024F % 2023F 12831 H -
instruments carried at amortized cost are not materially REERBHR AR ERIA
different from their fair values as at December 31, 2024 MEHcREEQAFETESERE
and 2023. £

206 Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEIEERIBR AT



Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

28.COMMITMENT 28, &iE
Commitments outstanding at December 31, 2024 not provided for in BIRAR AN 2024F12 A31 AR BHERRE
the financial statements were as follows: TTARREWT -
2024 2023
20245 20234F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFIT
Contracted for research and development PR EFZETAY
expenses 67,270 9,841
Contracted for acquisition of machinery and MR RERETD
equipment 6,233 13,637
Contracted for purchase of materials TEEMEETN 21,884 34,800
95,387 58,278
29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 2. EXBEHARS
TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel (a) TEEEENSFH
remuneration

AEETEEREABHM(BEDNME
O RBEANRIEE MM 10 EET
REFEEREWNT

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETT

Salaries and other emoluments T REMBS 25,184 26,491
Discretionary bonuses BYIBTEAD 5,571 6,590
Share-based payments AR AERE R R 2,445 16,080
Retirement scheme contributions RIREHEIf R 1,179 1,150

34,379 50,311

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 7(b)). Ho@rEst Al B TR J(RTE7(b)) ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

29.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financing arrangements

29. EXBAB LR Z (&)

(b) BEZH

Amounts owed by
the Group to a related party Related interest expense
FEEER—RBBERE HEAFI X
As at December 31, Year ended December 31,
M12A31H BZE12A31HLEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024% 2023% 2024%F 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TR

FERERIBER (RN AR
RAMEERE

Lease liabilities due to Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou)
Limited

Note: The outstanding balances arising from the leasing arrangements
with Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited are included
in “Lease liabilities” (note 23). Further details of the lease
arrangements are set out in note 12(b).

On March 1, 2022, Zhaoke Guangzhou renewed the leasing
arrangements in relation to the leased premises with Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (“Lee’s
Pharm”), a substantial shareholder of the Company. The
terms of the arrangements commenced on March 1, 2022 and
will expire on February 28, 2025 or March 18, 2028.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

ARETTT AR%T T AREFT
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

29.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 29. EXBEHARS ()
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(c) Other significant related party (c) RMEABEH XS
transactions
The Group had the following transactions with related parties: REBEEBBATEUTRS ¢

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31ALFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ANRBFIT
Purchase of goods BEER
Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian Fa Pharmaceutical — E/NJKRIEHE LA R QA F
Limited (note (i)) (MIRE(T)) 582
Procurement of CRO Services B ECROMRIE
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. KEIEZE (GR)BRAR
Limited (note (ii)) GEAD) 18,066
Procurement of administrative services [EE{THR®
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) JEBIEER (BN BRAR
Limited (note (iii)) EEAUD)) 1,170
Procurement of CMO Services BECMOMRH
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. KB EE (AR BRAR
Limited (note (iv)) (FHEE(iv)) 1,997
Provision of sales incentive RUHHEERD
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited — JKRIZZ(SIE)BR AT
(note v) (MFEE(V)) -
Acquisition of distribution rights W iE o SR
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. KRl (AR BRAA
Limited (note (vi)) (FRE(Vi)) 18,868
Short-term lease of properties YFEEHEE
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited — JKRIZH(AE)BER AR
(note (vii)) (B =E(Vii)) 586

Sales of property, plant and equipment #EW%  BERSRHE
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited — JKRIZZ(SIE)BR AT

(note (viii)) (B &E(viii)) 3
Licensing income FFATRA
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited — JKRIZZ(AIE)BR AT

(note (ix)) (FE(ix)) B
Sales of goods HEEM
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited — JKRIZX(AE)BRAF

(note (x)) (MFE(X)) -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR T ot

29.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Other significant related party
transactions (Continued)

Notes:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

This represents purchase of goods from Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian
Fa Pharmaceutical Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of Lee’s Pharm, in respect of materials for research and
development.

This represents CRO Service fee paid to Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, in relation to research and development.

This represents consultancy service fee paid to Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm, in relation to research and
development.

This represents CMO Service fee paid to Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, in relation to manufacture and supply of goods.

This represents sales incentive paid to Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, in relation to sales of goods.

This represents acquisition of distribution rights and associated
assets of a drug from Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited,
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm.

This represents short-term lease of properties from Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm.

This represents sales of equipment to Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm.

This represents the licensing income from Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Guangzhou) Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Lee’s Pharm.

This represents sales of goods to Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei)
Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lees Pharm.

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules
relating to connected transactions

The related party transactions disclosed in notes 29(b) and
(c) above constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions. Among which, purchase of goods,
procurement of administrative services, short-term lease of
properties, sales of property, plant and equipment and sales of
goods are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1). The disclosures required
by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section
headed “Connected Transactions” of the Report of Directors.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

29. EXBAB LR Z (&)

(c) RttEAXBHH XS (&

P

(M

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

BRI R R EN R R B AR
AR FRRERNEZZ2ENBEAR)

BEER -

BRI AR R (R IE) ER AR (F
RAREBOHEZENBLR) W
CROMRTEE °

FES AT AR B (RN BR AR (F
RAZEBmHEZE2EMNBEAR) MR
FREER -

RS RS EE S AN EL(AR)
BRAF(FRARBNOME 2 AL
)% (HEICMOBH A -

ERHEERAANMEX(AR)ERA
A(ERAEENREZEZEMBAFR) X
I HVIHES 2 -

ERAMER(GE)ERAR(FRAE
RRE R 2 E M B A R)) B — KB
DR AR EE -

EREAHMEX(BE)BRAR(FRA
EmNEEZENBAR) MMEEHAE
o
ERAMEX(AE)AERAR(FRRE
B2 EMB AR HERME -

BRERBEE (BN BERAR(FEKX
FEmOMEZEZAMNBARMFTRA -

ERAMBEZE(SE)ARAR(FRRE
BOREZEZEMNBARHEERR -

(d) BEEX S EHLHRA

EXXHTEE29(b) K () 4 R O BE s
B

R
RGRBEMEBER S o A - BE
BRITHRY - MERHHEERH

EWE  BERREAREEERAER
FHRBIE14A.76(1) EHKE# BT
BHeET EMRAE T NAZMEFER
Feo FMRAETNAZARENEES
RESEREPEHERS | —H -



Notes to the Financial Statements

30.COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

B %5 SR T

30. A R B E A M BARR R

At December 31,

A12A31H
2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T AREET T
Non-current assets FREEE
Intangible assets mEAE 125,331 106,752
Investments in subsidiaries RHIB R RIRIRE 14 154,226 144,130
279,557 250,882
Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments ot FEUGRIE ] TR FUE 3,675 8,336
Investments "E 69,467 -
Amount due from a subsidiary eI — B A R F A 2,296,902 1,827,903
Pledged bank balances BIIFIRITAERR 91,645 68,394
Time deposits with original maturity [REEA A B =8 AW EHBEFER
over three months 689 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 645,547 1,093,156
3,107,925 2,997,789
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals EAb RN RIERETEA 6,984 5,756
6,984 5,756
Net current assets REBEEFRE 3,100,941 2,992,033
Net assets EEFE 3,380,498 3,242,915
Capital and reserves ERREE 26(a)
Share capital S 26(b) —* —*
Reserves ] 3,380,498 3,242,915
Total equity TR 3,380,498 3,242,915
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * e R ARKEL0005T

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on

March 24, 2025.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi

= NRELE
Director
BE

HEREN202553 24 Bt RT3

Mr. Dai Xiangrong
LE S 4

Director
BE
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31.POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR &R M5

31. A8 £2024F12A31H1t

NEW STANDARDS AND FECHEMEERERNE
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT 7] - MR BRI RBREAREL
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED W&

DECEMBER 31, 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not
yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2024 and which have
not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the followings which may be relevant to the Group:

HEAVBHRETIEBL  EASTHASEE
HREE2024F 12 A31H IEFERAEREL
BERAVISIRER PR Z B SUSAE T £
A o AJge AR EEENEFHBIEU TSI ¢

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or
after

RUTB#g 2%

B E S EIR £

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates - Lack of
exchangeability

BAGERE215% (BRI RN EXZ B E — HhE nl Z121%

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
disclosures - Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments

BAVBHRELENESR (BN 2@ TAREBMGREERETREHTA - #E BT ANSERE
(1&&T7K)

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11

January 1, 2025

2025F1A1H
January 1, 2026

20261 H1H

January 1, 2026

ERUBREGHER 2 FESE - F 11 2026%F1A1H

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements January 1, 2027
BAVBHRELERNE 1SRRG BFHEXNZS R #5E 20274 1A1H

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures January 1, 2027
BB REERE IR LR L TE FIELA] - B75 2027 1A1H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the REBFETEZES BN &R MER B TEE
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of B SR RINZEEB TR
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them AT RRBRERTE -

is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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“AFT”

[AFT]

“AGM”
[ERBFARE]

“ANDA”

[cHrgemss ]

“Articles of Association”

[HBAEEF2ANA]

“ASEAN"
[FREE]

“Audit Committee”
[BZZEE

“BLA”

[ BRI R B s

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

=

“Business Day”

[&%A)

“BVI”
[REBRLES ]

“CDE”

EEEDLIN

“CED”

[CED]

Definitions
E=

AFT Pharmaceuticals Limited, a leading manufacturer and distributor of healthcare
products based in New Zealand, whose shares are listed on both the New Zealand
Stock Exchange (ticket symbol: AFT) and Australian Securities Exchange (ticket
symbol: AFP), is one of our business partners

AFT Pharmaceuticals Limited  #Ta@ELiZREEERRIER LD H - ERORFTAR
BHZ G LW (BHNE - AFT) RRMNESF R S LT (FEHFNRE : AFP) - ARMINEKR
2z —

the annual general meeting of our Company
RARRRBFERE

abbreviated new drug application, an application for a generic drug to an
approved drug in China
bR EEREE - A B B R B e (T B R 55

the articles of association of our Company conditionally adopted on April 1, 2021
and affective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
RATFR2021F4 A1 BAKEFRMIE R i B A AMEIREE] - LTRHERT

the Association of Southeast Asian Nations
R R E B

the audit committee of the Board
EEGRTHNEREZES

biologics license application, an application submitted to the FDA to approve a
biologic product for sale in the United States
ARG AT RS - MFDARBHLENEBHE £ WE S

the board of directors of our Company
RARESRE

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal banking
business to the public and which is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in
Hong Kong

BBEBITABARARAME—RRITERNB T - BWEEEN - EHESBEERREBRE

the British Virgin Islands
KBRS

the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (BIR %R ESEEIE BEMETH 1), a division
of the NMPA mainly responsible for review and approval of IND and NDA
BREMEEEERERETTL  BREERNTENF  TZEAEHEARBERINER
ookl

corneal epithelial defect, the partial or complete loss of the epithelial cells in the
cornea

AR EREE - AR AR RE PR
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Definitions

“CEO”
[TTR A ]

“CG Code”
[12EERFA]

“Chairman”
[E£F]

“China” or “the PRC"”

[ e ]

“\CMO”
[BFEE2E]

“Companies Act of the Cayman Islands”

[AERERRE]

the chief executive officer of our Company
RRRITHAAE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
R AIERCLITE (> B AP R

chairman of the Board
EEEERE

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report and
for geographical reference only and except where the context requires otherwise,
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
PEARKEME - BAERT S REHRMELXZERRNESHMEIN  TRETE - PEIRF
FRfTH R R A

the chief medical officer of our Company
ENSIEIEE )

the Companies Act Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time
FEHEERE22ENANE(1961F A3 - K454 RIERT) - KTRHERT « BRKAEMTH
1B

”ow "o

“Company”, “our Company”, “the

”ow

Company”, “we”, or “Zhaoke

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited

214

Ophthalmology”
[T~ [HA Ikl IeRLAR R

“conjunctivitis”
Fid

“connected person(s)”
[FA@E AL

“connected transaction(s)”
[EERS ]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[12 AR A% R

“Core Product(s)”

[Tz EmR]

“corneal ulcers”

[ARES ]

JKRHRBI AR A A

a disease characterized by the inflammation of the conjunctiva
— AR B R RIS RTR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
R A TR AR E

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
R B T2 AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
R A TR AR E

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules; for purposes of
this annual report, our Core Product refers to CsA ophthalmic gel and ZKY001

BB EmARETNARZRE THANRSE - AFHRM = - ZAIZROERERMZARER &
ZKY001

open sores or wounds that form on the cornea
AR FR e R RIS S5 D

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEIERIGFR A 7



“CRO"

[CRO]

“CsA”
[ER7EZ=A

“CS0O”
[EEMEE]

“DED”
[FZBRIE |
“Director(s)”
[E%]

“DME”"
[DME]

“EMA”
[EMA ]

“EUR”
(BT

“Executive Committee”
[HiTEE®E ]

“EDA”
[FDA]

“Financial Statements”
[ 1753k

“glaucoma”

[FxR]

“Global Offering”
[ZIREE]

“GMP”
[GMP]

“Greater China”

PNGES

Definitions

contract research organization, a company that provides support to
pharmaceutical companies by providing a range of professional research services
on a contract basis

SRR - DAHNEFARMEEFZEARRE - AREQRRUIENAT

a selective immuno-suppressant that inhibits calcineurin, an activator of T cells
5 AR RA R (TAR A RUE R ) VB 21 2 I

the chief science officer of our Company
RAREFEREE

dry eye disease, a common condition that occurs when tears are unable to
provide adequate lubrication eyes
WRAE - —BERAR  ERREERRBRERMEEREE

the director(s) of our Company, including all executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors
RARES  BREZEBITES  FPTESRBUFNTES

diabetic macular edema, a complication of diabetes that causes damage to the
macula
WEPR IR EDIKRE - — TR E TR I8 AR PR I Of 24 E

European Medicines Agency
BMMERERR

European Dollar, the lawful currency of the European Union
BOME: BRATE B EUT

the executive committee of the Board
EFEEETHNITZER

the United States Food and Drug Administration
FERMEREEEER

the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2024 as audited by KPMG
KESHEHMEEMERNAEEEE2024F12 A31 A L FEHREMBHRE

a group of eye diseases that are usually characterized by progressive structural
and functional changes of the optic nerve
—RIEE AR AR AT R U BE AT B B S R AR R

the offer for subscription of the shares and placing of the shares as described in
the Prospectus
BRERRATMO RN RIEZ N LR NI E

good manufacturing practice
EnAEESEIRRE

the PRC, Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and

Taiwan
FE - B PBURFIFRITRE R AE
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Definitions

”ow "o

“Group”, “our Group”, “the Group”, “we

RS AETEA G

“HK$” or “HKD"
77T

“HKFRS”
[ &AM BHRE N

“Hong Kong”
(&%

“IND”

(&R ms

“Investment Committee”

[REZ8e

“KDP”

[KDP]

“KOLs”

[KOL]

“Latest Practicable Date”

[RIRERAITTAH]

“Lee’s Pharm”

[ESwN

”

“Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou

[FRAZEm (EM) ]

“Lee’s Pharm Hefei”

[FRAZEH (AR

our Company and its subsidiaries
RRABREMEB AR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREEEKET

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BB HmE AR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEESRFITTRE

investigational new drug, the application for which is the first step in the drug
review process by regulatory authorities to decide whether to permit clinical trials.
Also known as clinical trial application, or CTA, in China

MERARARPE  EAEEUBRTERTAMETRASBRNEEHBIZNE—F - £
B N 18 R B R A SR PR

the investment committee of the Board
EFEEETHNRAZE®

Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a leading Korea-based company principally
engaged in the manufacturing and distribution of pharmaceuticals, whose shares
are listed on the Korea Exchange (stock code: 009290), is one of our business
partners

Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. * —HEZHERIERHHEROHBELERAR - &
Bt RSB E H32 5 B £ (REHMR5 - 009290) © AERMMEBZAZ —

key opinion leaders, who are professionals that influence their peers’ medical
practice, including but not limited to prescribing behavior
BERERE  HRENBREK(EEETRIREFTRA)ATENNEEAL

April 15, 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining the information contained herein
202554158 « BIARGERA A ATRE EFAEEROREERT1THH

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (2= X K 2R iE & A R A /), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 950)
FRAERERBERAT - —FARFERSEMRINEREERART - EROPBFER
Em (AR - 950)

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited (JkFIZ2 (EM) AR A A), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on March 3, 2011 and a subsidiary of
Lee’s Pharm

KR EEZ (BN ARAR - R201143A3BAEFREKRIHARETAR + AR KEEMmAM
B

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Company Limited (kR 22 (&) BER A F), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on February 7, 1994 and a
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm

KBIEEZE (AR ARAR - R199452 A7BEFRERIHARET AR + AR AR M
B
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“Lee’s Pharm International”
[ 25 FOK B2 B |

“Listing” or “IPO"

[ L skl &R AFEE]
“Listing Date”

[ EfHA]

“Listing Rules”

[ EiRAl]

“MAH”

[ EAFFARAAL

“Main Board”

[F4R]
“Model Code”
[1R4E=rRl]

“NDA”

[HrEeeRss ]

SNK”
[NK]

“NMPA"”

[EREEER]

"

“Nomination Committee
[RERZEE

“ocular hypertension”
[ = BR R E |

Definitions

Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated in the BVI on August 1, 2001 and a subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm

Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited + —f/220014F8 A1 B AR EE LB ST
B EIBRAT - RERRERAMNE AT

the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
&9 PR A2 P E AR 7T

April 29, 2021, being the date on which dealings in our Shares first commence on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
202144 829H - ARMIRERAERERFAKEENHH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended
or supplemented from time to time
BEAZ P EMRA] - B TRHERT S 7

Marketing Authorization Holder, an authorization acquired by the holder upon

receipt of the drug registration certificate granted by the NMPA, which allows the

holder to partner with contract manufacturing organizations to manufacture the

drug concerned

@%iﬁ%@"ﬁ%ﬁ/\ A ARKEIB R EE BIt R  Emit MEERIEHNA - DA
ANEE N EERIB A FRIEEA %R

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the
Stock Exchange

Bt PTBIF R AR S ( T RIEHRETIS) - BN TGEMI 8 2 WTEVE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FRBIMERCIFE LM BETABRETESF R HNIZESTH

new drug application, an application through which the drug sponsor formally
proposes that the relevant regulatory authority approve a new drug for sales and
marketing

G TR MERBEERARBZRR R RS AEEEREERSEHE R Eh
neurotrophic keratitis, a rare degenerative corneal disease
BEEBRNAEL  —RBERNRMEARRRE

National Medical Products Administration, the institution that performs the
functions of China Food and Drug Administration instead according to the
Institutional Reform Plan of the State Council of the PRC
BREMEEERER BETEEBROBENEIR  REERRRERE
BAE

BERERETT

the nomination committee of the Board
EEEBRTHREEZEES

an eye pressure of greater than 21 mm Hg
RE SN 212K RKIE
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Definitions

“Pharmaniaga”

[Pharmaniaga

“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”

[BRARBEERBRIES]

“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”

[BRAREEREREE]
“Prospectus”
[ ER]

“pterygium”
[BAREA ]

“Remuneration Committee”
[FEEe ]

“Reporting Period”
[ s8R

“Retained Lee’s Pharm Group”
[RBFRAREMREE

“RMB”
TAR®]

“R&D”
[ 3% |

“SFO”
[ N 1&p

“Share(s)”
3

“Shareholder(s)”
[BRER |

Pharmaniaga Logistics Sdn. Bhd., a company specializing in the distribution of
pharmaceutical and medical products, and a subsidiary of Pharmaniaga Berhad,
whose shares are listed on the Bursa Malaysia Stock Exchange (ticket symbol:
PHARMA), is one of our business partners

Pharmaniaga Logistics Sdn. Bhd. ' —fIEFIMERBEERHIEMAF - APharmaniaga
Berhad (RO AFEHZ S LT (FBHAT - PHARMA)) KB AT - ARMMNELE
z—

the post-IPO share option scheme adopted by our Company on April 1, 2021,
effective from the Listing Date, as amended from time to time, the principal terms
of which are set out in “Appendix IV - Statutory and General Information - D.
Share Option Schemes - 2. Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” in the Prospectus
RAFR2021F4A1BEEMT B E BERERN A ARESEBRETS - KTRE
Al AEFEHERARBIRERMMEEM —EZE R —REH —D.BRETE - 2. 8RR AFEER
il st &l ]

the pre-IPO share option scheme adopted by our Company on November 17,
2020, the principal terms of which are set out in “"Appendix IV - Statutory and
General Information - D. Share Option Schemes - 1. Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme” in the Prospectus

RATMN2020F11 A17HHAN B R AFEEEREE - KX 2RTENBRERNM
U —EE R—RREH — DB & - 1. B R AR EE R ERE S

the prospectus issued by our Company dated April 16, 2021
RARIA2021F4 A16 A FIEHBRERR

a growth in the cornea or the conjunctiva
AR AERIE 4

the remuneration committee of the Board
EEgBTHEFMNEES

the year ended December 31, 2024
HE2024F12A3181EFE

Lee’s Pharm and its subsidiaries, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding our Group
FRAEHREMBAT - REERR - TREREE

Renminbi

ARE

research and development
WL

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEGIES7IE(ES REE KO - ETRHERT MRS AR A SR

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company of US$0.00000025 each
AR EIIRA R FAREE0.000000253 7T /) E A%

holder(s) of Shares
SIGESZEPN
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“South Korea”
[FE%2 ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 |

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[EZRE]

“Tenpoint”

[Tenpoint]

“TOT BIOPHARM”

[REEHE
“TPRK”
[TPRK]

“TRB”

[TRB]

“United States” or “U.S.”
[Z£E ]

“US$” or “USD"
=

“VEGF”
[VEGF]

“WAMD”
[WAMD |

Definitions

the Republic of Korea, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its
jurisdiction
AEERE - HELT « B RFZERDAEENMAR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
BEEBMERHMERAT - REEXRGREEMARATNZEMBEAR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
R A TR AR E

Tenpoint Therapeutics Limited, a global clinical-stage biotech company developing
groundbreaking treatments to rejuvenate vision in the aging eye, is one of our
business partners

Tenpoint Therapeutics Limited - —FE2 BRI RRRIE R EDIRIMAR] - FEERBIENEE -
NIRIEZCIRIBERIR ) - RRMINEBBH 2 —

TOT BIOPHARM International Company Limited (FRR %% ER A F]), formerly
known as TOT BIOPHARM International Company Limited (F/REIFSEERMHARA
Al), a limited liability company established under the laws of Hong Kong in 2009
and one of our licensing partners, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1875)

RRREZERGARAT - AIERRERESERGARAT - R2009FREBEEEE0IK AR
DA RPN A AR —  HRGREZ A T (RMHRSE - 1875)

transepithelial photorefractive keratectomy, a surgical treatment for myopia
& FRESTE N BEHIN - REENFMEE

TRB Chemedica (Thailand) Ltd., a company focuses on the research, development,
and marketing of niche pharmaceutical products, medical devices, particularly in
the therapeutic areas of rheumatology, orthopedics, and ophthalmology, and an
affiliate of Swiss pharma and biotechnology company TRB Chemedica, is one of
our business partners

TRB Chemedica (Thailand) Ltd. @ EUERAERI G - BERMENTE - FAEREHE - L
HRERZ  BRRBERSRED - RhTREREYRHEATTRB ChemedicafitE A
A REMEEBBRH L —

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction
ENRAFEH HEL HBHERZHAEEENAMETE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EEEFEERET

vascular endothelial growth factor, a signal protein produced by cells that
stimulates the formation of blood vessels

MEARERRAF - ARAEEARENEKN —EEREAE

wet age-related macular degeneration
RITEFEPEERE
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Definitions

”

“Zhaoke Guangzhou
[IERHEM |
“Zhaoke HK”

KR EE ]

Zhaoke (Guangzhou) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (JkEHEM)RERIZ
HBR/A7]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on June 16, 2016 and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

JKBHEM)REI Y GIR AR - H2016F6 A16BEFRKILMERETAR + ARRFIMNAE
E2EWB AT

Zhaoke (Hong Kong) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Limited (JKEHFEE ) BRI 24
HBRA7]), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on July 24, 2017
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

KEHES)RBIEZYFIR AR - H2017F7A24BEEBAMKRLNBR AR © BARAFHE
BEHBAR
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